
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 
 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 19 May 2022 Time 10.00 am 

Venue 
Telford Room, Third Floor, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters Way, Telford, TF3 
4NT 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Jayne Clarke / Kieran Robinson 01952 383205 / 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: 

Councillor S Davies Leader 

 

Councillor R A Overton 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing, Enforcement and Transport 

 

Councillor A J Burford 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Health, Integration and Transformation 

 

Councillor E M Callear 
Cabinet Member for Visitor Economy, 
Employment and Skills 

 

Councillor L D Carter 
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
Services, Regeneration and the High 
Street 

 

Councillor R C Evans 
Cabinet Member for Finance, Governance 
and Customer Services 

 

Councillor C Healy 

Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Green Spaces, Natural and Historic 
Environment and Cultural Services 

 

Councillor K Middleton 

Cabinet Member for Leisure, Public Health 
and Well-Being, Equalities and 
Partnerships 

 

Councillor S A W Reynolds 
Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People, and Families 

 
Councillor P Watling 

Cabinet Member for Stronger and Safer 
Communities 

   
Invitees Councillor  A J Eade Conservative 
 Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
AGENDA 

Page 
   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

   
 

3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

 3 - 6 

   
 

4.   Leader's Announcements 
 

  

Key  
 

5.   Better Homes for All 
 

Cllr R A Overton 
 

7 - 124 

Key  
 

6.   Building Safer, Stronger 
Neighbourhoods through 
Appropriate Use of Our 
Enforcement 
 

Cllr R A Overton 
 

125 - 136 

Key  
 

7.   Housing Investment Programme 
Update 
 

Cllrs R A Overton 
and L D Carter  

 

137 - 154 

Key  
 

8.   £10m Housing Intervention Fund - 
Delivering New Homes & Supporting 
Our Most Vulnerable Residents 
 

Cllrs R A Overton 
and A J Burford 

 

155 - 170 

Key  
 

9.   Events Update 
 

Cllr C Healy 171 - 184 

   
 

10.   Annual Governance Statement 2021-22 
 

Cllr R C Evans 185 - 206 

  

 
FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 
Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 
 

Page 2

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 17 March 2022 at 

10.00 am in Telford Room, Third Floor, Addenbrooke House, Ironmasters 
Way, Telford, TF3 4NT 

 
PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 23 MARCH 2022 

 
(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 28 MARCH 2022) 

 
 
Present: Councillors R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, E M Callear, 
L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, K Middleton, S A W Reynolds, P Watling and 
S Davies (Chair).  
 
Also Present: Councillors N A Dugmore (Conservative Group Leader) and W 
L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats Group Leader) 
 
CAB-
138 

Declarations of Interest 

 
None. 
 
CAB-
139 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
RESOLVED - that the minutes of the meeting held on 17 February 2022 
be confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-
140 

Leader's Announcements 

 
The Leader stated the commitment of the Council to do it all could to support 
the Ukrainian resettlement programme once it was launched. Community 
groups were thanked for their hard work to date – collecting donations and 
offering to host refugees.  
 
The Leader also addressed the cost of living crisis, stating that everybody was 
feeling the cost. The Council stood with residents and had frozen council tax 
to this end. The Authority was doing all it could to support residents in other 
ways; however, this was an urgent issue and action was needed from the 
government.  
 
CAB-
141 

Ten by Ten 

 
The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Families presented the 
report of the Director: Education and Skills.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

The report sought approval to implement the Ten by Ten initiative launched by 
Wes Streeting MP. The scheme aimed to encourage and motivate all children 
to take part in ten life-enhancing activities by the time they were ten years old. 
 
Whatever their background, every child should have the chance to take part in 
activities that open their eyes to new opportunities. For children to thrive they 
needed challenge, support and experiences, both inside and outside of the 
classroom. 
 
Whilst the initiative encouraged the participation of all there was specific focus 
on increasing opportunity for those from disadvantaged backgrounds.   
 
Implementation of the scheme would be led by the Council and delivered 
through a joint approach with key stakeholders including schools, community 
providers, parish and town councils, local charities and other third sector 
organisations.   
 
If approved, Telford & Wrekin would be among the first councils in the country 
to adopt the Ten by Ten initiative. 
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report, noting the importance of experiences 
and opportunities in building  confidence in children and the significant impact 
it could have on their life.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat group stated his support for the initiative. 
 
The Leader of the Conservative group welcomed the focus on disadvantaged 
children but queried the use of data relating to five to fifteen year olds for a 
programme up to the age of ten.  
 
In response, the Cabinet Member stated that the data covered the relevant 
age group, recognising that support should not end at the age of ten but 
continue into later life, and praised the hard work of officers in developing the 
report.  
 
RESOLVED – that Cabinet 
 
(i) Approves the implementation of ten by ten across Telford and 

Wrekin. 
 

(ii) Authorises the Director for Education and Skills, after 
consultation with the Lead Member for Children, Young People 
and Families to take all required action and utilise funding 
totalling £200,000 from the Investment in Council Priorities Fund 
to support implementation of the initiative. 

 
CAB-
142 

Armed Forces Covenant Report 

 

Page 4



 

 

The Cabinet Member for Stronger and Safer Communities presented the 
report of the Associate Director: Policy & Governance.  
 
The report provided an update on the Council’s commitment to the Armed 
Forces Covenant. This included the delivery of the Calm Cafes for Veterans – 
the success of which had necessitated the finding of new, larger, venues. It 
was important to ensure that every resident could live well in the community 
and the cafes were key to that.  
 
Cabinet Members noted the importance of such a resource as the Calm 
Cafes, especially in terms of providing a sense of community outside of 
military life.  
 
The Leaders of the Conservative and Liberal Democrat groups both 
welcomed the report, recognising its importance.  
 
RESOLVED – that Cabinet 
 
(i) Notes the achievements of the Council in relation to the delivery 

of its Armed Forces Covenant commitments. 
 

(ii) Endorses the allocation of additional funding for the Calm Cafes 
for Veterans to continue for two years from January 2023 as set 
out in the report. 

 
CAB-
143 

Telford & Wrekin Council Climate Change Fund 

 
The Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural and Historic 
Environment and Cultural Services presented the report of the Director: 
Communities, Customer and Commercial Services 
 
This report provided an update on the 2021 Climate Change Fund and sought 
approval to repeat the funding for 2022. There were modifications from the 
previous year based on the experience of implementation in the last round of 
funding.  
 
The fund was first launched in February 2021, as part of the Council’s 
commitment to carbon neutrality by 2030. The grant funds original £100,000 
budget had been increased to around, £131,000 and was awarded across 35 
projects. A further £200,000 was sought for another round of the Climate 
Change Fund.  
 
Cabinet expressed thorough support for the proposals, noting that the Council 
was taking action to address the climate emergency within the Borough whilst 
calling for a national response to the climate crisis. 
 
The report was welcomed by the leaders of the Conservative and Liberal 
Democrat groups.  
 

Page 5



 

 

RESOLVED - that Cabinet:  
 
(i)  Notes the impact of the Climate Change Fund in supporting a 

wide range of projects across the Borough.  
 
(ii)  Authorises the allocation of a further £200,000 to launch another 

round of the Climate Change Fund – aiming to invite applications 
in July 2022.  

 
(iii)  Delegates authority to the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 

Green Spaces Natural and Historic Environment and Director: 
Communities, Customer and Commercial Services to agree terms 
and any documentation to give effect to the implementation of the 
fund. 

 
(iiii)  Agree that applications to the Fund be determined by a Panel 

comprising the lead Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Green 
Spaces Natural and Historic Environment and Director: 
Communities, Customer and Commercial Services in addition to, 
where possible, representatives from the Telford & Wrekin 
Borough Climate Change Partnership and a representative from 
the Council’s Environment Scrutiny Committee. 

 
The meeting ended at 10.40 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Associate Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 23 MARCH 2022 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 19 May 2022 

Page 6



Better homes for all 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 “Better homes for all continues to be a successful programme and underlines our 
commitment to working with landlords and tenants and improving the quality of homes 
across the borough. 
  
“We acknowledge that many good landlords are providing valuable accommodation for our 
residents but we want to join up the range of advice and support which is available and 
ensure we are signposting people to the right services, particularly those landlords and 
tenants that are in most need of help and guidance. 
  
“The landlord and tenant support package will help to enhance the support that we provide 
and shows that we really are on your side, whether you are a landlord or a tenant, as we 
continue to strive to make Telford and Wrekin a better place to live.” 
 

 

  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
  
CABINET – 19th May 2022 
 
BETTER HOMES FOR ALL 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR - HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR RICHARD OVERTON 
 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Better Homes for All programme was introduced in 2018 setting a new 

focus on improving conditions in the growing private rented sector and tackling 
rogue landlords in the Borough.  

 
1.2 This was further underpinned in the Better Homes for All Cabinet Report 2020, 

with the development of the Council Programme to ‘Protect, Care and Invest to 
Create a Better Borough’.  The Council’s Housing Strategy includes as a key 
objective to ‘make BEST use of our existing homes’. This report provides an 
update on delivery of the programme now covering all housing tenures and 
incorporating empty homes and affordable warmth. 

 
1.3  Over the past 2 years, and against the backdrop of a global pandemic, we have 

maintained our approach to ‘Educate, Encourage and Enforce’ by supporting 
tenants and landlords through unprecedented challenges whilst still continuing 
to take robust legal action against landlords who deliberately fail to meet their 
legal responsibilities. 

 
1.4 During this time the service has: 
 

 Addressed 1500 requests for service providing information, advice and 

support to owners, those renting and landlords  

 Participated in 18 Multi Agency Targeted Enforcement Strategy (MATES) 

operations 

 Served over 400 enforcement notices  

 Carried out over 450 property inspections linked with the Safer Streets 

Programme alone 

 Inspected all 240 licensed HMOs to ensure covid compliance  

 Introduced a new Long Term Empty Property Strategy setting an ambitious 

target to bring 375 long term empties back into use 

 Introduced a new Affordable Warmth Strategy to tackle fuel poverty, 

improve health and well-being and support our Zero Carbon targets 

 Successfully brought in c. £3m to date of capital funding for energy 

efficiency measures to domestic properties in the Borough.   

Page 9



   

 

 

1.5 This report sets out proposals to maintain and strengthen the Better Homes for 
All programme to make best use of and improve the quality of existing homes 
across all tenures by: 

 

 Introducing a new borough wide support package for landlords and tenants 

 Updating our Private Sector Housing enforcement policy, amenity 

standards and licence conditions 

 Setting out proposals to increase our HMO licence fees to ensure we are 

covering the cost of running the licensing scheme  

 Responding to the current energy crisis through extending  the scope of our 

affordable warmth programme to support more households in fuel poverty 

and achieve our carbon net zero targets for the Borough  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Cabinet note the continued progress of the Better Homes for All  
 Programme.  
 
2.2 Cabinet approve the closure of the current landlord accreditation scheme, as 

detailed in section 5.3 of this report.  
 
2.3 Cabinet approve a new Borough wide package of support for private tenants 

and landlords, including the introduction of a dedicated landlord tenant 
coordinator as detailed in section 5.4 of this report. The full package details 
are contained within Appendix 1.  

 
2.4 Cabinet approve the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 

including a revised civil penalty charging matrix and adoption of a number of 
pieces of legislation to improve standards in the private rented sector, as 
detailed in section 5.7. The policy is appended to this report as Appendix 2.  

 
2.5 Cabinet approve a fixed fee structure, in order to ensure consistency, for 

certain enforcement action taken under Section 49 of the Housing Act 2004 
as detailed in section 5.9.5 of this report.    

 
2.6 Cabinet approve the revised amenity, space and management standards for 

HMOs in the Borough as detailed in section 5.12 of this report and Appendix 
3 

 
2.7 Cabinet approve the revised HMO licence conditions to incorporate changes 

in legislation, including the introduction of minimum room sizes to tackle 
overcrowding in HMOs as detailed in section 5.13 of this report and 
Appendix 4 

 
2.8 Cabinet approve the revised fee structure for Mandatory Houses in 

Multiple Occupation (HMO) licencing as detailed in section 5.14 of this 
report. 

 
2.9 Cabinet delegate authority to the Director for Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing, 
Enforcement and Transport to approve any future amendments to any 

Page 10



   

 

 

enforcement or HMO licensing fee structures; and the Conditions for Houses 
in Multiple Occupancy required to be licenced 

 
2.10 Cabinet note the energy efficiency measures that will be delivered with £0.5m 

climate change funding as detailed in section 5.16.3 of this report.   
 

 

3.        IMPACT OF ACTION   
 
The proposals in the Report aim to increase the quality and standard of domestic 
accommodation across all tenures and support local communities by addressing 
problem properties that can blight neighbourhoods.  The proposals will also 
contribute to the Council’s priorities in relation to reducing inequality, increasing 
health and wellbeing and addressing zero carbon.  
 

4.         SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes  Support communities and those most 

in need and work to give residents 

access to suitable housing 

 Improve health and wellbeing across 

Telford & Wrekin 

 Keep neighbourhoods safe, clean 

and well connected 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

No Proposals will benefit all residents 
particularly increasing protection and 
support for those renting but also 
enabling improvement measures across 
tenures and addressing properties that 
blight neighbourhoods 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

 Revised HMO Licensing fees and enforcement 

charges will take effect from 1 June 2022  

 All updated policies will take immediate effect.  

 Empty property work will be delivered in line with 

the long term empty property strategy.  

 Energy Efficiency work will be delivered in line 

with the Affordable Warmth strategy.  

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The Capital Programme will contain the 
following allocations to support the 
initiatives in this report: 

 £520,000 LAD2 allocations 

awarded in 21/22. 

 The recent award of c. £1.6m for 

the next phase of LAD and HUG 

Page 11



   

 

 

which benefits off grid properties.  

This includes £650k directly and 

circa £1m through a joint delivery 

programme with Shropshire 

Council the lead delivery partner. 

These will be incorporated into 

the Capital Programme through 

Service and Financial Planning 

Reports. 

 £500k of capital will be vired from 

the Councils Climate Change 

Fund 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2022/23 to 2025/26 approved the 
removal of the Landlord accreditation 
scheme income target of £8k.    
 
Base budget funding is available for the 
Landlord Tenant co-ordinator post. 
 
There are budgeted income targets of 
£35k for Penalty income and £35k HMO 
licensing income.  The proposed HMO 
and Section 49 fees in section 5.14 and 
5.9.5, have been calculated to fully 
recover our costs.  It is not possible to 
quantify the total income at this point in 
time, any over delivery will be identified 
through financial monitoring processes.     
 
DR & AEM 12/04/22 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  The Council has a wide range of powers 
to address the issues it is seeking to 
tackle, including defective housing, 
environmental crime and anti-social 
behaviour, in particular powers 
implemented under the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 to deal with the notion 
of “Rogue Landlords and Property 
Agents in England”, introducing Banning 
Orders, a national database of Rogue 
Landlords and Property Agents, and rent 
repayment orders.  The Act introduced 
Civil (Financial) Penalties for breach of a 
number of offences under the Housing 
Act 2004 and these powers are being 
utilised regularly by the PSH Team. 
 
The Legislative and Regulatory Reform 
Act 2006 requires the Council to have 
regard to the Central Government 
Regulators’ Code when determining 

Page 12



   

 

 

policies or principles that guide regulatory 
activities and to demonstrate openness 
and fairness in its approach to 
enforcement. 
 
The proposed amended enforcement 
policy will ensure that activities are fair 
and consistent and follow the principles 
of the Regulator’s Code.  The policy and 
amenity standards will also ensure 
transparency for service users so that 
they are fully aware of what is expected 
of them and what they can expect from 
PSH enforcement officers. The policy will 
additionally provide reassurance that 
service users can be satisfied that they 
will be treated fairly and proportionately. 
In respect of enforcement of housing 
standards, Legal Services will continue to 
provide advice and assistance to officers 
and carry out prosecution of offenders, 
secure banning orders to prevent rogue 
landlords from managing properties and 
to defend the Council’s decisions against 
appeal in the Residential Property 
Tribunal. 
Any legal issues arising from 
implementation of the programme of 
work as set out will be considered by 
Legal Services. 
AG 11/04/2022 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The financial risks to the Council in the 
event of a legal challenge to the change 
in Policy: - Any change in policy will carry 
some inherent financial risk to the 
Council in the event of a legal challenge, 
however this has been mitigated by 
ensuring that current and relevant fee-
setting and policy guidance has been 
considered and adhered to.  
AG 11/04/2022 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No  
Borough wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

5. Background  
 

5.1 Private Rented Sector (PRS) 
 
5.1.1 The English Housing Survey reported just over 4.4 million households living in the 

private rented sector in England in 2019/2020, making up 19% of all households, 
compared with 1.7 million in 1991. By comparison, 17% (4.0 million) lived in the 
social rented sector and 65% (15.4 million) were owner occupiers in 2019/2020. 

 

Page 13



   

 

 

5.1.2 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) estimated 10,767 dwellings in the PRS in 
Telford and Wrekin in 2012. In 2020 this figure had increased to 13,380. In 2020, the 
PRS represented 17.2% of the housing stock in the Borough, with some of our 
South Telford Estates such as Sutton Hill comprising 54% PRS by 2021.  

 
5.1.3 With declining numbers of social housing and owner occupation becoming 

unaffordable for some, the PRS serves a crucial role for many across all ages but 
particularly for housing young and also more vulnerable households. Once a 
transient tenure of choice, the PRS is now very much a necessary and long term 
housing option.  

 
5.1.4 While a majority of landlords in the sector operate legally and provide good quality 

accommodation, the demand for private rented housing has also provided economic 
opportunity for less scrupulous landlords.  

 
5.1.5  Central Government has responded to issues in the sector by providing Local 

Authorities with greater and stronger powers to regulate the market.  The recent 
Levelling up White Paper has set out the intention to introduce new standards for the 
sector and a register of landlords.  More detailed proposals are due later this year. 

 
5.2 Better Homes for All 
 
5.2.1 Telford and Wrekin,  introduced the Better Homes for All programme in 2018. The 

programme introduced a new focus on providing support for landlords in the form of 
an  accreditation scheme and a strengthened proactive and reactive enforcement 
regime for tackling criminal landlords. 

 
5.2.2 Since then we have seen a global pandemic which has brought with it unprecedented 

challenges for landlords, tenants and the Council. The work of the service through 
this time, albeit modified, has remained focussed on protecting the most vulnerable 
citizens of the Borough. We have dealt with over 1500 requests for service from 
tenants and landlords. 424 legal notices were served on landlords, ensuring 
properties in the PRS were brought up to a safe standard. 18 Multi Agency Targeted 
Enforcement Strategy Operations (MATES) were conducted. Each operation 
consisted of a number of high risk property inspections.   

 
5.2.3 As a result of the MATES visits undertaken the Private Sector Housing Team (PSH) 

is working with landlords and agents to raise the property standards in the addresses 
where disrepair was identified.  Actions resulting from these exercises are 
summarised in the chart below.  This includes signposting tenants to services for 
support and advice and referrals have been made where appropriate e.g. 
safeguarding referral to Family Connect (Telford & Wrekin Council).  Some tenants 
are still being assisted by PSH and West Mercia Police (WMP) the exercises having 
resulted in intelligence reports and criminal investigations:   
 

Page 14



   

 

 

 
   *STaRS are commissioned by Telford & Wrekin Council and are a drug and alcohol 
support/recovery service 
 
Engaging with tenants in this way gives the Council and its partner agencies an 
opportunity to identify safeguarding issues and get the necessary wraparound 
support in place for vulnerable tenants who may not otherwise proactively seek out 
help, or come into contact with services.  It also helps the police link potentially 
transient perpetrators and victims/potential victims of crime to addresses in the area.  
Furthermore, it builds up intelligence around the type of criminality tenants may be 
exposed to, or taking part in and whether landlords of interest are complicit with, or 
turning a blind eye to this activity.  In some cases landlords may not be aware of the 
issues within the address and clearly management practices in these instances need 
to be improved.    

 
5.2.4 Seven landlords have been successfully prosecuted for serious breaches of 

the Housing Act 2004, including a breach of a Banning Order. Eight landlords 
were issued with Civil Penalties as an alternative to prosecution for breaches 
under the Housing Act 2004. All landlords issued with civil penalties chose to appeal 
them at the First Tier Tribunal and in all cases the Tribunal upheld the Council’s 
action.  

 
Safer Streets Programme  
 
5.2.5 We have made great strides in our proactive work in the last 2 years. Through the 

Safer Streets programme we have carried out c.450 proactive inspections of 
privately rented properties in Brookside and Sutton Hill. In excess of 388 hazards 
including fire safety, falls hazards in particular for children under the age of 5, have 
been remedied in Brookside alone.  

 
5.2.6 Due to this project we were able to ensure every property inspected had a valid gas 

safety certificate, electric safety certificate, proper tenancy agreement and deposit 
protection for the tenants.  

Disrepair
18%

Police INTEL 
Report

21%

STaRS
11%

Signposting & 
Referrals 

29%

Re-visit
21%

SUMMARY OF ACTIONS

Disrepair

Police INTEL Report

STaRS

Signposting & Referrals

Re-visit

Page 15



   

 

 

5.2.7 All HMOs inspected were made compliant with HMO management regulations, 
ensuring adequate amenities and were made free from overcrowding.  

 
5.2.8 Two previously unknown HMOs were found with serious breaches and as a result 

were successfully prosecuted and conditions improved in the HMO.  
 
5.2.9  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5.2.10 Our work to improve conditions and management of PRS properties in problematic 

areas has contributed to a 54% decrease in crime in Brookside.   
 
5.2.11 We successfully bid for £520k to support energy efficiency improvements under the 

LAD2 programme.  This investment has been focussed in Sutton Hill to maximise on 
our safer streets outcomes. As a result 61 homes in the Ward will benefit from energy 
efficiency measures.  Other owners, tenants and landlords are also being supported 
to access advice and other grant programmes.    

 
5.2.12 We have also focussed our resources within the safer streets areas to bring empty 

properties back into use. As a result, to date, we have brought back into 
occupation 5 long term empty properties in Sutton Hill and 16 in Brookside.  

 
HMO Covid Compliance Checks  
 
5.2.13 At the onset of the pandemic Central Government directed local authorities to 

concentrate resources towards HMOs. When the country was being directed to stay 
at home and isolate, HMOs were identified as high risk, as a number of a unrelated 
people lived together and shared facilities such as kitchens and bathrooms. Over the 
last 12 months we have inspected all 240 of our licensed HMOs to ensure additional 
sanitation, cleaning and distancing measures are in place.   

 
5.2.14 These inspections have also resulted in 51 large HMOs being brought up to the 

correct HMO licensing standards for fire safety and property management. We have 
also updated our amenity standards for HMOs as a result of this work (Appendix 3).  

 
Homes for Ukraine 
 
5.2.15 The service continues to support the Homes for Ukraine scheme, by inspecting all 

host homes to ensure adequate amenities, space and safety of accommodation..  
 
5.2.16 We have so far inspected and approved 42 properties in the borough.  
 
5.3 Landlord Accreditation Scheme 
 
5.3.1 Introduced in 2014, our landlord accreditation scheme was established to improve 

landlord practises in the private rented sector. Having a membership of c.140 at 
highest, the scheme has had a positive impact and we have built a cohort of 

Case Study  
One property in Sutton Hill was found to be statutorily filthy and verminous. The landlord 

had served an eviction notice on the tenant. Through this proactive inspection 
programme, our safer streets officers were able to intervene, refer the tenant for 

additional support and commence a clean-up of the property. As a result the landlord was 
able to carry out the necessary repairs and officers were able to work with both parties to 

stop eviction proceedings and sustain the tenancy. We continue to provide support for 
both landlord and tenant.    

 

Page 16



   

 

 

landlords who not only rent good quality properties with good management practises 
but also help the Council to provide accommodation for our most vulnerable 
residents.  However with organisations such as Wrekin Landlord Association working 
to support their members, the feedback we have received from some  members is 
that it is overly burdensome to further charge good landlords to be part of our 
accreditation scheme. There are also a range of national accreditation schemes 
which offer similar support for a charge.  

 
5.3.2 With increasing pressures on our homeless services to  provide accommodation for 

residents who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless, we are no longer able 
to limit use of accommodation to our accredited landlords. Severe shortages mean all 
available private rented accommodation is considered.           

 
5.3.3 With increasing regulation and higher fines for non-compliance, there is a risk of 

good landlords leaving the market and others struggling to meet standards.  
Feedback received from landlord groups suggests that we need to have an open 
offer for all landlords in the Borough, not restricted to an accreditation scheme.       

 
5.4 New Landlord & Tenant Support Programme 
 
5.4.1 In the light of this feedback, the growth of this sector and given the  amount of new 

and existing legislation for private sector landlords to understand and abide by, it is 
prudent that we review and enhance the support that we offer to all landlords to 
navigate the market. We acknowledge that many good landlords are providing 
valuable accommodation for our residents.   

 
5.4.2 Across the housing service we provide a range of advice and support to tenants.  In 

order to join up the range of advice/support available and ensure we are signposting 
into the right services, a Landlord & Tenant Support Coordinator will provide a first 
point of contact, triage and connection coordinating support across the Housing 
Service and wider Council as appropriate. 

 
5.4.3 We have also developed a new Landlord and Tenant Support Package which we 

will develop further in consultation with partners including the Wrekin Landlord 
Association and charitable and Registered Provider partners, and intelligence from 
existing work with tenants particularly in the Safer, Stronger areas.  The support will 
include:    

 

 A dedicated webpage for landlords and tenants with all information and 

signposting for all aspects of tenancy support and property conditions and safety.  

 A bigger social media presence, including a Facebook page 

 Training courses for landlords  

 Opportunities for landlords to attend training courses in place of being issued with 

a civil penalty for low level and first time housing offences  

5.4.4 This new Support Programme will replace the existing Landlord Accreditation 
Scheme.  Full details of the new support package can be found in Appendix 1 

 
5.4.5 It is envisaged that the removal of the accreditation fee will also help our previously 

fee paying accredited landlords to alleviate the mandatory increases in our HMO 
licence fees (set out below).  

   

Page 17



   

 

 

5.4.6 With the increased offer of support to all landlords in the Borough, there is no excuse 
or defence for poor practise in the sector. Therefore, where we find such practises 
we will not hold back on using all statutory powers available to us.  

 
 
5.5 Safer Stronger Communities Programme 
 
5.5.1  The positive impacts seen by our interventions in the Safer Streets areas of South 

Telford are being expanded across all the Safer Stronger Community areas. A two 
year proactive operational plan including bespoke neighbourhood action plans 
incorporating targeted housing support and enforcement activity is currently being 
developed. Targeted intervention in areas of high private rent, poor housing 
conditions and in particular problematic HMOs will be prioritised.  

 
5.5.2 With c. 700 property inspections conducted by the end of the safer streets 

programme and approximately a further c. 700 across the Safer Stronger areas, this 
will provide us with a rich stock condition survey of our properties.  

 
5.6 Stock Condition Survey 
 
5.6.1 Adding to this physical Intel, we have commissioned the Building Research 

Establishment to carry out a stock condition survey of the Borough. This rich set 
of data will help shape our proactive and reactive interventions for the next 5 years+. 
It will also give us an excellent evidence base for any funding opportunities afforded 
to us by Central Government.  

 
5.7 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 2022  
 
5.7.1 We will always seek to work with landlords to improve practice.  However, we 

recognise that there continue to be landlords who operate illegally across our 
communities and we remain committed to taking robust enforcement action to raise 
standards and address criminality.   To support this we are adopting an updated 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Appendix 2).  This reflects changing 
legislation including: 

 

 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015   

 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards - The Energy Efficiency (Private 

Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015  

 The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) 

Regulations 2020 

5.8 Reactive Enforcement   
 
5.8.1 The reactive enforcement team will continue to investigate all complaints from 

tenants and other sources about poor conditions in privately rented properties 
addressing these on a case by case basis and referring to the proactive team where 
there is a link with a wider investigation.  We will increase our communication of how 
to report concerns borough wide and as part of our work in the Safer Stronger 
Communities.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



   

 

 

5.9 Proactive Enforcement   
 
5.9.1 The proactive team, with new technical expertise in intelligence and investigatory 

techniques, working closely with police, trading standards and fire service will work 
via a multi-agency RAG rating model to target people of interest.  
 

  Currently being dealt with by the Rogue Landlord team 

 Enforcement action is in progress or anticipated  

 Multi agency response 

  Elevated concerns/risk  

 Multiple investigations ongoing or complaints received  

 Enforcement action under review 

  Company/individual has been brought to the attention of the Rogue Landlord 
team and INTEL suggests the company/individual is worth monitoring  

 Historical concerns, but no current investigations 
 
 
5.9.2 Using this model and measures under our new enforcement policy we will target 

criminal landlords operating in the Borough and the consequent exploitation of our 
most vulnerable residents.  

 
5.9.3 We will work to proactively find properties being rented out in unsafe and unhealthy 

conditions and ensure these properties are either brought up to standard or where 
this is not possible we will prohibit their use in order to safeguard the occupants. We 
will prosecute those landlords or issue them with civil penalties, the income from 
which will be ring-fenced back into the delivery of the service supporting communities 
across the Borough.   

 
5.9.4 We will look to ban the operation of the very worst and repeat offenders from renting 

properties in our Borough.   
 
Charges for Certain Enforcement Action  
 
5.9.5 Section 49 of the Housing Act 2004 allows Local Authorities to charge for certain 

enforcement action. Currently our charges are worked out on an hourly rate based on 
the investigating officer time. However, in order to ensure fairness and consistency 
and align with other Local Authorities a fixed fee structure is proposed based on the 
course of action and time taken: 

 
 

Action Fee 

Hazard Awareness Notice / 
Improvement Notice 

£271.00 
 
 

Prohibition Order/Emergency 
Prohibition Order/ Emergency Remedial 
Action  

£316.00 
 

  
5.10 Supported Accommodation Providers 
 
5.10.1 With growing numbers of supported accommodation providers in the Borough, 

attracting a premium Housing Benefit rate this is currently a largely unregulated area.  
At this point we have c.2,000 such properties.  While Central Government plan to 

Page 19



   

 

 

increase regulation of this area in the future, T&W are proactively looking to introduce 
a risk based inspection plan of our supported accommodation providers. This will 
ensure our vulnerable residents are receiving the support they need and are living in 
healthy and safe housing conditions. 

 
5.11 Support for Older Renters 
 
5.11.1 A report by Age UK in 2020 found that 750,000 people over 60 live in private rented 

housing in England. The proportion of households headed by older renters has 
doubled in the last fifteen years, with the proportion of households headed by middle-
aged renters trebling. This means more and more people will be growing old in the 
private rented sector. 

 
With a shortage of social housing in England, and fewer people able to afford to own 
their own home, private renting is often the only option. Older renters are an often 
forgotten and overlooked group, and a significant number of older private renters are 
particularly vulnerable because: 
 

 They live in fear of being evicted at short notice. 

 High rents leave one in three older renters in poverty after the rent is paid. 

 They are more likely than older home owners to be unwell. 

 Many put up with damp, disrepair or other dangerous living conditions. 

 Almost 250,000 older renters, nearly three in ten, do not live in decent 

housing. 

With recent energy price rises, this group of private renters are the most at risk of fuel 
poverty and the associated health risks of excess cold.  
 

5.11.2 In partnership with Age UK Shropshire Telford & Wrekin, we will develop a package 
of support for older renters in our Borough. Through our Coordinator we will run 
surgeries where older tenants can come and seek advice in confidence and we can 
help to liaise with landlords, inspect their properties and take action where needed 
and where this is not possible, to help them seek more suitable accommodation.  
This work will also inform our housing commissioning needs and priorities and inform 
opportunities to deliver new accommodation options including via NuPlace. 
 

Houses in Multiple Occupation 
 
5.12 Amenity, Space and Management Standards for HMOs 
 
5.12.1 HMO Management Regulations provide discretion to Local Authorities to apply their 

own standards appropriate to their stock. In order to ensure consistency and fairness, 
we have published a document (Appendix 3) giving specific standards based on 
HMO types and sizes.  

 
5.13  HMO Licence conditions  
 
5.13.1 Certain standards such as minimum room sizes and refuse disposal provisions were 

previously discretionary, they have now been added in statute and as such we have 
updated our licence conditions to reflect these changes.  

 
 
 
 

Page 20



   

 

 

5.14 HMO Licence Fees  
 
5.14.1 In accordance with Section 63 of the Housing Act 2004, fees payable for HMO 

licences are required to be set by the Local Authority. Such fees are to cover all costs 
incurred by the Council in carrying out their duties in respect of HMOs under the Act 
as well as the mandatory licensing scheme.  

 
5.14.2 Licence fees were last reviewed in 2018 when Better Homes for All was introduced.  

In 2020, at the last review point, it was deemed inappropriate to increase HMO 
licence fees during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Local Authority has therefore been 
subsidising the HMO licensing scheme for the last 2 years, which is not in keeping 
with the direction of the Housing Act 2004.    

 
5.14.3 In 2018 a landmark case (Peter Gaskin vs London Borough of Richmond), 
 resulted in a decision that all Local Authorities are now required to review their 
 current HMO licensing fees and introduce a two stage payment process. 

 
Stage 1 - covers the cost of processing an application and must be made alongside 
the submission of an HMO licence application. 
 
Stage 2 - covers the enforcement element of the scheme and the ongoing cost to 
administer its HMO service and is payable after the application has been processed 
and before a licence is issued. 

 
 
5.14.4 HMO licence fees have now been reviewed and the following revised fees are 
 proposed to come into effect from 1 June 2022:  
 

Size of HMO Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 

Upto 5 bedrooms £831.68 £335.88 £1,167.56 

6-10 bedrooms  £956.55 £335.88 £1,292.44 

11+ bedrooms £1,048.30 £335.88 £1,384.18 

 
5.14.5 A 10% discount is proposed for all complete applications received before renewal 

date. The Tenant & Landlord Coordinator will also provide assistance for new 
landlords with the application process to ensure they have every opportunity to avail 
this discount.  

 
5.14.6 The proposed fees are comparable with other Local Authorities in the West Midlands 

as below: 
 
  

Local Authority Total Licence Fee 

Birmingham £1150.00 

Wolverhampton £1,306 – £1,534 

Walsall £1,110 -  £2,810 

 
All the above authorities, with the exception of Wolverhampton, offer a range of 
similar discounts on their fees. However, they also apply an additional penalty for 
incomplete applications.  
 
 
 
 

Page 21



   

 

 

5.15 Empty Properties 
 
5.15.1 With a national and local shortage of affordable properties, the Council recognises 

that empty properties are a wasted resource and opportunity.  
 
5.15.2 T&W launched a long term empty property strategy 2021-2026. We have set 

ourselves a challenging target of bringing 375 long term empty properties back 
into use over the life of the strategy. 

 
5.15.3 Our empty property officer is working to engage with owners of long term empties, to 

encourage and support reoccupation or sale of empty properties. The focus is on the 
longest empty, affordable properties in council tax bandings A-C and in areas high in 
anti-social behaviour and crime, such as safer streets and safer stronger areas 
where empty properties are most likely to cause detrimental environmental impacts.  

 
5.15.4 Where informal action is not successful, legal options such as compulsory purchase 

are also being taken. 
 
5.15.5 To date as a result of this work 
 

- 51 long term empty properties have been brought back into use since the 
adoption of the strategy.  

- 8 problematic properties have been sold with a view to renovation, this includes 
one property which had been empty for over 20 years.  

- 14 are undergoing extensive renovation works.   
- 7 properties have been identified for compulsory purchase action, and as a 

consequence 6 have been actioned by the owners to avoid this.  Action is 
continuing in relation to the other property and others are being reviewed.  

 
5.15.6 With the Council Tax Premium scheme working to disincentivise long term empty 

properties, we are focussing on facilitating owner occupiers/first time buyers to be 
able to purchase these properties to live in them. 

 
5.15.7 While long term empties that may have fallen into disrepair may become more 

affordable to purchase, they also come with the issue that owner occupiers find it 
difficult to secure a mortgage against these properties.   

 
5.15.8 We are currently looking into packages of support for this cohort. These include: 

 Council Tax premium rebate for owner occupiers purchasing long term empty 

properties to renovate and live in them themselves.  

 Financial assistance such as loans and grants 

 Additional options appraisals are underway looking into the Council using its 

Registered Provider status and or NuPlace to support groups such as first time 

buyers, key workers etc. to purchase long time empty homes. These include: 

- Shared Ownership  

- Equity Loans  

- Equity Share 

- Rent to Buy/Own 

- Starter Homes Initiatives  

5.15.9 More details will be set out in our Annual Empty Property Update Report.  
 

 

Page 22



   

 

 

5.16 Affordable Warmth  
 
5.16.1 The Council has seen a huge increase in demand for this service area in the last 

year, with the rise in energy costs hitting households from April.   This is set to 
increase the priority and demand for support. Our Affordable Warmth Strategy has 
set us clear targets to make homes with an energy performance rating of D and 
below within our borough more energy efficient, taking our most deprived households 
out of fuel poverty, while working towards our carbon net zero target.  Homes 
currently account for around 20% of all emissions in the borough 
 
To date we have:- 
 

- Brought in over £3m of capital funding to provide energy efficiency 

measures to our most vulnerable citizens in fuel poverty resulting in a 

minimum of 900 measures being delivered in people’s homes.  

- Targeted work in our Safer Stronger Community areas with 61 

households alone benefitting to date in the Sutton Hill area. 100 insulation 

measures are being installed at an average cost of £10,000.  

- TWC Top-up Grant – Following the launch of the Council’s £50k Top-up 

Grant 19 vulnerable households have received heating measures. The 

investment has leveraged a further £25k of energy company obligation 

funding for these households.  

- Telford Energy Advice (TEA) who operate the Borough information hot line 

and advice service, have connected 500 households,  providing light touch 

measures and invaluable support during the energy crisis  

- ECO Flex - since the Council published its ECO Flex statement in December 

2020, an investment by energy providers of £360,000 has benefited 

vulnerable households by funding heating and insulation measures.  January 

2022 was our best month to date with £55,000 being invested into 20 homes. 

- LAD3/HUG – The Council has recently been awarded c. £1.6m for the next 

phase of LAD (Local Authority Delivery) – and HUG which benefits off grid 

properties. This includes £650k directly and circa £1m through a joint delivery 

programme with Shropshire Council the lead delivery partner. Delivery will run 

until March 2023 and will continue to target households in our Safer and 

Stronger Communities with a focus on Donnington. plus a borough wide offer 

for basic insulation measures    

- Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund – targeting social housing the 

Council has successfully worked with the Wrekin Housing Group and 

Sanctuary Housing to attract c. £690k to improve just under 100 properties in 

the Borough. .  

5.16.2 With the recent energy price rise, increasing the average household fuel bill by 50% 
and another one expected in October, the numbers of households in fuel poverty are 
expected to rise drastically. Telford and Wrekin Council are proactively facing these 
challenges head on for our vulnerable households by firstly, increasing resource in 
this service area to ensure we can provide advice and support to all households 
affected.   

 
5.16.3 £500,000 of Council Climate Change Capital Funding has also been committed for 

the financial year April 2022 – March 2023, to deliver Affordable Warmth schemes.  
 

Page 23



   

 

 

5.16.4 The fund will be targeted to plug gaps in what the Government funded schemes 
cover and to provide support to vulnerable residents and in our Safer, Stronger 
Communities.  Projects must also contribute to the council’s ambition for the borough 
to be carbon neutral by 2030. Full details of the scheme will be set out on our website 
but the funding will be used in the following ways: 

 
- To provide renewable heating and insulation measures to properties to 

support directly Government funded programmes.   

- Top-up Grant to support Central Government’s Boiler Upgrade Scheme 

(BUS) for heat pumps.   

- Small amount for fossil fuel heating where no other option is viable. 

5.16.5 A further allocation of £170k of capital funding, from Climate Action Investment, will 
be utilised to fit energy efficiency measures to 12 units of the Council’s Temporary 
accommodation, showing an intent to lead by example in improving our own stock for 
vulnerable people.  

 
5.16.6 We will continue to work with neighbouring authorities and energy efficiency bodies 

to bring maximum grant funding to our residents, for instance our successful bid with 
Shropshire Council as well as our work with West Midlands Combined Authority on 
social housing stock through the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund. Grant 
funding often favours a partnership approach, therefore, we continue to grow strong 
relationships with our neighbours. 

 
5.16.7 We will continually work to increase communication with residents in the Borough to 

help with the complexities involved in the grant funding landscape for households to 
navigate.  We have recently improved our web-site information to include an 
embedded form and have started a new schools programme, which we intend to 
continue into this financial year. We will also support and advise residents on the 
reputability of contractors offering energy efficiency measures, ensuring rogue or 
unqualified traders cannot cash in on the opportunities this crisis provides. We also 
offer, in partnership with TEA, bespoke training for front-line staff, including health 
professionals.   

 
5.16.8 Using data from a number of sources such as specialist software and stock condition 

survey data, we will work with landlords to comply with their legal obligations to 
improve the energy performance ratings of their properties by 2025. Where education 
and advice do not have the desired effect, we will enforce these standards under the 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards.  

 
6. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - None 

 
7. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
15 February 2018 – Cabinet, Better Homes for All 
14 March 2019 – Cabinet, Better Homes for All Update 
9 July 2020 – Cabinet, Better Homes for All 
22 April 2021 – Cabinet, Draft Affordable Warmth Strategy 
4 November 2021 – Cabinet, Long Term Empty Property Strategy  
 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS - None 
 
Report prepared by Ravi Phull, Service Delivery Manager – Strategic Housing & 
Regeneration - ravi.phull@telford.gov.uk. Telephone: 01952 381731 

Page 24

mailto:ravi.phull@telford.gov.uk


        

  

 

  

  

  

Private Sector Housing 

Landlord & Tenant 

Support Package 
  

  

  

 

May 2022 

  

 

 

Page 25



 

 

Tenant Landlord Co-Ordinator (TLC) 

TLC officer to manage the phone line and new dedicated email address for both 

tenant and landlord if they are experiencing issues linked to private renting.  The 

TLC to provide the advice where general and to refer the client to the most relevant 

service where a specialist subject.  The TLC will hold the case until the client has 

had a response and will refer the client to the most relevant service for support which 

may include: 

 Private Sector Housing for advice and support on:  HMO’s, HMO Applications, 

Tenant Damage, Fire Safety Advice, Advice on statutory requirements relating 

to the property standard, Tenants not allowing access to carry out the repairs. 

 Housing Solutions for advice and support on: Harrassment and illegal 
evictions, Notices from both the tenants and landlords perspective, court 
papers, possession and warrants, Tenancy agreements, Licence agreements, 
right to rent checks, tenant fees act, rent increases and arrears, rent 
accounts, negotiation of payment arrangement, deposits and disputes, 
inventories, ending a tenancy and gaining access, abandonment, squatters.  

 Housing Specialist Support Commissioning to provide advice on property 
requirements to encourage landlords to provide gaps in the market.  

 ASB Team – referring to the existing team to take control 

 Benefits – referring to DWP or Housing Benefits to the existing team to take 
control.  

 

Landlord/Tenant website page

A specific webpage where we have information 
or links to information relevant to 

landlords/tenant around renting.  Also links to 
Advice Aid:  information and links to up to date 

relevant notice papers, How to Rent Guide, What 
a tenant responsibility is, what a landlord 

responsibility is, HHSRS, Rent Account template, 
damp and mould, general maintenance  etc.  Also 

latest legislation updates and changes for 
landlord and tenant. advice on rent repayment 

orders. Also FAQ with answers. (could repurpose 
the Telford HomeFinder website? )

Communications

Regular social media/ 
promotion campaigns. 

Advice to Tenants

Advice to Landlords

Rogue Landlord promotion.

promoting what is going on 
around Safer Streets -

Safer/Stronger

Promote successful 
prosecutions

Report a Rogue 
Landlord

Continue with report a 
rogue landlord email 

and response

TLC Hotline and email

TLC takes call/emails and 
triage there enquiry. 

TLC holds the enquiry but 
refers it to the most relevant 

service:

* Public Protection

* Tenancy Relation Officer 

* Empty Property

*Affordable Warmth

* Benefits

Page 26



The TLC post to monitor the case until the client has had a response where the 

service is reliant on support from the overall Housing Teams. The TLC would also 

offer initial basic mediation service to support both the landlord and tenant.  

Landlord/Tenant Support Website: 

A website dedicated to those linked to private renting with initial self-help information 

to include a range of elements including: 

 Links to relevant documents such as correct notices 

 Example rent accounts 

 How to rent guide 

 What a tenant should check before renting 

 What a tenants responsibility is 

 What a landlords responsibility is 

 Example tenancy agreements 

 Repair responsibilities 

 Damp and Mould advice 

 HHSRS 

 Links to Benefits websites 

 Affordable Warmth 

 Empty Properties 

 Report a Rogue Landlord (what is a rogue) 

 

Additional Support for Landlords  

Training Course for Landlords covering (for a small fee): 

 HHSRS 

 HMOs 

 Fire Safety in HMOs 

 HMO Management Regs  

 Tenancy Issues 

HMO licence discount package 

 10% discount for the submission of a full and valid application 

 Discount for landlords who provide accommodation for the Council  

o Rolling discount programme 

o Entire property will result in a 100% discount  

CPN  

For low culpability and low harm first offences – we will offer the opportunity to 

landlords who accept guilt at PACE/IUC stage, to attend our training course (for a 

small fee) in place of receiving a civil penalty.   

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

          

  

 

  

  

  

Private Sector Housing  

Enforcement Policy   
  

  

  

May 2022 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

Page 29



2 

 

Contents           Page 

1. Purpose            3   

2. Role of the Private Rented Sector       3 

3. Enforcement Policy and Principles        3 

4. Regulators’ Codes         3 

5. Educate, Encourage, Enforce         5 

6. Powers available to the Council to deal with poor standards   5 

7. Investigations          6 

8. Tenure Groups          6 

9. Powers of entry, Warrants and Power to require and use information  7 

10. Inspections of Single Family Dwellings      7 

11. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)      7 

12. Inspections of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)    8   

13. HMO Licensing          8 

14. Most appropriate course of action         8 

15. Formal Action          9 

16. Emergency Action         9 

17. Review of Enforcement Action        9 

18. Power to charge for enforcement action      9 

19. Recovery of Debts           10 

20. Enforcement Action         10 

21. Monitoring and Review         15 

22. Application of the Policy        16 

23. Complaints and Appeals        17 

 

Appendix 1 - Policy on determining the level of Civil Penalty as an alternative to prosecution  

  under the Housing Act 2004 

Appendix 2 - The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 Statement 

  of Principles  

Appendix 3 - Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards - The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented  

  Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 

Appendix 4 - The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England)   

  Regulations 2020 

Page 30



3 

 

1. Purpose  

This Policy details how the Council will regulate standards in Private Sector Housing in Telford 

and Wrekin.  It provides an overview of the legislation and guidance under which the Council 

operates and the enforcement powers available to the Council to ensure that private sector 

housing is well maintained. 

 

Whilst not a legal requirement, it is important for local authorities to have an enforcement policy 

to ensure consistency of approach among council officers and for members of the public to 

know what to expect from the service.  An enforcement policy also provides clarity if the Council 

takes legal proceedings or if an appeal is made against enforcement action.  

Our aim is to raise standards in private sector housing throughout Telford and Wrekin, working 

with owners, landlords, letting agents and tenants to achieve this.  However, it is recognised 

that if the law is broken, then enforcement action may be necessary to protect the public and 

the environment.  

  

2. Role of the Private Rented Sector  

The supply of good quality, affordable, privately rented accommodation is essential to meeting 

local housing need. To this end the Council will work with landlords to improve and sustain good 

quality accommodation and will only intervene when there is a risk to the health and safety of 

occupants, neighbours or visitors to a property.  

 

3. Enforcement Policy and Principles  

This policy follows the “Principles of Good Regulation” set out in the Legislative and Regulatory 

Reform Act 2006 (2006 Act):  

  

 Regulatory activities should be carried out in a way which are transparent,  accountable, 

 proportionate and consistent. 

 Regulatory activities should be targeted only at cases in which action is needed.  

 

4. Regulators’ Codes  

The 2006 Act requires that we have regard to the current Regulators’ code when developing 

policies and procedures that guide our regulatory activity. This policy has regard to the Regulators’ 

Code. 

Page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


4 

 

The Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (the Policy) confirms that:  

• The Council will provide information, advice and assistance whenever possible to the 

public, businesses and organisations to help them meet their legal obligations in relation 

to the relevant housing legislation. 

  

• The Council is committed to carrying out its duties in a fair and consistent manner, 

ensuring that any enforcement action is proportionate to the severity of the 

noncompliance and the risk posed to the public. 

 

When discharging its duties in relation to private sector housing, the Council will follow the 

principles of good enforcement, including but not limited to the following:  

 Regulators Compliance Code  

 Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 (CPIA) and associated Code  

 Police & Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) and associated Codes  

 The Enforcement Concordat  

 Housing Act 2004  

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  

 Housing and Planning Act 2016  

 

This Enforcement Policy helps to promote efficient and effective approaches to regulatory 

inspection and enforcement, which improve regulatory outcomes without imposing 

unnecessary burdens. This is in accordance with the Regulators’ Code.   

 

The Private Sector Housing Team’s enforcement activity will be:  

 Proportionate – Enforcement action will be proportionate and reflect the nature, scale 

and seriousness of any breach or non-compliance.  

 Fair and objective – Enforcement action will be based on the individual circumstances 

of the case, taking all available facts into account. Officers will carry out investigations 

with a balanced and open mind.  

 Transparent – Enforcement action will be undertaken in accordance with clearly defined 

policies and procedures that are readily available. All communications will be easy to 

understand, with clear reasons being given for any enforcement action taken.  

Page 32



5 

 

 Consistent – Enforcement action will be undertaken and monitored within the Private 

Sector Housing Team to ensure consistency in the interpretation and enforcement of 

legislation, work with other regulatory agencies and to share and develop good practice.  

 Accountable – Enforcement action will be undertaken in a responsible manner that has 

a clear purpose. Where appropriate, the Private Sector Housing Team will work closely 

with landlords, tenants and other stakeholders that have an interest in private sector 

housing. 

 

5. Educate, Encourage, Enforce   

In line with the Council’s Better Homes for All programme, the service will always attempt to 

educate and encourage with landlords and responsible parties where it is reasonable (in our 

opinion) for us to do so. By facilitating compliance through a positive and proactive approach, 

the service aims to achieve higher compliance rates and reduce the need for reactive 

enforcement actions. Only where attempts to educate and encourage, to secure compliance 

have failed and/or the seriousness or risk to health and safety means informal action is not 

appropriate, the Council will take enforcement action.  

 

6. Powers available to the Council to deal with poor standards 

The Housing Act 2004 and associated secondary legislation sets out the duties and powers 

that Telford and Wrekin Borough Council has in relation to regulating housing standards, in its 

capacity as the Local Housing Authority. Additional powers are also contained within: 

 The Housing Act 1985  

 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 

 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 The Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961 

 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 

 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 

 The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 

2020.  

This is not an exhaustive list, and, the Council will consider the use of all powers available to it, 

to meet the aims of this policy. A complete list of powers and authorisations can be provided 

upon request.    

Page 33



6 

 

7. Investigations  

Telford and Wrekin will carry out proactive and reactive investigations for the following reasons:  

 in response to a reasonable complaint, or a request for service 

 where poor conditions have been brought to our attention 

 on receipt of relevant intelligence 

 monitoring progress and compliance 

 

The Service will focus its resources on the highest risk properties, those in worst condition and 

properties owned by landlords who regularly fail to comply with regulations or frequently have 

properties with poor conditions.   

 

8. Tenure Groups  

The Private Sector Housing Service has investigative and enforcement powers relating to all 

private housing regardless of tenure. However the approach may vary depending on the tenure 

of the household.  

 

a. Private Landlords and Tenants  

Tenants within rented accommodation do not have the same level of control of their homes, in 

the same way that owner occupiers benefit from. They are reliant on landlords or their agent to 

adequately maintain their homes in accordance with legal requirements. The Council will take 

enforcement action where required, against landlords or agents who are putting the health and 

safety of their tenants at risk, or in circumstances where conditions are causing serious issues 

to neighbouring property. 

  

b. Owner Occupiers  

Owner occupiers are usually in a position to make informed decisions about maintenance or 

safety issues in their homes. Formal enforcement action therefore against this tenure group 

would be limited. Officers would always aim to provide owner occupiers with appropriate advice 

and recommendations as to how they can mitigate any hazards identified. In cases, however, 

where there is a severe risk to the health and safety of occupiers, or where there are conditions 

that have the potential to cause serious issues to neighbouring property, the Council may take 

formal action against owner occupiers. The vulnerability of the owner occupier will also be 

Page 34



7 

 

considered, and it is expected that colleagues from other parts of the council will discharge 

their duties to ensure safeguarding of vulnerable adults and children.  

 

c. Registered Social Landlords (“RSL”)  

These are usually housing associations, being a private, non-profit making organisation that 

provides low cost “social housing”. Their performance is scrutinised by Homes England, the 

Social Housing Regulator and the Housing Ombudsman. RSL’s have written arrangements for 

reporting problems and clear response times for addressing these issues, in addition to having 

systems for registering any complaints about service failure. This service will not normally take 

action against an RSL, unless the problem in question has been properly reported to the RSL, 

who has then failed to take the appropriate action. However, the Council will always have 

regard to the nature of any reported hazard and will take formal action against any provider 

where there is a risk to the health and safety of tenants, visitors, neighbours and / or the wider 

public.  

 

9. Powers of entry, Warrants and Power to require and use information  

The Housing Act 2004 provides authorised officers with powers of entry to conduct inspections, 

warrants and powers to require information in connection with any investigations it conducts.  

The Council also has powers under Section 237 of the Housing Act 2004 to use the information 

obtained above, and also Housing Benefit and Council Tax information obtained by the 

authority, to carry out its functions in relation to these parts of the Act.  

 

10. Inspections of Single Family Dwellings  

Authorised officers will conduct an inspection of the whole dwelling, both internal and external 

and make a hazard assessment under the Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 

and any other appropriate legislation.  

 

11. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

A House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is defined in the Housing Act 2004. It is a residential 

property which is rented to three or more persons who form two or more households, and where 

those households share one or more amenities such as a bathroom, toilet or cooking facilities. 

A household is defined as a single person, a family, or a cohabiting couple. HMOs are further 

regulated by management regulations under the Housing Act 2004.  

Page 35



8 

 

12. Inspections of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

Authorised officers will conduct an inspection of the whole dwelling, both internal and external 

and make a hazard assessment under the Housing, Health and Safety Rating System 

(HHSRS), identify any breaches under management regulations under the Housing Act 2004 

and any other appropriate legislation.  

13. HMO Licensing 

Under The Housing Act 2004 all HMOs containing five or more occupants, who form two or 

more households and share one or more amenities require a licence. The operation of 

licensable HMO without a valid licence is a criminal offence. Licensable HMOs are further 

regulated by licensing regulations under the Housing Act 2004. 

 

Where the Council determines that a landlord has not complied with the Management 

Regulations, it will normally seek to resolve the matter informally, by requesting the necessary 

improvements and providing advice to the landlord. However, where there are serious 

management breaches, the operation of a licensable HMO without a licence or repeated failure 

by the landlord to comply with the Regulations, or refusal to improve the management of the 

HMO, the Council will consider immediate formal enforcement by way of prosecution or 

imposing a Civil Penalty. Offences under these Regulations, attract a separate civil penalty for 

each separate management offence. 

 

The Council also has powers to take control over poorly managed and/or dangerous licensable 

HMOs with no valid licence and no prospect of a licence application being forthcoming.    

 

14. Most appropriate course of action   

When considering any form of action, the service will always consider the most appropriate 

course of action for each case. This will include: 

 

 Whether the Council has a duty to take a specific course of action(s) 

 The risk that the conditions pose to the health and safety to individuals and the public at 

large,  

 Confidence in the management of the property,  

 The culpability of the responsible party,  

Page 36



9 

 

 Evidence that suggests that there was premeditation in the commission of an offence,  

 Whether there is a history of previous warnings or the commission of similar offences,  

 Aggravated circumstances such as aggressive or violent behaviour towards the officer 

or occupants,  

 Tenure of property 

 

The Council will determine which of the specific enforcement options it will use, taking into 

account the facts and circumstances in each individual case. The Council will remain impartial 

and take action that is proportionate to the situation. The Service will adopt a coordinated 

approach with other Council services and relevant agencies in taking any action.  

15. Formal Action 

Formal action will be in the form of legal notices, either to inform responsible and interested 

parties of the presence of a hazard and/or requiring compliance within a stipulated period of 

time or requiring the prohibition of all or parts of a dwelling within a stipulated time. Failure to 

comply may result in works being carried in default and/or prosecution or the issuing of a civil 

penalty.  

16. Emergency Action 

The council also has powers to carry out emergency remedial action where there is an 

imminent risk of serious harm and/or emergency prohibition powers to prohibit the use of all or 

parts of a dwelling for habitable use.  

17. Review of Enforcement Action  

If there is a change in the nature of the occupation of a premises (leading to either an increase 

or decrease in the apparent risk to occupiers) the current state of any outstanding enforcement 

action will be reviewed by the Council. Where appropriate this may result in the variation or 

revocation of notices. This ensures that the type of enforcement action is still appropriate and 

proportionate to the risk posed from the identified hazard(s).   

18. Power to charge for enforcement action  

The Council has the power, under the Housing Act 2004, to make a reasonable charge as a 

means of recovering certain administrative and other expenses incurred in serving certain 

Housing Act notices. The Council may recover a reasonable amount for expenses incurred in 

connection with time spent gaining entry to a property, visiting and inspecting the property to 

Page 37



10 

 

determine appropriate action and the administration costs for the production of a Notice, Order 

or Remedial Action. Costs incurred carrying out Works in Default or Remedial Action will be 

charged separately. If legal fees are incurred at any stage of a particular matter, the Council 

reserves the right to seek payment of both its administration and legal fees from the relevant 

Court or Tribunal.   

19. Recovery of Debts   

Where charges for enforcement action are levied, they will be registered as a local land charge 

against the owner’s property. If the charge has not been paid when the property is sold, the 

debt has to be repaid, including any interest accrued on the initial charge. The Council will 

vigorously pursue all debts owed to it as a result of enforcement charges or charges for 

carrying out works in default (as well as any other charges).  

 

20. Enforcement Action  

Where a responsible party commits an offence, the Council will consider the reasons for non-

compliance and consider the following options (or a combination of) :  

  

a. Take no action  

For example, where non-compliance is not the fault of the landlord i.e. the tenant refusing 

access. 

 

b. Works in Default  

Works in Default will be considered if all other methods to try to remedy the necessary works 

have been unsuccessful. In determining if work in default is appropriate, Officers will report to 

the Private Sector Housing Manager and/or the Service Delivery Manager, who will consider 

approval based on the following information:  

  

• The effects of not carrying out the work on the health and safety of the occupants of the 

property concerned  

• The wishes of the tenant where the notice has been served in respect of a rented 

property  

• The reason for the work not being carried out in the first place  

• Cost  

Page 38



11 

 

• Any other factors that are specific to individual properties  

 

The Council will normally seek to recover all of the costs associated with undertaking work in 

default (including time spent by its Officers, administrative costs, contractors costs, the cost of 

any specialist reports, supervisory costs etc.)  

  

In addition, as a means of recovering the costs, the Council may also serve Recovery Notices 

to recover, receive and give a discharge for any rent or sums in the nature of rent.  

 

c. Issue a Simple Caution   

Officers may use Simple Cautions where someone has committed a less serious offence. 

Simple Cautions warn people that their behaviour has been unacceptable and makes them 

aware of the legal consequences should they commit further offences. 

Simple cautions are not appropriate where there is a history of offending within the last 2 years 

or where the same type of offence has been committed before. In these circumstances, 

prosecution or civil penalty is more appropriate.   

 

d. Prosecution 

When deciding whether to prosecute Borough of Telford and Wrekin has regard to the 

provisions of The Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the Director of Public Prosecutions. 

Prosecution will only be considered where the Council is satisfied that it has sufficient evidence 

to provide a realistic prospect of conviction against the defendant(s). 

Before deciding that prosecution is appropriate, the Council will have particular regard to the 

following public interest criteria: 

 How serious is the offence committed? 

 What is the level of culpability of the suspect? 

 What are the circumstances of and the harm caused to the victim? 

 Was the suspect under the age of 18 at the time of the offence? 

 What is the impact on the community? 

 Is prosecution a proportionate response? 

 Do sources of information require protecting? 

Page 39



12 

 

The Council expects that, in the public interest, enforcing authorities should normally prosecute, 

or recommend prosecution, where, following an investigation or other regulatory contact, one or 

more of the following circumstances apply. Where: 

 a breach of the legislation resulted in a death 

 the gravity of an alleged offence, taken together with the seriousness of any actual or 

potential harm, or the general record and approach of the offender warrants it; 

 there has been reckless disregard of legislative requirements; 

 there have been repeated breaches that give rise to significant risk, or persistent and 

significant poor compliance; 

 the breach has been carried out without or in serious non-compliance with an appropriate 

licence or permission; 

 a duty holder’s standard of compliance is found to be far below what is required by law 

and to be giving rise to significant risk; 

 there has been a failure to comply with a statutory notice; or there has been a repetition 

of a breach that was subject to a simple caution; 

 false information has been supplied wilfully, or there has been an intent to deceive, in 

relation to a matter which gives rise to significant risk; 

 officers have been intentionally obstructed in the lawful course of their duties. 

 

In deciding on the public interest the Council will make an overall assessment based on the 

circumstances of each case and will consider all relevant circumstances carefully, including 

local and corporate priorities. The above is not an exhaustive list and the Council will take all 

relevant issues into account when reaching its determination. 

e. Civil Penalties for offences under the Housing Act 2004 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a range of measures to crack down on rogue 

landlords, including the power for Councils to issue civil penalties. Penalties of up to £30,000 

may be issued as an alternative to prosecution for certain specified offences.  

  

Income received from a civil penalty can be retained by the Council, provided that it is used to 

further its statutory functions in relation to enforcement activities covering the private rented 

sector.   

Page 40



13 

 

  

A civil penalty may be imposed as an alternative to prosecution for the following offences under 

the Housing Act 2004:  

  

• Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30)   

• Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (section 72)   

• Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95)   

• Contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139)   

• Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (section 234)  

  

The amount of penalty is to be determined by the Council in each case. The actual amount 

levied in any particular case should reflect the severity of the offence as well as taking account 

of the landlord’s previous record of offending. In determining an appropriate level of penalty, 

the Council will have regard to the publication ‘Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning 

Act 2016’.  

 

A civil penalty can only be imposed as an alternative to prosecution. However, unlike 

prosecution action, where there are offences under Houses in Multiple Occupation Management 

Regulations, the Council may issue a civil penalty for each separate offence. 

  

The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for prosecution. This 

means that before taking formal action, the Council must satisfy itself that if the case were to be 

prosecuted in a magistrates’ court, there would be a realistic prospect of conviction. The private 

sector housing team will consult with the Council’s legal team in this respect.  

The civil penalty policy is appended to this policy. 

 

f. Proceeds of Crime 

Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. The 

Proceeds of Crime Act allows Local Authorities to recover assets that have been accrued 

through criminal activity. 

Page 41



14 

 

 

g. Rent Repayment Orders  

The Housing Act 2004 enabled Councils to apply for Rent Repayment Orders (RROs) in regard 

to offences related to HMOs. A landlord who operates an unlicensed HMO can be subject to a 

RRO when issued by a First-tier Tribunal (Property Chamber). The Housing and Planning Act 

2016 extended the power to apply RROs in respect of the following offences committed after 

6th April 2017:  

  

• Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice under Section 30 of the Housing Act 2004  

• Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order under Section 32 of the Housing Act 2004  

• Breach of a banning order made under Section 21 of the Housing and Planning Act 

2016  

• Using violence to secure entry to a property under Section 6 of the Criminal Law Act 

1977  

• Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers of a property under Section 1 of the 

Protection from Eviction Act 1977  

  

A RRO requires repayment of rent received by the landlord over a period of up to 12 months.  

The Council will usually consider applying for such a measure if the landlord has received rent 

that has been paid by Housing Benefit. A criminal standard of proof is required. The Council 

must apply to the First-tier Property Tribunal for an RRO. A tenant may apply for a rent 

repayment order themselves if they are not in receipt of housing benefit. 

  

Borough of Telford and Wrekin will consider making an application for a Rent Repayment Order 

in all cases where a person has been prosecuted in relation to one of the above offences. 

 

h. Banning Orders 

From 6 April 2018 a Local Authority has the power to apply to the First Tier Tribunal for a 

banning order. A Banning Order is an order that bans a landlord or property agent from: 

 Letting housing in England; 

 Engaging in English letting agency work; 

Page 42



15 

 

 Engaging in English property management work; and 

 Doing two or more of those things. Breach of a banning order is a criminal offence. 

A Banning Order must be for a minimum period of 12 months. There is no statutory maximum 

period for a Banning Order. 

The Council will use banning orders for the most serious offenders who breach their legal 

obligations and rent out accommodation which is substandard and where previous sanctions, 

such as a prosecution has not resulted in positive improvements and it is necessary for the 

Council to proceed with further prosecutions/ formal action. 

i. Database of Rogue Landlords 

 A local housing authority must make an entry on the database where a landlord or property 

agent has received a banning order. They have the discretion to make entries where a landlord 

or property agent has been convicted of a banning order offence or has received 2 or more civil 

penalties within a 12 month period. 

Local authority officers will be able to view all entries on the database, including those made by 

other local housing authorities. The database can be searched to help keep track of known 

rogues, especially those operating across council boundaries and will help authorities target 

their enforcement activities. 

Details held on the database will not be available to members of the public. 

The Council will have regard to the guidance, which from time to time is updated by 

Government, when deciding whether or not to include a person on the Rogue Landlord 

Database. The current version of guidance, can be found here: (Database of rogue landlords 

and property agents under the Housing and Planning Act 2016.) 

21. Monitoring and Review  

The Service will keep its regulatory activities and interventions under review, with a view to 

considering the extent to which it would be appropriate to remove or reduce the regulatory 

burdens they impose, where the Council has direct control of these matters.  

 

Changes will be introduced into this document where necessary to accommodate new 

legislation, guidance and local needs.   

 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/database-of-rogue-landlords-and-property-agents-under-the-housing-and-planning-act-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/database-of-rogue-landlords-and-property-agents-under-the-housing-and-planning-act-2016


16 

 

22. Application of the Policy  

All authorised officers must have regard to this Policy when making enforcement decisions in 

relation to Private Sector Housing.  

 

23. Complaints and Appeals  

The Service will ensure that clear reasons for any enforcement action are given and 

information about complaints and appeal procedures are provided. 

  

Information about independent appeal mechanisms, such as to the First-Tier Property Tribunal 

can be found here:  https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber 

 

Complaints about our service will be handled in line with the Council’s Corporate Complaints 

procedure which is outlined here:  https://www.Telford and Wrekin.gov.uk/Report/Compliments-

complaints-and-feedback  

 

 

  

 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber
https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Report/Compliments-complaints-and-feedback
https://www.tandridge.gov.uk/Report/Compliments-complaints-and-feedback


17 

 

Appendix 1 

Policy on determining the level of Civil Penalty as an alternative to prosecution under the 

Housing Act 2004 

Introduction  

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 (‘the 2016 Act’) amends the Housing Act 2004 (‘the 2004 

Act’) to allow financial penalties, up to a maximum of £30,000, to be imposed as an alternative 

to prosecution for certain relevant housing offences.  

This policy must be read in conjunction with “Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 

2016 - Guidance for Local Authorities” (“the DCLG Guidance”) and has been created in 

accordance with Section 3.3 & 3.5 of that guidance. 

 

 

What is a civil penalty? 

 

A civil penalty is a financial penalty imposed by a local housing authority on an individual or 

organisation as an alternative to prosecution for certain housing offences under the Housing Act 

2004 and a breach of a banning order under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

 

A civil penalty can be imposed as an alternative to prosecution for the following offences:- 

 

a. Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (S.30 Housing Act 2004) 

b. Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (S.72 Housing Act 2004) 

c. Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (S.95 Housing Act 2004) 

d. Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (S.139 Housing Act 2004) 

e. Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (S.234 Housing Act 2004). 

f. Breach of a Banning Order (Section 21 Housing and Planning Act 206). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



18 

 

When will a civil penalty be imposed? 

 

The Council will consider whether to issue a civil penalty or to undertake a prosecution on a case 

by case basis taking into account all of the information and evidence available. 

 

The Council must be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to prove that the offence(s) have 

been committed and it must also be in the public interest to issue a civil penalty. The Council 

must also ensure that they are satisfied that the burden of proof is met, i.e. satisfied beyond all 

reasonable doubt that the offence has been committed and should the same matter be 

prosecuted at magistrates court, there is a realistic prospect of conviction. 

 

 

Setting the level of the civil penalty 

 

Civil penalties can be set up to a maximum of £30,000 and the amount levied in any particular 

case will reflect the severity of the offence with the following factors considered:- 

 

a) Severity of the offence. The more serious the offence, the higher the penalty will be.  

b) Culpability and track record of the offender. A higher penalty will be appropriate where the 

offender has a history of failing to comply with their obligations and/or their actions were deliberate 

and/or they knew, or ought to have known, that they were in breach of their legal responsibilities. 

Landlords are running a business and will be expected to be aware of their legal obligations.  

c) The harm caused to the tenant. This is a very important factor when determining the level of 

penalty. The greater the harm or the potential for harm (this may be as perceived by the tenant), 

the higher the amount should be when imposing a civil penalty. Harm does not actually need to 

have occurred, and the potential harm alone will be sufficient to allow the Council to increase the 

amount of the civil penalty accordingly. 

d) Punishment of the offender. A civil penalty should not be regarded as an easy or lesser 

option compared to prosecution. While the penalty should be proportionate and reflect both the 

severity of the offence and whether there is a pattern of previous offending, it is important that it 

is set at a high enough level to help ensure that it has a real economic impact on the offender and 

demonstrate the consequences of not complying with their responsibilities.  

Page 46



19 

 

e) Deter the offender from repeating the offence. The ultimate goal is to prevent any further 

offending and help ensure that the landlord fully complies with all of their legal responsibilities in 

future. The level of the penalty should therefore be set at a high enough level such that it is likely 

to deter the offender from repeating the offence.  

f) Deter others from committing similar offences. While the fact that someone has received a 

civil penalty will not be in the public domain, it is possible that other landlords in the local area will 

become aware through informal channels when someone has received a civil penalty. An 

important part of deterrence is the realisation that (a) the local housing authority is proactive in 

levying civil penalties where the need to do so exists and (b) that the civil penalty will be set at a 

high enough level to both punish the offender and deter repeat offending. 

 

g) Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of committing 

the offence. The guiding principle here should be to ensure that the offender does not benefit as 

a result of committing an offence, i.e. it should not be cheaper to offend than to ensure a property 

is well maintained and properly managed.  

 

 

Determining the amount of financial penalty 

 

The following sets out how the Council will determine the appropriate level of financial penalty in 

each particular case, and will be in line with statutory guidance.  

 

Culpability and track record of the offender 

 

The Council will consider the culpability of the offender and consider it against four levels, each 

level having accompanying examples of behaviours that could result in that particular level. The 

Council will assess the evidence obtained in the investigation and use the examples below to 

determine the appropriate level of culpability for the offence; this will be repeated for each offence 

as the level of culpability may vary. A higher penalty will be awarded where their actions were 

deliberate. Statutory guidance makes it clear landlords are running a business and are expected 

to be aware of their legal obligations. The below examples are not an exhaustive list, and it 

remains open to the Council to treat culpability as being higher or lower, based on the individual 

circumstances of each case. 

Page 47



20 

 

 

Level of culpability - Very High (Deliberate), intentional breach by the offender or flagrant 

disregard for the law 

Examples of behaviour, 

 Exploitation of vulnerable tenants e.g migrant workers, elderly, mentally ill. 

 Previous Housing Act convictions including the issuing of CPN’s/Prosecution/Banning 

Order 

 Concealment of activity/evidence 

 Already on rogue landlord database 

 

Level of culpability – High (Reckless), actual foresight of or wilful blindness to risk of offending 

but risks nevertheless taken by landlord/property agent e.g. failure to comply with HMO 

management regulations 

Examples of behaviour, 

 Failure to comply with all or significant requirements of an improvement notice. Failure to 

comply with all or significant HMO licence conditions 

 Ignoring warnings/information raised by the Council, tenants or others 

 Allowing risks, breaches or offences to continue giving no thought to the consequences 

even though the risks could be obvious. 

 Allowing breaches to continue over a long period of time. 

 Repeat offending behaviours. 

 Record of non-compliance e.g notices/enforcement action 

 Record of letting substandard accommodation 

 Record of poor management/inadequate management provision 

 Member of an accreditation scheme or recognised landlord association so should know 

better 

 Experienced landlord or property agent with a portfolio of properties. 

 Experienced landlord/property agent who fails to licence a HMO  

 Experienced landlord/property agent who manages a HMO with management regulation 

breaches. 

 

 

Page 48



21 

 

Level of culpability – Medium (Negligent Act), failure of the offender to take reasonable care to 

put in place and to enforce proper systems to avoid breaches and offences 

Examples of behaviour, 

 HMO licence application not submitted and renewed within set period of time 

 Part compliance with improvement notice or HMO licence conditions within a set period of 

time 

 Previous warnings or advice issued 

 Can demonstrate that they believed the responsibility was with a third party 

 The landlord/letting/management agent had systems in place to manage risk or comply 

with their legal duties but these were not sufficient or adhered to or implemented. 

 Property sublet into HMO and landlord/property agent claims they were not aware. 

 

 

 

Level of culpability – Low (low or no culpability), offence committed with little or no fault on the 

part of the landlord/letting/management agent 

Examples of behaviour, 

 Significant efforts were made to address the harm though they were inadequate 

 Part damage caused by tenants 

 No recent history for non-compliance or track record of interventions i.e within the last 5 

years 

 Minor breaches and occurred as an isolated incident 

 Evidence of health reasons preventing reasonable compliance- mental health, unforeseen 

health issues. 

 Vulnerable individual(s) where the vulnerability is linked to the commission of the offence. 

 

 

 

The harm caused to the tenant and the severity of the offence 

 

When determining the level of harm and the severity of the offence, the Council will have regard 

to both the person who could have, or has suffered the harm; i.e. physical injury, damage to 

health, psychological distress and the community; i.e. economic loss, harm to public health. Other 

Page 49



22 

 

factors will also be considered in assessing the level of harm and the severity of the offence; i.e. 

public concern/feeling over the impact of poor housing condition on the local neighbourhood. 

 

The nature of the harm and the severity of the offence, will depend on the personal characteristics 

and circumstances of the victim, e.g. tenant. Where no actual harm has resulted from the offence, 

the Council will consider the relative danger the persons have been exposed to as a result of the 

offender’s conduct, the likelihood of harm occurring and the severity of harm that could have 

resulted. Factors that indicate a higher degree of harm include multiple victims, serious or 

psychological effect on the victim/s and whether the victim/s is particularly vulnerable and the 

landlord was aware of this. The below lists are not exhaustive, and the Council may treat the level 

of harm as higher or lower based on the circumstances in a particular case. 

 

Level of harm/severity of offence – High, lack of compliance giving rise to the offence poses a 

serious and substantial risk of likelihood of harm to the occupant/s and or visitors 

Examples 

 The seriousness or potential seriousness would be considered a Class I or Class II harm 

outcome in the Housing Health and Safety Rating system 

 In the case of an HMO multiple breaches of the management regulations associated with 

safety especially regulation 4 that cumulatively put the occupiers at risk of serious and 

substantial harm 

 Serious level of overcrowding 

 Existence of 1 or more category 1 hazards 

 High level of perceived harm/fear by occupiers/local community 

 Vulnerable tenants 

 No licence, high issues with safety 

Level of harm/severity of offence – Medium, lack of compliance giving rise to the offence poses 

a serious risk of a likelihood of harm to the occupant/s and or visitors 

Examples 

 The seriousness or potential seriousness would be considered a class III harm outcome in 

the Housing Health and Safety Rating System. 

 Some perceived harm by occupiers/ local community 

 Some vulnerabilities with tenants 

 Multiple cat 2 hazards 

Page 50



23 

 

 Breaches of management regulations such as failure to maintain fixtures and fittings 

important to tenant wellbeing and health e.g cookers, toilets and showers. 

 No licence, medium issues with safety 

 

Level of harm/severity of offence – Low, lack of compliance of the offence causes little or no 

likelihood of harm to the occupant/s and or visitors 

Examples 

 Low risk of harm or potential harm 

 Tenants not considered vulnerable 

 Breaches of management regulations such as failure to display management details, poor 

decorative repair, untidy garden 

 The lack of a HMO licence – only where there are no issues of safety identified. 

 

In order to determine the final penalty the Council will assess the culpability against the 

harm and severity of the offence and place within the appropriate band as per below. The 

fine will have an initial ‘starting point’ as detailed in the table below. 

 

 

Range 

 Starting Point Minimum Maximum 

 

LOW CULPABILITY 

Low harm £750 £500 £1,000 

Medium harm £1,500 £1,000 £2,000 

High harm £3,500 £2,000 £5,000 

 

MEDIUM CULPABILITY 

Low harm £1,500 £1,000 £2,000 

Medium harm £3,500 £2,000 £5,000 

High harm £7,500 £5,000 £10,000 

 

HIGH CULPABILITY 

Low harm £3,500 £2,000 £5,000 

Page 51



24 

 

Medium harm £7,500 £5,000 £10,000 

High harm £15,000 £10,000 £20,000 

 

VERY HIGH CULPABLITY 

Low harm £7,500 £5,000 £10,000 

Medium harm £15,000 £10,000 £20,000 

High harm £25,000 £20,000 £30,000 

 

 

The table gives the starting points, maximum and minimum financial penalties for each harm 

category and level of culpability. 

 

Context 

Having determined the appropriate penalty range and the starting point, the Council will consider 

further adjustment to the level of penalty within the category range, by taking into account any 

aggravating and mitigating features of the case. 

 

The list of mitigating and aggravating factors is not exhaustive and other features may be 

considered depending on the circumstances of each case.  

 

Mitigating factors that will be considered: 

 High level of co-operation with the investigation beyond that which will always be expected 

 The offender acts voluntarily to rectify the problem e.g submits a licence application 

 The offender had a good track record of maintaining property and complying with 

legislation and statutory standards prior to the offence 

 Willingness to undertake training 

 Willingness to join recognised landlord accreditation scheme/recognised landlord 

association 

 Evidence of health reasons preventing reasonable compliance 

 No previous convictions 

 Noticeable tenant damage/obstruction to allow access 

 Early admission of guilt i.e. within one month 

 

Page 52



25 

 

Aggravating factors that will be considered: 

 Previous convictions having regard to the offence to which applies and time elapsed since 

the offence 

 Obstruction of the investigation e.g. failure to respond to statutory notices requesting 

information  

 Number of items of non-compliance – greater the number, the greater the potential 

aggravating factor 

 Lack of tenancy agreement/rent paid in cash 

 Established evidence of wider community impact 

 

 

Consideration of financial elements of the penalty 

 

One of the guiding principles of the financial penalty regime, is that the penalty should be fair and 

proportionate but in all instances should act as a deterrent and remove any financial benefit that 

may have been obtained as a result of committing the offence. The penalty should never be less 

than what it would have cost the landlord to comply in the first place. It should not be cheaper to 

offend than to take appropriate precautions. 

 

Existing powers will be utilised by the Council to make an assessment of the landlords assets and 

income they receive when determining an appropriate penalty. Income in addition to rental 

income will also be taken into consideration. A section 235 Housing Act 2004 notice may be 

served to aid with this 

 

It would be expected that an offender will disclose financial information which will enable the 

Council to determine the ability of an offender to pay. If the Council is not satisfied that sufficient 

and / or reliable information has been provided in relation to income, the Council will draw a 

reasonable inference as to the offenders means, which may include the inference that the 

offender can pay the financial penalty. 

 

The Council will consider whether the proposed level of financial penalty is proportionate to the 

overall means of the offender. It may increase or decrease the proposed fine, if necessary moving 

outside of the range in the table above. 

Page 53



26 

 

 

Full regard will also be given to the totality principle (explained below), where multiple offences 

are involved. 

 

The general principles that will be followed when setting the penalty are: 

 The Council should finalise the appropriate level of penalty so that it reflects the 

seriousness of the offence and the Council must take into account the financial 

circumstances of the offender. 

 The level of financial penalty should reflect the extent to which the offender fell below the 

required standard. The financial penalty should meet, in a fair and proportionate way, the 

objectives of punishment, deterrence and the removal of gain derived through the 

commission of the offence; it should not be cheaper to offend than to take the appropriate 

precautions. 

 The principle behind issuing civil penalty notices is that there is no financial gain to the 

alleged perpetrator of the relevant offences. 

 

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Totality principle 

Where a civil penalty is being issued for more than one offence or the offender has already 

received a civil penalty, the total penalties must be proportionate to the offending behaviour. If 

the aggregate total of the civil penalty is not proportionate, then the Council must recalculate the 

civil penalty to reflect the case circumstances. 

 

Maximum penalty for most serious offence 

The civil penalty can be calculated based on the most serious offence committed, usually 

imposing the maximum penalty for that offence, with no further penalty for other offences 

committed. 

 

Separate penalties 

Where a civil penalty is calculated for a number of offences that have arose from different 

incidents / properties, it may be more appropriate to impose separate penalties for each offence. 

Once each civil penalty is calculated, combine the totals and assess if they are just and 

Page 54



27 

 

proportionate. If the aggregate amount is not just and proportionate, consider if each penalty can 

be proportionately reduced.  

 

Early payment discount 

 

A discount of 25% will be applied to a civil penalty charge if the penalty is paid in full within 28 

days of service of the intention notice. This reflects a similar incentive in the criminal courts where 

a reduction in sentence is offered where an early admission of guilt is made. Payment in full of a 

civil penalty is an acceptance of liability, which is reflected with this additional deduction. If the 

Council is required to serve a final notice, no discount will be available beyond this point. 

Review and recording of the decision 

 

Before a Notice of Intent is issued, the process and level of civil penalty will be reviewed and 

checked with the Council’s in house Legal Services team and the Private Sector Housing 

Manager or other Senior Officer. 

 

The purpose of this review is to ensure that the process has been applied correctly and the level 

of civil penalty is reasonable and proportionate. 

 

A record of each decision and the reasons for the financial penalty will be made by the Council 

and how the amount of the penalty was obtained and the reasons for imposing it. 

 

Where written representations are made in response to a Notice of Intent, the Private Sector 

Housing Manager or other Senior Officer not previously involved with the case, will consider the 

representations and either, 

 Withdraw the notice of intent  

 Reduce or increase the amount specified  

 Uphold the original decision 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



28 

 

Appendix 2 

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015  

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) require 

private sector landlords to ensure that at least one smoke alarm is installed on every storey of 

their rented property and that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room containing a 

solid fuel burning appliance (for example a coal fire or a wood burning stove). They also require 

landlords to ensure that such alarms are in proper working order at the start of each new 

tenancy. 

 

The Council may issue a remedial notice where it has reasonable grounds to believe a landlord 

has not complied with one or more of the requirements. The landlord must comply with the 

notice within 28 days. If they do not, the Council is required to carry out the remedial action 

(where the occupier consents) to ensure the requirements in the regulations are met. 

 

The Council may also impose a civil penalty of up to £5,000 on landlords who do not comply 

with the remedial notice. The Regulations require the Council to be open and transparent 

regarding the civil penalty and publish a Statement of Principles which it will follow when 

determining the amount of a penalty charge.  

 

Penalty charges for non-compliance are as follows:  

  

First offence  £1,500  Reduced to £750 if paid within 14 days  

Second offence  £3,000  No reduction for early payment  

Any additional offences  £5,000  No reduction for early payment  

 

In determining the level of the fixed penalty charge, the Council has considered the likely costs 

it will incur and that the amount charged is sufficient to provide a deterrent to future non-

compliance.  Increasing the charge for a second offence and then again for further offences 

reflects the seriousness of the offence and is designed to deter repeat offending.   

  

 

 

 

Page 56



29 

 

The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

Statement of Principles for determining the amount of the Penalty Charge 

Introduction  

The purpose of this Statement of Principles is to set out a framework for determining the 

amount of a penalty charge to be imposed for breaches of the above Regulations.  

This statement sets out the principles that Telford and Wrekin Borough Council (the Council) will 

apply in exercising their right to require a landlord to pay a fixed penalty charge under the 

provisions of the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015. if the 

Council is satisfied that the landlord has breached his duty under Regulation 6(1) to comply with 

the requirements of a Remedial Notice under Regulation 5.  

The Legal Framework  

Regulation 8 provides that where a local housing authority (the Council) is satisfied, on the 

balance of probabilities, that a landlord on whom it served a remedial notice under Regulation 5 

is in breach of their compliance duty under Regulation 6(1), it may require the landlord to pay a 

penalty charge. The amount of the charge to be determined by the Council and may be up to a 

statutory maximum of £5000.  

The scope of this document  

Regulation 13 requires Council’s to prepare and publish a Statement of Principles to be followed 

in determining the amount of such a penalty charge. The Council will have regard to the criteria 

set out below in deciding whether to impose a penalty and what level that penalty should be. 

The primary aims of financial penalties will be to:  

 Recover the Council’s costs in carrying out the necessary remedial work, under 

Regulation 7. 

 Lower the risk to tenant’s health, safety and wellbeing by ensuring that the property in 

question benefits from basic early warning in the event of a fire. 

 Promote compliance of landlords in the private rented sector. 

 Eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance with regulation.  

 Be proportionate to the nature of the breach of legislation and the risk posed.  

 Aim to prevent future non-compliance.  

Page 57



30 

 

 

Criteria for the imposition of a penalty charge  

In deciding whether it would be appropriate to impose a penalty charge, the Council will take full 

account of the particular facts and circumstances of the breach. Factors which the Council will 

take into consideration include, but are not limited to:-  

 The extent to which the circumstances giving rise to the contravention were within the 

control of the landlord, 

 The presence or absence, of internal controls or procedures on the landlord’s part which 

were intended to prevent the breach, 

 The steps that the landlord has taken since being served with the remedial notice, 

 Whether the landlord has been obstructed in his duty, or if tenant removal of alarms has 

occurred, 

 Evidence provided that supports compliance with a Remedial Notice, (this may include a 

signed inventory at the start of a tenancy, or photographic evidence showing alarms 

installed, with a date & time stamp). 

  

Criteria for determining the amount of a penalty charge  

The Regulations set a maximum penalty charge of £5000. A penalty charge will be set at a level 

which the Council considers is proportional to the breach. It will also include the costs incurred 

by the Council in taking remedial action following non-compliance, including officer time and the 

cost of contractor supervision. The Council will consider:-  

 Whether or not the breach under consideration is a first-time breach.  

 The nature of the breach of the Regulations 

 Continued, or repeat breaches of the Regulations 

Telford and Wrekin Borough Council has set the penalty charge as follows:-  

First Offence £1,500 - if paid within 14 days from the service of the Penalty Charge Notice, 

there will be a discount of 50% to £750.  

Second Offence £3000 - No early payment discount  

Subsequent Offences £5,000 - No early payment discount 

Page 58



31 

 

The Council will exercise discretion, and may not make, or may reduce, any penalty charge 

where the landlord is a housing charity providing housing services for vulnerable persons.  

The Council will enforce penalty charges, to include obtaining a Court Order for payment, where 

necessary.  

Review of Penalty Charge Notice & Appeals  

On receipt of a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) from the Council, a landlord may, within 28 days 

from the service of the notice, make a written request asking the Council to review their 

decision. The Council will review the facts of the case and may confirm or vary their decision, 

and will serve notice giving the result of their review.  

A landlord may appeal the review decision, to the First-tier Property Tribunal. The Tribunal may 

quash, confirm, or vary the PCN, but cannot increase the penalty charge.  

The operation of the PCN is suspended until the Tribunal has determined the appeal. 

Information about independent appeal mechanisms, such as to the First-Tier Property Tribunal 

can be found here:  https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber 

 

  

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/courts-tribunals/first-tier-tribunal-property-chamber


32 

 

Appendix 3  

Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards - The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 

The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 require 

that where a privately rented property has a valid, registered Energy Performance Certificate 

(EPC), the minimum acceptable rating for the energy performance of the property must be ‘E’ or 

above. Properties for which a valid EPC has been registered, which indicates an EPC rating of 

‘F’ or ‘G’ must not be rented out until works have been carried out to improve the energy 

performance. 

 

Exemptions 

There are various exemptions from the requirement to undertake the necessary energy 

improvements to meet the minimum requirement. These may be due to limitations in cost or to 

limitations associated with the type of construction of a property. Any exemption must be 

correctly registered with supporting documentation at the PRS Exemptions Register at: 

https://prsregister.beis.gov.uk. The exemption is valid for a maximum of 5 years. 

 

Penalties 

Where officers identify a privately rented property that does not meet the Minimum Energy 

Efficiency Standards (MEES) and has not registered an exemption, the Council may administer 

a fixed penalty and require the improvements to be carried out. The maximum amount a 

landlord can be fined per property is £5,000.  

 

The financial penalty may be served up to 18 months after the breach has occurred. 

The maximum penalty limits are: 

 

Up to £2,000 and/or publication penalty for renting out a non-compliant property for less than 3 

months. 

 

Up to £4,000 and/or publication penalty for renting out a non-compliant property for 3 months or 

more. 

 

Up to £1,000 and/or publication for providing false or misleading information on the PRS 

Exemptions Register. 

Page 60

https://prsregister.beis.gov.uk/


33 

 

 

Up to £2,000 and/or publication for failure to comply with a compliance notice. 

 

The amount of civil penalty issued may be subject to representations as to the exceptional, or 

extenuating circumstances and may be reduced on consideration of the representations made. 

 

  

Page 61



34 

 

Appendix 4 

The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 

The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 apply 

to private landlords in respect of any specified tenancy and require all private landlords to: 

 

 ensure that the electrical safety standards (currently the 18th edition of the Wiring 

Regulations, published by the Institution of Engineering and Technology and the British 

Standards Institution as BS 7671: 2018) are met during any period when their property is 

occupied by a tenant as their main or only home 

 ensure every electrical installation in the property is inspected and tested at least every 5 

years by a qualified person who will provide a written report; 

 ensure the first inspection and testing is carried out before the tenancy and provide the 

inspection/testing report to tenants; and to the local authority within 7 days of receiving a 

written request for the report. 

 carry out any further or investigative work recommended by the report within 28 days or 

any lesser period specified in the report and obtain written confirmation that the work has 

been done to the correct standard. 

 

Electrical Safety Enforcement 

Telford and Wrekin Borough Council, as the local housing authority, is responsible for enforcing 

the Regulations. Where the Council has reasonable grounds to believe that a private landlord is 

in breach of the regulations, it must, within 21 days of arriving at this belief, serve a remedial 

notice on the landlord setting out the breaches and action required to remedy them. That action 

must then be taken within 28 days of the notice being served. 

 

The landlord may make written representations in respect of the notice, in which case the notice 

will be suspended until the Council has considered those representations and informed the 

landlord of the outcome. 

 

If a landlord fails to carry out the required works, the Council may, with the tenant’s consent, 

carry them out itself and charge the cost back to the landlord, to be paid within 21 days.  

 

Page 62



35 

 

The landlord has a right of appeal against the authority to the First Tier Tribunal and there is 

dispensation for landlords who are prevented by tenants from gaining entry to the property to 

carry out works. 

 

The Council may impose a civil penalty, up to a maximum of £30,000 if satisfied beyond 

reasonable doubt that a landlord has breached the Regulations. These penalties may be 

appealed to the First Tier Tribunal.  

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



         

  

 

  

  

 

Better Homes for All 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation 

 

Amenities, Space & Management 

Standards 

   
  

  

  

May 2022 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 65



Introduction   

This guidance has been produced by Telford & Wrekin Council for Houses in Multiple   

Occupation (HMOs). The guide has been written to assist owners, agents and occupiers in 

relation to the standards they should expect in such accommodation.   

 

Definition of a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO)   

An HMO is defined in law as a house or flat in which three or more unrelated persons forming 

two or more households share an amenity such as a bathroom, toilet or cooking facilities 

. 

 A ‘household’ is either a single person or members of the same family who are living together.  

  

An HMO is also a building which has been converted into one, or more, non-self-contained 

units. A non-self-contained unit is where one, or more, of the facilities is not within the 

occupant’s room. This applies even if the facility is for the exclusive use of the occupant.   

 

An HMO is also a building which has been converted into self-contained flats where less than 

two-thirds are owner-occupied and the conversion does not meet the appropriate Building 

Regulations. 

 The appropriate Building Regulations are:   

 

 If the property was converted prior to June 1992, the 1991 Building Regulations. Unless it 

meets the requirements of section 20 of the Building Regulations 1991. 

 If the conversion took place after June 1992, the Building Regulations that were in force at 

the time of conversion.   

  

Mandatory Licensing   

All HMOs having 5 or more occupants in two or more households are required to apply to the 

Council for a licence. Telford & Wrekin currently only operate mandatory licensing.  

 

Legal Standards in HMOs 

The Housing Act 2004 and associated regulations set out the minimum standards required in 

HMOs. This guide will explain the legal requirements and provide the Council’s approach on 

how those standards should be achieved.  

Management Regulations 

All HMOs are subject to the Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) 

Regulations 2006 irrespective of whether they are required to be licensed or not. The 

Page 66



Regulations impose duties on both managers and occupiers of HMOs. It is a criminal offence 

not to comply with the Regulations.   

 

What HMOs does this guide cover?   

This guide sets out the standards to be applied to all HMOs which require a licence and will also 

be used as a baseline for standards expected to be achieved in non-licensable HMOs.  

 

Space Standards   

Legal requirements   

A room with a usable floor area between 6.51 m2 and 10.21 m2 may only be occupied as 

sleeping accommodation by one person.   

Only a room  with  a  usable  floor  area  of  10.22  m2   or  over  may  be  occupied  as  sleeping 

accommodation by two persons.   

A room with a useable floor area between 4.64 m2 and 6.5 m2 may be occupied as sleeping 

accommodation by a child under the age of 10, provided the room is let or occupied in 

connection with the letting or occupation of an adjacent room with a useable floor area of or in 

excess of 6.51m2 to a parent or guardian of the child.   

No room of less than 4.64 m2 in floor area may be occupied as sleeping accommodation  

    

PLEASE NOTE: These are absolute minimum sizes and some are only applied where 

there is adequate shared living accommodation elsewhere in the HMO (see space 

guidance below).   

  

  

Page 67



Telford & Wrekin Council Requirements   

Telford & Wrekin Council has adopted the following space standards as the minimum 

requirements. Telford & Wrekin Council stipulates different room size requirements depending 

on whether the property has additional communal space. Where there is no additional 

communal space, Telford & Wrekin Council requires a larger bedroom size.  

 

The information on the next pages set out the required room sizes for: 

 

 HMOs where occupants share a kitchen; 

 HMOs where occupants have exclusive kitchen facilities and share a bathroom (bedsits). 

  

Page 68



HMOs where occupiers share kitchen facilities 

Please follow the table from left to right to identify the space requirements in your HMO. 

Minimum Bedroom 

Sizes 

Total 

Number 

Of           

People 

in  HMO 

Minimum 

Kitchen 

Size 

1 - 2 Storey HMO 

 

Minimum Living space 

 

3+ Storey HMO 

 

Minimum Living/Dining Space 

 

 

1 occupant 6.51 m2 

 

 

Or 

 

 

2 occupants 10.22 m2 

 

 

 

3-5 

people 

 

7m2 

11m2 separate living 

room 

 

Or: 18 m2 combined 

kitchen/living/dining 

room (of which 7m2 

must be dedicated 

kitchen area) 

Either: 11m2 separate living 

room within 

1 floor distance of kitchen; 

 

Or: 18m2 combined 

kitchen/living/dining room (of 

which 7m2 must be dedicated 

to kitchen area). 

 

 

6-10 

people 

 

 

10 m2 

 

14 m2 separate living 

room 

 

 Or: 24 m2 combined 

kitchen/living/dining 

room (of which 10m2 

must be dedicated 

kitchen area) 

Either: 14m2 separate living 

room within 

1 floor distance of kitchen; 

 

Or: 24m2 combined 

kitchen/living/dining room (of 

which 10m2 must be dedicated 

to kitchen area). 

1 occupant 10 m2 

 

Or 

 

2 occupants 15 m2 

 

 

 

3-5 

people 

 

 

7 m2 

 

 

No additional 

communal living 

space required 

Either: 13m2 kitchen/diner; 

 

Or: 11m2 separate dining room 

within 1 floor’s distance of 

kitchen; 

 

unless: all bedrooms within 1 

floor’s 

distance of kitchen 

 

 

6-10 

people 

 

 

10 m2 

 

 

 

No additional 

communal living 

space required 

Either: 16m2 kitchen/diner; 

 

Or: 14m2 separate dining room 

within 

1 floor’s distance of kitchen; 

 

unless: all bedrooms within 1 

floor’s 

distance of kitchen 

 The minimum kitchen area must be provided in all cases. 

 A living room will be accepted as a dining room and vice versa, provided the minimum space 

requirements (given above) are fulfilled 
Page 69



The Licensing  and  Management  of  Houses  in  Multiple  Occupation  and  Other  Houses 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 require kitchens, bathrooms and WCs 

to be of adequate size, as set by this guide. 

 

HMOs with kitchen facilities for the exclusive use of occupants (Bedsits)   

  

1. A bedsit is where sleeping, living and cooking amenities are provided for exclusive use by 

occupants within a single unit of accommodation (i.e. one room).   

  

2. A bedsit can be occupied by a maximum of two cohabiting persons.  

  

3. Room sizes:   

 

 1-person bedroom/sitting room/kitchen must be a minimum of 14 m2  

 

 2-person bedroom/sitting room/kitchen must be a minimum of 18 m2 

  

1 or 2-person self-contained flats contained within a HMO   

  

1.  Where the building is an HMO consisting of or including self-contained flats, the bedrooms           

must meet the minimum sizes of 6.51m2 for one occupant and 10.22 m2 for two occupants if 

used solely for sleeping.   

                                                     

2.  Where no separate living space is provided, 10 m2 for one occupant or 15 m2 for two 

occupants.  

                                               

3.  Where the kitchen is included in the room, 14 m2 for one occupant, 18m2 for two occupants   

 

4.  The kitchen must be fit for purpose (see pages 13, 14, and 16)   

  

 Notes   

  

The measured space in any room must be ‘usable space’. The room should be able  

to accommodate the  required  amount  of  appropriate  furniture  easily  and  still  allow  space  

for free movement about the room.   

 

 
Page 70



Ceiling Height   

  

For the avoidance of risk from Collision and Entrapment Hazards, any floor space that has a 

floor-to-ceiling height of less than 1.5m is disregarded for the purpose of measuring the total 

space in the room. Where the room has a sloping ceiling, at least 50% of the floor area should 

achieve a floor-to-ceiling height of at least 2.1m.   

   

Personal Washing Facilities  

   

Legal requirements 

   

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 set standards for washing facilities as 

below: 

   

1. Bath/showers shall be provided in the ratio of at least one to every five persons sharing.    

 

2. The bathrooms or shower rooms shall be readily accessible and normally not more than one 

floor away from the user. Shared facilities shall be accessible from a common area. Facilities 

must be inside the building.    

 

3. Bathrooms and shower rooms must be of adequate size and be laid out in such a way as to 

enable persons to undress, dry and dress themselves in a safe manner.    

 

4. Each bath, shower and wash hand basin shall be provided a continuous and adequate supply 

of hot and cold running water, designed to ensure reasonable temperature control.    

 

5. Bathrooms and shower rooms must have adequate lighting, heating and ventilation.    

 

6. Bathrooms must be fit for the purpose.    

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 71



Telford & Wrekin Council Requirements   

  

To meet the above requirements of adequate size, layout, and fit for purpose, Telford & Wrekin 

Council has adopted the following standards:    

 

1. Where a child under 10 lives in the property, a bath must be provided.    

 

2. An efficient and safe fixed space-heating appliance that is capable of maintaining each room, 

including kitchens and bathrooms at a minimum temperature of 21ºC when the outside 

temperature is -1ºC must be provided. The fixed space-heating appliance may be an adequate 

central heating system with thermostatic radiator valves (TRVs) or a fixed electrical appliance. 

The heating must be under the control of the occupiers for timings and temperature settings at 

all times. A pre-programmed thermostatic control incorporating an occupier over-ride facility is 

permissible.   

A way of complying would be to provide a suitable set of operating instructions aimed at 

achieving economy in the use of fuel and power in terms that occupants can understand in a 

durable format that can be kept and referred to over the term of the tenancy. The instructions 

should be directly related to the particular system installed.  

 

3. Bathrooms must, in addition to any windows, have mechanical ventilation to the outside air at 

a minimum extraction rate of 15 litres/second in addition to any window(s). The system is to be 

either coupled to the light switch and incorporate a suitable over-run period, or an appropriately 

set humidistat.     

4. A tiled splash-back at least 300mm high or full height adjacent to an over-bath shower must 

be provided to all baths and wash hand basins.    

 

Shower cubicles must have fully tiled walls and be provided with a suitable water-resistant 

curtain or door to the cubicle. Bathrooms and shower rooms must have smooth, impervious wall 

and ceiling surfaces, which can be easily cleaned. The flooring should be capable of being 

easily cleaned and slip resistant. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 72



The following minimum dimensions apply:   

  

Item Dimension 

Wash hand basin                      500mm × 400mm   

 

Splash- back                                              

 

300mm high   

Bath 1700mm × 700mm 

Shower 800mm × 800mm   

 

  

           

Shared bathrooms and shower rooms must be constructed to ensure privacy, be provided with 

an internal locking device to the door, have facilities to hang clothes during bathing and have an 

unrestricted space of at least 1.44m2 (1.2m x 1.2m) to permit users to dry and dress 

themselves.  

 

Sanitary Conveniences: Toilet Facilities    

 

Legal requirements 

 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 set standards for sanitary 

conveniences.    

 

1. Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing facilities there must be one toilet which may 

be situated in the bathroom.    

 

2. Where there are five or more occupiers there must be one separate toilet with wash hand 

basin in the same room for every five sharing occupiers.   

  

3. Toilets are to be provided in bathrooms or separate compartments of an adequate size and 

layout. The rooms shall have smooth, impervious wall and ceiling surfaces, which can be easily 

cleaned. The flooring is to be capable of being easily cleaned and slip resistant.   

  

4. Toilets must be readily accessible and normally not more than one floor away from the user.   

Shared facilities must be accessible from a common area.    Page 73



  

5. A toilet provided in a separate compartment must have a wash hand basin (cloakroom basin 

acceptable where a full-sized washbasin is provided elsewhere) with an appropriate splash-

back.   

 

Telford & Wrekin Council Requirements   

To meet the above requirements of adequate size, layout, and fit for purpose, Telford & Wrekin 

Council has adopted the following standards: 

   

1. Separate toilet compartments should have minimum dimensions of 1300mm ×   

900mm with 750mm in front of the toilet. 

   

2. Each toilet in a separate compartment is required to have a window equivalent to 1/20th of 

the   

floor area  or  mechanical  ventilation  to  the  outside  air  at  a  minimum  extraction  rate  of  

six litres/second. 

  

3. An efficient and safe fixed space-heating appliance that is capable of maintaining each room 

at a minimum temperature of 21ºC when the outside temperature is –1ºC must be provided. The 

fixed space-heating appliance may be an adequate central heating system with thermostatic 

radiator valves (TRVs), or a fixed, hardwired electrical appliance. The heating must be under the 

control of the occupiers for timings and temperature settings. 

     

4. “Jack and Jill” shared facilities, accessible from within two or more rooms are not permitted as 

this would compromise fire separation between the rooms. There would also be concerns 

regarding privacy. 

“A Jack and Jill bathroom is a full-sized bathroom that is sandwiched between two bedrooms 

and is accessible by both bedrooms. This type of bathroom has at least two doors, like an 

ensuite bathroom but for two bedrooms rather than just one”. 

     

5. A wash hand basin/cloak room basin must be provided in the same compartment as the toilet 

    

6. Compartments must be constructed to ensure privacy including provision of an internal 

locking device to the door. 

   

7. Facilities must be accessible from within the building without passing through any poorly 

insulated porch or outbuilding or the open air.    Page 74



Sharing Ratios for Bathrooms and Sanitary Conveniences    

 

Legal requirements    

 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 set standards for the number of 

bathrooms/showers and toilet facilities in HMOs.    

 

1. Where there are four or fewer occupiers sharing facilities there must be one bathroom with 

fixed bath or shower and a toilet (which may be situated in the bathroom).    

 

2.  Where there are five or more occupiers sharing facilities, there must be:    

 

 One separate toilet with washbasin for every five sharing occupiers  

 One bathroom (which may contain a toilet) with a fixed bath or shower for every five       

sharing occupants.  

   

  

Page 75



The information below explains this in more detail: - 

  

Number of people 

irrespective of age 

Facilities required  

If a child under 10 lives in the property a bath must be provided  

1-4 people The minimum provision is: -  

  

 1 bathroom containing toilet, bath or shower and wash hand basin  

5 people The minimum provision is: -  

     

 1 bathroom with a bath or shower and 1 separate toilet with wash 

hand basin.    The toilet may be located in a separate bathroom   

6-10 people The minimum provision is: -  

 

 2 bathrooms each containing a bath or shower plus   

 2 toilets with wash hand basins one of which must be in a separate 

room. 

11-15 people The minimum provision is: -  

  

 3 bathrooms each containing a bath or shower plus   

 3 toilets with wash hand basins one of which must be in a separate 

room  

Bedrooms with  

en-suites 

Where a letting room is provided with a complete en-suite facility 

(bath/shower, toilet and wash hand basin) for the exclusive use of the 

occupant of that room, that occupant will be disregarded when 

considering the required provision of shared sanitary conveniences. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 76



Facilities for Storage, Preparation and Cooking of Food   

 

Shared kitchens 

 

Legal requirement   

  

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 require:    

 

1. A kitchen suitably located in relation to the living accommodation, and of such layout and size 

and equipped with such facilities so as to adequately enable those sharing the facilities to store, 

prepare and cook food.    

 

2. The kitchen must be equipped with the following equipment, which must be fit for the purpose 

and supplied in a sufficient quantity for the number of those sharing the facilities:   

 

(i) Sinks with draining boards    

 

(ii) An adequate supply of cold and constant hot water to each sink supplied    

 

(iii) Installations or equipment for the cooking of food   

  

(iv) Electrical sockets    

 

(v) Worktops for the preparation of food    

 

(vi) Cupboards for the storage of food or kitchen and cooking utensils  

 

(vii) Refrigerators with an adequate freezer compartment (or, where the freezer compartment is 

not adequate, adequate separate freezers)    

 

(viii) Appropriate refuse disposal facilities; and    

 

(ix) Appropriate extractor fans, fire blankets and fire doors. 

  

 
Page 77



Telford & Wrekin Council Requirements    

 

To achieve compliance with the above requirements for adequate size, layout and equipment,   

 Telford & Wrekin Council has adopted the following standards.   

  

1. Location  

  

The kitchen must be contained in the main building and located not more than one floor distant 

from the bedrooms. If this is not practicable in HMOs of not more than three storeys and not 

more than 10 persons, communal kitchens may be provided up to two floors distant from some 

bedrooms.  All kitchen facilities must be available for use 24 hours a day. 

 

2. Layout   

 

 The kitchen layout must be safe, convenient and allow good hygienic practices.   

   

Cookers should be located away from doorways and have enough floor space for items to be 

safely retrieved from the oven. It must be possible to stand directly in front of the cooker and 

sink and to place utensils down on both sides of each.   

 

   

  

Page 78



 

Examples of good and poor kitchen layouts 

 

 

 

 

  

This layout is not 

suitable as 

neither the 

cooker nor the 

sink can be 

practically or 

safely used. 

This layout meets 

the minimum 

requirements as 

there is adequate 

worktop to both 

sides of the cooker 

and suitably 

located extraction. 

The cooker is in 

an unsafe 

location due to 

its proximity to 

the door 

This cooker 

Location meets 

the minimum 

requirements for 

a suitably sited 

cooker with 

sufficient 

worktop to both 

sides of it. 

Page 79



Examples of good and poor kitchen layouts 

 

  

  

Page 80



 

3. Size  

 For three to five residents, kitchens must have a usable floor area of at least 7m2  

 For six to ten residents, kitchens must have a usable floor area of at least 10m2  

 The width of the kitchen must be at least 1.8m to allow safe movement of occupants   

Number of 

Persons  

irrespective of age 

 

Minimum provision of kitchen facilities 

 

3–5 people A complete set of kitchen facilities consisting of the following items must be 

provided for every five persons: 

 

 Sink: A durable and easily cleansable sink, integral drainer and a tiled splash-back,                     

on a base unit. The sink must have constant supplies of hot and cold running water                         

and be properly connected to the drains. The cold water must come directly from                          

the rising water main. It must be possible to stand directly in front of the cooker and                                     

sink and to place utensils down on both sides of each’ 

 

 Cooker: A gas or electric cooker with four ring burners, oven and grill, that are                      

capable of simultaneous use. The cooker is to be located away from doorways with                       

a minimum of 300mm worktop to both sides. The hob may be separate from the                                                        

cooker. 

 

 Electrical sockets: At least three double 13amp electrical power points (in addition 

to those used for fixed appliances, such as washing machines. 

 

 Worktop: A kitchen worktop that is level, secure and impervious. The minimum 

dimensions are 1000mm length and 600mm width. 

 

 Storage: A lockable food storage cupboard for each occupant comprising of a 

500mm wide base unit or a 1000mm wide wall unit. This may alternatively be 

provided within each occupant’s room (The space in the unit beneath the sink and 

drainer or beneath a separate hob is not allowable for food storage. 

 

 Fridge/Freezer: A refrigerator with a minimum capacity of 130 litres plus a freezer 

with a minimum capacity of 60 litres. If not in the kitchen the fridge/freezer must be 

located in a communal space such as a utility room or shared dining room adjacent to 

the kitchen. 

 

 Refuse disposal: A durable and easily cleansable waste bin of at least 50 L capacity 

must be provided. 

 Page 81



 Ventilation: Mechanical ventilation to the outside air at a minimum extraction rate of 

60 litres/second or 30 litres/second if the fan is sited within 300mm of the centre of 

the hob. This is in addition to any windows 

 

 Fire precautions: see fire safety section 

6–7 people   Two complete sets of kitchen facilities as above with a 1500mm x 600mm work surface.  

However, 

 

 a combination microwave (min 32 litre capacity) is acceptable in place of a second 

cooker 

 a dishwasher is acceptable in place of a second sink (e.g. slimline will suffice) 

8 –10 people    

 Two complete sets of kitchen facilities as above with a 2000mm × 600mm work 

surface. 

 

11 or more people    Two or more separate kitchens containing the aggregated equivalent provision 

calculated from the above standards, each kitchen having at least the minimum 

provision for up to 5 people. 

  

Where two sets of kitchen equipment are provided in one kitchen, each set must be sited so that each set of 

facilities, particularly the sink and hob, can be used independently by two people simultaneously and have at 

least 600mm of fixed work surface either side of each hob or sink. Double sinks and eight ring hobs are not 

acceptable alternatives for separate facilities. 

Page 82



 Kitchens for exclusive use within letting rooms   

 

Where each or some of the letting rooms are provided with their own kitchen facilities instead of 

having the use of a communal kitchen the following applies.     

 

Legal requirements    

 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 requires rooms without shared 

amenities to be provided with adequate equipment.   

  

 

Telford & Wrekin Council Requirements    

 

To achieve compliance with the above requirements for adequate size, layout and equipment,   

Telford & Wrekin Council has adopted the following standards.    

 

1. Cooking: A gas or electric cooker with a minimum two-ring hob, oven and grill. This must be a 

conventional oven such as a “Baby Belling” and must be built-in or free standing, not counter- top. A 

microwave oven alone is not sufficient. 

    

2. Storage: A 130 litre refrigerator with freezer compartment plus at least one food storage cupboard 

for each occupant in the bedsit (base units shall be 500mm wide and wall units shall be 1000mm 

wide). The sink base unit cannot be used for food storage. 

   

3. Preparation: Worktop of at least 500mm deep and 1000mm long, comprising a minimum of   

300mm both sides of the cooking appliance to enable utensils and pans to be placed down. All 

worktops must be securely supported, impervious and easy to clean. 

 

4. Electricity: Two double 13-amp power sockets suitably positioned at worktop height for use by 

portable appliances, in addition to sockets used by fixed kitchen appliances, plus two double sockets 

located elsewhere within the bedsit. 

    

5. Washing: A stainless steel sink and integral drainer set on a base unit with constant supplies of hot 

and cold running water. The sink shall be properly connected to the drainage system. The cold water 

shall be direct from the mains supply. A tiled splash-back shall be provided behind the sink and 

drainer. 

    Page 83



6. Ventilation: Mechanical ventilation to the outside air at a minimum extraction rate of 60 

litres/second or 30 litres/second if the fan is sited within 300mm of the centre of the hob. This is in 

addition to any windows. 

    

7. Layout: The same principles of safe layout and design apply in bedsits as for shared kitchens.   

Cookers must not be located near doorways to avoid collisions and to reduce the possibility of a fire on 

the hob trapping an occupant in the room. 

  

Where a  gas  appliance  or  a  solid  fuel  burning  appliance  is  provided  within  a  unit  of 

accommodation, a carbon monoxide detector must also be provided. Kitchenettes with limited facilities 

may be provided as an additional facility in rooms but do not  remove the necessity to provide the 

appropriate level of shared kitchen facilities and the space  taken up including 750mm deep working 

space adjacent to the kitchenette is not counted towards the floor area of the room for space 

standards.   

  

Page 84



Fire Safety    

 

Legal requirement    

 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses   

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 require appropriate fire precaution 

facilities and equipment must be provided of such type, number and location as considered 

necessary.   

  

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 requires all HMOs to have a sufficient risk 

assessment with regard to fire. 

  

The Management Regulations require firefighting equipment and fire alarms to be maintained in 

good working order. 

   

 

 

 Telford & Wrekin Council requirements    

 

The Council will assess the suitability of means of escape and other fire precautions by means of the 

Housing Health & Safety Rating System (HHSRS); but will, in particular, take into account national 

guidance on fire safety standards issued by LACORS, Building Regulations and such other guidance as 

it judges appropriate.  

 

In general, Telford and Wrekin Council consider the necessary fire precaution facilities and 

equipment are detailed in the national guidance: Fire Safety, Guidance on Fire Safety 

Provisions for Certain Types of Existing Housing, published by LACORS, Housing, July 2008 

(ISBN 978-1-840496-38-3). This document contains advice for landlords and fire safety 

enforcement officers in both local housing authorities and fire and rescue authorities on how to 

ensure adequate fire safety. 

 

The requirements expected by the Council will vary according to the observations and findings 

arising from any inspection undertaken and will be based on the advice detailed in the LACORS 

Fire Safety guide and HHSRS. Where premises are occupied in a manner other than that 

intended under the original construction, compliance with the Building Regulations at the time of 

that construction will not necessarily negate the requirement for additional fire safety measures. 

 Page 85



The information below is summarised from the LACORS Fire Safety Guidance document and 

provided minimum expected standards to help landlords understand their responsibilities and 

the fire safety precautions judged necessary for HMOs. 

 

Where a landlord wishes to propose alternatives precautions and the landlord has a fire risk 

assessment, then the Council may consider the landlord to have taken the judgement that there 

are ‘appropriate fire precaution facilities and equipment provided of such type, number and 

location as considered necessary’. However, the Council is not giving approval that the fire risk 

assessment meets the requirements of the Fire Safety Order and/or The Housing Act 2004. 

  

 

 1. Fire Risk Assessment   

 

The licence holder must prepare or commission a Fire Risk Assessment (FRA) in respect of 

every   

HMO. The FRA is an organised and methodical look at the premises, the activities carried on 

there and the likelihood that a fire could start and cause harm to those in and around the 

premises. The aims of the FRA are:   

 

 to identify fire hazards;  

 to reduce the risk of those hazards causing harm to as low as reasonably practicable; and 

 to decide what physical fire precautions and management arrangements are necessary to 

ensure the safety of people in the premises if a fire does start.   

  

Licence holders who feel competent to do so may prepare their own FRA. The use of a suitable 

template such as that available online at: 

https://www.dashservices.org.uk/Media/Default/Docs/FireRisk%20AssessmentForm.pdf  may 

assist in ensuring that attention is given to the appropriate issues.   

  

 

 2. Fire precaution requirements    

 

Although an exhaustive list of likely requirements cannot be given in this document necessary 

measures may include fire doors on high risk rooms, fire separation and automatic fire detection 

systems.  Landlords are required to test and maintain fire alarm and emergency lighting 

systems in accordance with the British Standards.    

 Page 86

https://www.dashservices.org.uk/Media/Default/Docs/FireRisk%20AssessmentForm.pdf


 Grade D fire alarm systems should be tested weekly. All detectors must be cleaned at least 

annually.  Testing and maintenance must be in accordance with the manufacturer’s 

instructions. Landlords can self-certify this has been completed.    

 

 Grade A fire alarm systems should be tested weekly. The system must be inspected and 

serviced at periods not exceeding six months in accordance with the recommendations of 

Clause 45 of BS:5839-1:2013. An inspection and servicing certificate of the type contained 

in H.6 of BS 5839-2013 should be issued by a suitably qualified and competent person.  

 

 Emergency lighting systems should be tested regularly and a full system test and service 

must be completed annually by a competent person in line with BS5266.  

  

1. Fire Extinguishers 

 

The Fire Service discourages the provision of fire extinguishers except in premises with full time 

on-site staff who are trained in their use. The emphasis is on escape from danger rather than 

fighting a fire. If landlords wish to provide extinguishers, then tenants must be trained in use of 

equipment and the landlord must service them annually with a record of date of servicing or 

replacement attached to the equipment.   

  

2. Fire blankets 

 

Fire blankets should be provided in kitchens to enable fires on hobs to be tackled before they 

get out of hand. Where provided they should be prominently mounted on the wall away from the 

hob and advice on their use should be prominently displayed nearby     

  

3. Non-standard layout / Higher risk homes    

 

If the property is of a non-standard layout or if the occupants present a higher risk due to factors 

such as drug/alcohol dependency or limited mobility then the risk may increase and additional 

precautions may need to be taken. This must be factored into your Fire Risk Assessment.   

  

An example of a non-typical layout is ‘inner rooms’ where the bedroom is located such that the 

occupant passes through risk rooms (living rooms, kitchens or dining rooms) in order to reach 

the means of escape. There are various solutions available such as escape windows leading to 

a place of safety or water suppression systems. These should be discussed with a case officer 

before undertaking works.  
Page 87



  

   

1. Examples   

  

The following examples are based on typical properties with a simple layout i.e. where all 

bedrooms lead onto the means of escape (i.e. the landing and hallway) and do not have to pass 

through any other room. These are also based on low risk occupants.    

 

Shared Houses (shared facilities and joint tenancy agreement) 

Shared houses are those rented by an identified group of sharers such as students let on a joint 

contract. They are jointly liable for paying rent and complying with tenancy conditions. The 

following requirements apply. 

  

 

Area 

 

Item 

1–2 

Storey     

HMO 

3 

Storey  

HMO 

4+ 

Storey    

HMO 

 

 

Fire doors   

Doors to kitchens must be 30-minute fire doors with 

intumescent strips and cold smoke seals     

 Bedroom doors must be solid, in good repair with no gaps and 

close fitting (not lightweight “egg-box” types or light paneled 

doors) 

   

Bedroom doors must be 30-minute fire doors with   

intumescent strips but no smoke seals.   

  
 

Fire door to living room with intumescent strips and cold   

smoke seals   

  
 

Doors to any cellars must be 30-minute fire doors with heat 

and smoke seals      

Fire alarm 

system 

Grade D, LD2 interlinked fire alarm system with smoke alarms 

in escape routes at all levels and heat alarm in the kitchen      

Additional interlinked smoke alarms in any cellar 

   

Additional interlinked smoke alarm in living room    
  

Additional interlinked smoke alarms to bedrooms    
 

Fire   

fighting   

equipment   

 

Fire blanket in kitchen   

   

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

X 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 
√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

Page 88



Locks on 

doors 

Final exit doors must have a security lock that can be opened 

from the inside without the use of a removable key. Break 

glass boxes are not acceptable.   

 

   

Where locks are provided to bedroom doors, they must be 

capable of being opened from the inside without the use of a 

removable key. Break glass boxes are not acceptable.   

 

   

Protected 

escape 

Route 

Under stairs cupboards must have a ceiling that is 30   

minutes fire resistant.   

 

   

Cellars must have a ceiling that is 30 minutes fire resistant.   

   

30-minute protected escape route     
 

NOTES 

 

             = Items required                                   = Items not required                    = Best practice 

 

Applicants should be aware that a change in occupancy may require re-assessment of 

the property into a higher risk category, resulting in additional costs for upgrading. 

 

   

Bedsit HMOs (Shared on individual contracts but sharing kitchens facilities) 

 

Bedsits HMOs are those properties that are let on individual contracts with shared kitchen 

facilities, these are higher risk situations. Properties where kitchen facilities are within bedrooms 

are also higher risk. There will be little or no communal living between tenants.   

 

Area Item 1–2 

Storey     

HMO 

3 

Storey  

HMO 

4+ 

Storey    

HMO 

 

Fire doors   Doors to all risk rooms including letting rooms, living/dining 

rooms, kitchens and basements must be 30-minute fire 

doors with intumescent strips, smoke seals and effective 

self-closers   

   

Fire alarm 

system 

Grade D LD2 fire alarm system with smoke detectors in 

escape 

route at all levels and heat alarm in kitchen (interlinked)  

   

Grade A LD2 fire alarm system with smoke detectors in 

escape    

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 
√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

X X 

X √ 
 

√ 
 

X 
√ 
 

Page 89



route at all levels and heat alarm in kitchen (interlinked) 

Additional interlinked smoke alarms in bedrooms (Grade to 

match 

system installed) 

   

Additional interlinked smoke alarms in living room (Grade to 

match system installed)    

Additional interlinked smoke alarms in each unoccupied 

basement or cellar (Grade to match system installed)    

Firefighting 

Equipment 

Fire blanket in kitchen   

    

Locks on 

doors 

Final exit doors must have a security lock that can be   

opened from the inside without the use of a removable key. 

Break glass boxes are not acceptable 

   

Where locks are provided to bedroom doors, they must be 

capable of being opened from the inside without the use of a 

removable key. Break glass boxes are not acceptable.   

 

Protected 

escape 

route   

 

Under-stairs cupboards must have a ceiling that is 30 

minutes fire resistant    

Cellars must have a ceiling that is 30 minutes fire resistant.   

    

30- minute protected escape route direct from all risk rooms 

to a place of ultimate safety without passing   through a 

higher risk area   

   

NOTES 

 

             = Items required                                   = Items not required                         = Best practice 

 

Fire extinguishers are no longer asked for. If landlords wish to provide extinguishers, 

then tenants must be trained in use of equipment and the landlord must service them 

annually. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

√ 
 

X 
√ 
 

Page 90



Bedsit type properties (kitchen facilities within bedrooms) 

 

Properties where kitchen facilities are provided in bedrooms are higher risk due to the increased 

kitchen facilities and lack of interaction between the tenants. These properties require bespoke 

in-room heat and smoke detectors as follows: 

 

 Interlinked heat detectors in every bedroom that has kitchen in it (Grade to match system 

installed) 

 

  Stand-alone smoke alarms in every bedroom that has kitchen in it (mains powered, 

battery back-up) to give early warning to this occupant 

 

 

 

Buildings containing self-contained flats or above or connected with commercial 

premises   

 

These buildings require additional fire precautions. Please contact the Private Sector Housing 

before undertaking works.   

 

      

Inner Rooms   

 

Wherever it is possible, all letting rooms are required to have direct access to a protected route 

leading to a Place of Safety, i.e. the street or public space or a space complying with   

The following diagram.  

 

Page 91



 

 

 

Where it is not practical to provide such access, for instance where the exit from the basement passes 

through a kitchen or shared living room a secondary means of escape must be provided.   

  

 

 Secondary Means of Escape   

  

The secondary means of escape must fully comply with the requirements of Building Regulations 

Approved  

Document B (Fire Safety)  

 

 

Emergency egress windows and external doors   

  

2.8   Any window provided for emergency egress 

purposes and any external door provided for 

escape should comply with the following 

conditions: 

  

a): The window should have an unobstructed 

openable area that is at least 0.33 m2 and at least 

450mm high and 450mm wide (the route through 

the window may be at an angle rather than 

Note 1:   Approved Document K, Protection from 

falling, collision and impact, specifies a minimum 

guarding height of 800mm, except in the case of 

a window in a roof where the bottom of the 

opening may be 600mm above the floor.  

 

Note 2:   Locks (with or without removable keys) 

and                  stays may be fitted to egress windows, 

subject to the stay being fitted with a release 

catch, which may be child resistant. Page 92



straight through). The bottom of the openable 

area should  

 be not more than 1100mm above the floor; and  

 

 

b):  The window or door should enable the person 

escaping to reach a place free from danger from 

fire. This is a matter for judgment in each case, 

but, in general, a courtyard or back garden from 

which there is no exit other than through other 

buildings would have to be at least as deep as the 

dwelling is high to be acceptable. See diagram 

above.  

 

Note 3:   Windows should be designed such that 

they remain in the open position without needing 

to be held by a person making their escape 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Page 93



Basement Rooms   

  

Basement rooms used for letting or communal living spaces within HMOs present particular 

difficulties in respect of: -   

 

 Fire safety   

 Room heights   

 Natural lighting   

 Ventilation   

 Freedom from damp 

   

Fire Safety    

 

Wherever practical, the exit route from a basement letting room should be direct to a protected 

route communicating directly to the final exit (usually the front door) to a place of safety, i.e. the 

street or public space or a confined space complying with the following diagram.   

  

 

    

Where it is not practical to provide such access, for instance where the exit from the basement passes 

through a kitchen or shared living room a secondary means of escape must be provided.  

  

 

 

 

 Page 94



Secondary Means of Escape   

  

The secondary means of escape must fully comply with the requirements of Building Regulations 

Approved  

Document B (Fire Safety)  

  

Emergency egress windows and external doors 

   

2.8   Any window provided for emergency egress 

purposes and any external door provided for 

escape should comply with the following 

conditions: 

  

a): The window should have an unobstructed 

openable area that is at least 0.33 m2 and at least 

450mm high and 450mm wide (the route through 

the window may be at an angle rather than 

straight through). The bottom of the openable 

area should  

 be not more than 1100mm above the floor; and  

 

Note 1:   Approved Document K, Protection from 

falling, collision and impact, specifies a minimum 

guarding height of 800mm, except in the case of 

a window in a roof where the bottom of the 

opening may be 600mm above the floor.  

 

Note 2:   Locks (with or without removable keys) 

and                  stays may be fitted to egress windows, 

subject to the stay being fitted with a release 

catch, which may be child resistant. 

 

b):  The window or door should enable the person 

escaping to reach a place free from danger from 

fire. This is a matter for judgment in each case, 

but, in general, a courtyard or back garden from 

which there is no exit other than through other 

buildings would have to be at least as deep as the 

dwelling is high to be acceptable. See diagram 

above.  

 

Note 3:   Windows should be designed such that 

they remain in the open position without needing 

to be held by a person making their escape 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



Of particular importance in the case of basements is the height of the cill (not more than 1100mm 

above floor level.) This does not permit the use of permanent or semi-permanent ladder type 

arrangements and access to the window must be unobstructed internally and externally.   

 

Where the window gives access to a light well, there must be an easily negotiated staircase access to 

ground level, including all necessary handrails and guarding, leading to a place of safety as above.   

 

The door at the head of the basement staircase giving access to the kitchen or living room should be 

provided with a fire-resistant glazed vision panel to permit the occupant to establish whether the primary 

escape route is safe to use.                                                                                              

 

Where none of these options are available, consideration will be given to the provision of fire 

suppression systems covering the whole of the escape route from the basement room.   

 

As elsewhere in the premises the ceiling and any walls separating the rooms from other parts of the 

HMO must have half-hour fire protection. Especial attention needs to be given to the ceiling and walls of 

the staircase. The entrance to the room must, in all cases, be provided with a half-hour fire door with 

intumescent strips, cold smoke seals and automatic closer.   

 

Room Height 

   

The finished room height must be not less than 2.1 m over at least 50% of the required floor space of the 

room. No floor area with a height of under 1.5 m will be counted towards the usable floor space of the 

room.   

 

Natural Lighting 

   

As with any habitable room, the area of natural lighting provided must be equal to at least 1/10th of the 

floor area of the room and must be of appropriate shape and position to allow for reasonable daylight 

penetration throughout the room. There should be sufficient natural light during daylight hours to enable 

normal domestic tasks to be carried out without eyestrain.   

  

It is particularly difficult to meet this requirement where the property abuts directly onto the footpath and 

the window depends on the provision of a bulkhead in the ceiling encroaching on the room above. It is 

necessary for the bulkhead to have sufficient depth to not interfere with the light distribution, but 

consideration must be given to the effect on the floor area and space in the room above. 

   

Artificial lighting must be sufficient for the normal use of the room outside daylight hours and on dull days 

but will not be considered a viable alternative to adequate natural lighting.   

 Page 96



  

Ventilation   

 

Sufficient ventilation, preferably by natural means must be provided to ensure that the room is not unduly 

affected by excess heat during summer months and also to assist in ensuring that basement rooms are 

not affected adversely from dampness connected with condensation. Generally, an opening window of at 

least 1/20th of the floor area of the room is considered sufficient. Trickle ventilation should also be 

provided to permit background ventilation without compromising security when the room is unoccupied 

or at night time, especially considering that such rooms often abut the public footpath. Artificial ventilation 

or air conditioning may be considered appropriate to provide in addition to natural means.   

 

Freedom from damp   

 

Particular attention needs to be given to the prevention of penetrating and rising dampness in basement 

rooms. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  Page 97



Attic Rooms   

  

Attic rooms require additional attention to ensure that they meet HMO standards. In particular in 

respect of access, room heights, fire safety and space.   

  

 Access and Fire Safety   

 

Steep, narrow and winding staircases, which may be acceptable in a family home giving access 

to a single bedroom, are seldom suitable for a letting room in an HMO where the occupant has 

only the one space to store all their possessions and is more likely than in a single-family home 

to require to evacuate their room in an emergency. Staircases giving access to attic letting 

rooms should be of equal dimensions to those provided for access to the main floors and where 

not suitable may lead to the relevant rooms being excluded from an HMO licence. Doors should 

not open over a staircase or be located directly adjacent to the top step without an intervening 

landing.   

  

 Room Height and Floor Space   

 

For the avoidance of risk from Collision and Entrapment Hazard, any floor space that has a 

ceiling height of less than 1.5m is disregarded for the purpose of measuring the total space in 

the room. Where the room has a sloping ceiling, at least 50% of the floor area should achieve a 

floor-to-ceiling height of at least 2.1m” 

   

Windows  

  

As with other rooms, the window(s) must be not less than 1/10th of the floor area of the room 

and an opening portion of at least 1/20th of the floor area to allow both adequate lighting and 

adequate natural ventilation.   

      

Windows in attic or second floor rooms should meet the requirements of Building Regulations   

Approved Document B (see above) regardless of whether they are inner rooms or have direct 

access to the primary means of escape. 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 98



Catered Hostel Accommodation 

 

In the case of hostels providing supported or emergency accommodation the level of kitchen 

facilities required may be relaxed at the discretion of the Council to take account of the level of 

catering provided and to permit the accommodation of family groups in suitable rooms. 

 

In all cases where three main meals are provided daily, one set of kitchen facilities will be 

required for every 5 households or 10 occupants, accessible at all times to all occupants (or a 

kitchenette consisting of sink and drainer, 1000mm work surface, 500mm food storage 

cupboard refrigerator and microwave oven in each room). 

 

Family rooms will be permitted as follows: - 

 

Room Size  Adults Children under 10 

Minimum 15 sq. m 2 0 

1 2 

17.5 – 20 sq. m 2 1 

1 3 

20-22.5 sq. m 2 2 

1 4 

22.5-25 sq. m 2 3 

1 5 

 

Plus an additional 2 sq. m where a kitchenette is provided in the room. 

 

At least one bath (rather than shower), in a reasonably accessible location, must be provided for 

every 5 children likely to be accommodated. 

 

Gas and Electricity Supplies   

   

Location of gas and electricity meters and control equipment   

 

Other than “smart meters”, gas and electricity meters and associated isolating switches, valves 

and consumer units must always be located within communal parts of the HMO so as to be 

accessible to all occupiers at all times. Under no circumstances will they be permitted to be 

located within a letting room.   Page 99



  

 Pre-payment Meters   

 

Where lettings are on an inclusive basis, where gas and electricity are supplied by the landlord, 

the use of pre-payment meters is discouraged, but where they are used, there must be a robust 

arrangement in place to ensure that the supplies of gas and electricity are maintained at all 

times without requiring tenants to contact the landlord to arrange for the “topping up” of meters. 

The gas and electricity should be in the control of the occupant.  

  

  Re-sale of gas and electricity to tenants   

 

The practice of charging tenants separately for their use of gas and electricity, usually through 

the use of individual meters is not encouraged, but where it does occur is restricted to the 

maximum resale price.  

  

What is maximum Resale Price 

The maximum resale price is the most that 

anyone can charge for resupplying gas or 

electricity which has already been bought from an 

authorised supplier. It is set by Ofgem.  

 

Anyone who charges more than the maximum 

resale price may face civil proceedings for the 

recovery or the amount overcharged and may be 

required to pay  

interest on amounts overcharged 

 

From 1st January 2013 the maximum price  

at which gas or electricity may be resold is the 

same price as that paid by the person who is 

reselling it (“the reseller”), including any standing 

charges 

 

 

  

 Further advice regarding resale of gas and electricity is available on Ofgen website at   

 

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/ofgem-publications/74486/11782-resaleupdateoct05.pdf    

  

 

 

 
Page 100

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/ofgem-publications/74486/11782-resaleupdateoct05.pdf


 

Management   

  

Legal requirement   

  

 

There are management regulations that apply to all HMOs.   

  

 

The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 apply to all HMOs 

except those consisting entirely of self-contained flats. For HMOs consisting of self-contained flats, then 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Additional Provisions)   

(England) Regulations 2007 apply.   

 

The Regulations can be accessed in full at www.legislation.gov.uk. Under both sets of Regulations the 

person in control of or managing the HMO has a number of duties:   

  

 Provision and display of the manager’s contact information to the occupiers 

 

 Maintenance of common parts, fixtures, fittings and appliances   

 

 Maintenance of living accommodation   

 

 Safety measures, including fire safety   

 

 Supply and maintenance of gas and electricity   

 

 Maintenance of water supply and drainage   

 

 Provision of waste disposal facilities.   

 

  

Occupiers of HMOs have a duty to ensure that they take reasonable care to avoid damage and disrepair 

to the property, and do not act in such a way as to obstruct the manager in complying with any 

Management Regulation.   

  

It is an offence to fail to comply with Management Regulations. Telford & Wrekin Council 

can prosecute or issue a civil penalty of up to £30,000 per offence when landlords or Page 101



agents do not comply with the Regulations. If found guilty, on summary conviction the 

Court can impose an unlimited fine per breach.   

 

Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)   

  

 Legal requirements   

  

The HHSRS is the legislation giving minimum standards for all homes, regardless of tenure. It is 

a risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and protect against potential risks 

and hazards to health and safety from any deficiencies identified in dwellings.   

  

The HHSRS system applies to all HMOs in addition to the regulations regarding licensing, 

standards and management.   

  

The HHSRS identifies 29 hazards, however, the most common are as follows:   

  

 Damp and Mould Growth   

  

Houses should be warm, dry and well-ventilated, maintained free from rising, penetrating and 

persistent condensation and there should be adequate provision for the safe removal of 

moisture-laden air to prevent damp and mould growth. 

Preventive measures and the ideal 

There should be within the HMO space for a washing machine with an appropriate power socket 

adjacent. There should also be clothes drying facilities, preferably both outside and internally. 

Internal provision can consist of a cabinet with a means of heating at low level. Alternatively, 

there should be space for the installation of a clothes drier with a connection for the vent outlet 

and an appropriate power socket adjacent. 

   

 Excess cold   

  

Houses should be adequately insulated to prevent excessive heat loss; in particular, roof 

spaces should be properly insulated and windows and doors draught proofed. The property 

should have an efficient heating system capable of maintaining temperature.   

  

Entry by intruders   

  
Page 102



Houses should be capable of being secured to deter against unauthorised entry. Windows and 

doors should be robust and fitted with adequate security. Externally, the curtilage of the property 

should be restricted and be properly gated. Sheds or outbuildings should be maintained in good 

order and made secure.   

  

Lighting   

  

All habitable rooms should have an adequate level of natural lighting. Where practicable, all 

staircases, landings, passages, kitchens, bathrooms and toilets should be provided, with a 

window.   

All rooms and circulations areas within the property should have provision for electric lighting.   

  

Electrical hazards   

  

The electrical installation should be maintained in a safe condition. There is a legal requirement 

for the electrical installations in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) to be inspected every 

five years. Electrical installations must be inspected by a competent person. 

    

  Flames, hot surfaces etc.   

  

Heating and cooking appliances should all be maintained in a safe condition and be suitably 

located so as not to become unreasonably hazardous. Cooking appliances should be set on an 

even surface and heating appliances securely fixed with a suitable position within the room.   

  

Falls   

  

Externally, paths  and  walkways  should  be  even,  be  properly  drained  and  steps  should  

be maintained in good condition and be free from disrepair. Internally, floors should be even and 

comprise a non-slip finish and be maintained in a good condition. Stairs should be maintained in 

good condition and be free from disrepair. Stair coverings should be properly and securely fitted 

and should not be worn or loose. A securely fixed handrail should be provided the full length of 

the stairway. Balconies and basement light wells should have securely fixed guarding.   

  

Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage   

  

Bathroom and kitchen, surface finishes should be capable of being readily cleaned. The 

external of the property should be free from disrepair and free from access by pests, such as 

rats and mice.   
Page 103



There should also be suitable provision for the storage of domestic waste inside and adequate 

receptacles outside the property.   

 

Water supply   

  

An adequate supply of cold potable drinking water should be available from the kitchen sink. All 

pipework should be adequately protected from frost damage.   

  

Planning   

Legal requirement   

  

 HMOs with seven or more occupiers require planning permission and owners and managers 

are recommended to contact the Planning Service to clarify the planning status of the property.  

 

Planning permission controls the number of HMOs in a defined area. Further information may 

be obtained from planning department. 

 

Planning permission may need to be obtained before the property is occupied as an HMO. 

Planning permission stays with the property. Once obtained, there is no requirement to reapply 

for planning permission unless the house falls back into C3 (family) use or the permission was 

not enacted within the timeframe given. 

 

HMO Licensing is to ensure the property meets minimum standards and is not over-crowded 

and the property is well managed. A licence is granted to a named person for a specific period 

of time and must be renewed on expiry. 

 

Grant of one does not give tacit consent for the other.  

  

 For further information contact Planning Enquiries at 

By telephone at     01952 380380 

By e mail at           planning.control@telford.gov.uk 

Online at                https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning   

 

 

 Page 104

mailto:planning.control@telford.gov.uk
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20170/planning


Building Control   

  

The Building Act 1984 and associated regulations, require ‘building work’ to be in accordance 

with the Building Regulations. 

 

You must check if you need approval before you construct or change buildings in certain ways. 

The owner of the building will be at fault if approval has not been given and may be served with 

an enforcement notice for non-compliance. 

 

Generally if you are planning to carry out 'building work' as defined in regulation 3 of the building 

regulations, then it must comply with the building regulations.  

 

For further information contact Telford & Wrekin Council Building Control:   

 

By email           building.control@telford.gov.uk 

By telephone:  01952 384555 

 Online at         https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20171/building_control  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105

mailto:building.control@telford.gov.uk
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20171/building_control


 

Recycling and Waste Management   

  

 Legal requirement   

  

The Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 require 

landlords to provide adequate bins for the storage of refuse, having regard to the disposal 

services provided by the Local Authority. These Regulations also require landlords to make 

arrangements for the disposal and storage of waste, as necessary, to comply with the service 

provided by the local authority. 

 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) Regulations 2006 SI 373 require ‘appropriate refuse 

disposal facilities’ for HMOs. 

 

The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) 

Regulations 2018 require licences under Part 2 must include conditions requiring the licence 

holder to comply with any scheme which is provided by the local housing authority to the licence 

holder and which relates to the storage and disposal of household waste at the HMO pending 

collection.  

 

For further information contact waste and recycling at:-   

 

Online at:            https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/1003/bins_and_recycling  

Email:   recyclefortelford@telford.gov.uk  

Telephone:   01952 384384 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 106

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/1003/bins_and_recycling
mailto:recyclefortelford@telford.gov.uk


 Applying for a HMO Licence   

  

To make a valid HMO licence application you must:   

 

1. Fully complete the application form    

 

2. Sign and return the declaration    

 

3. Pay the licence fee  

 

4. Submit the application form and all required documentation    

 

 Documents should be submitted in PDF format and photographs placed in a word document 

and then sent as PDF document.  

 

Once an application is valid, we will process the application, which may, at the Council’s 

discretion require an inspection of the HMO and then forward a copy of a notice of intention to 

issue an HMO licence to the proposed licence holder and all interested parties including any 

other owners of the property, proposed manager and any mortgagee or leaseholder as relevant  

 

There is a two-week consultation period before the final licence or ‘Decision Notice’ is issued.  

If you disagree with any conditions on the licence you can make representation against the 

condition.   

 

Any representations received will be reviewed and we may amend the licence as requested or 

reject the representation.  

  

The actual licence is then issued. You have the right of appeal to the First Tier Tribunal 

(formerly   

Residential Property Tribunal) against conditions on the licence. This must be done within 28 

days of the date of issues of the Licence.   

 

An initial HMO licence is normally valid for a period of five years from when it is considered duly 

made or when it becomes operative if the application is made in advance of the property being 

first used as a HMO. It should be noted, once issued the licence is not transferable. 

  
Page 107



You must renew your licence before the current licence expires. A valid renewal requires timely 

submission of the renewal application form, usually at least 28 days prior to the expiry date of 

the previous licence, signed declaration and fee payment. A renewal licence is usually valid for 

five years from the expiry date of the old licence. 

 

Renewals received after licence expiry will be rejected and you will be required to submit a full 

new application and pay a higher fee. 

   

Other information on the HMO Licensing process, standards and which houses require a licence 

can be found on the Telford & Wrekin Council website:  https://www.telford.gov.uk/site/  

  

 

 

Page 108

https://www.telford.gov.uk/site/


 
 

Property Licence    
 

For a House in Multiple Occupation under  
Section 64 of the Housing Act 2004 

 
I hereby certify that the house in multiple occupation situated at:  
 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
has been licensed by Telford & Wrekin Council (“The Authority”) subject to the conditions attached 
 
The Authority has decided that the house is reasonably suitable for occupation by not more than 

the maximum of Click or tap here to enter text.households and Click or tap here to 
enter text.persons. 

 

This Licence is granted this Click or tap to enter a date.and comes into force on Click or tap 
to enter a date.and will remain in effect until Click or tap to enter a date.unless previously 

revoked. 
 
Ref No: Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Date:    Click or tap to enter a date. 
 
Signed:      Click or tap here to sign 
 
Designation:    Private Sector Housing Manager 

 

A copy of this licence must be displayed in a prominent and accessible position within the 
above property at all times. 
 
Please note: This licence is non-transferable and does not guarantee that the property has been 
inspected and approved as being of an acceptable standard. 
   
If you have any queries or complaints about the standard of the property please contact:  
Private Sector Housing, Telford & Wrekin Council, Darby House, Lawn Central, Telford, 
Shropshire, TF3 4JA. 
 
Phone - 01952 381818                                      e-mail - PrivateSectorHousing@telford.gov.uk  
 

The licence holder is:  
 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

 
 

 
   

See next pages for notes and conditions attached to the licence Page 109

mailto:PrivateSectorHousing@telford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Licence Conditions 

Schedule 1 
 
Re:         Address, xxxx  
Ref No:  XXXXXXXHMO 
 
Any failure to comply with these conditions may render the Licence Holder 
liable to prosecution and an unlimited fine upon conviction or a financial 
penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution. Under the Housing 
Act 2004, Section 70(2)(a), the licence may also be revoked. 
 
Further information is provided in the ‘guidance and notes’ section about the 
licence conditions. 
 
1. Occupation – Number of Occupiers 
 
1.1 The maximum number of households allowed to occupy the property is X, and 

the maximum number of persons allowed to occupy the property is X. 
 

Floor Location Room No Sleeping for 
(no. of persons) 

Number of 
households 

Ground Rear Left 1 1 1 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

Total X X 
Note: the terms “left” and “right” are assigned facing the house from the front elevation 

 
Room ‘x’ indicated above as permitted for occupancy by ‘x’ persons is below 
the minimum permitted size as defined in regulation 2 of The Licensing of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) 
Regulations 2018 and is therefore permitted for that use only during the 
period of the current tenancy by NAME or for a maximum of twelve months 
from the date of issue of the licence, whichever is the shortest.  
 
Where any room is indicated with a permitted occupancy of 0, due to either 
inadequate size of the room or insufficiency of amenities, arrangements must 
be made by the licence holder to ensure that those rooms are not used for 
sleeping either with or without the licence holder’s knowledge or agreement. 
The nature of those arrangements must be notified in writing to the Council 
within twenty-eight days of the date of issue of the licence. 
 
 

Page 111



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

2 

 
NOTE 
The permitted numbers above have been deemed acceptable despite some 
room sizes being lower than the Council’s guidelines, having taken into 
consideration the overall occupancy and provision of amenities. 
 
Common areas are not to be used for sleeping purposes either by tenants or 
their guests. 

 
 
1.2 There shall be no obligatory sharing. 

 
1.3 A list of all occupants is to be provided to an authorised officer of the Council, 

on demand. 
 

1.4 A reference to a number of persons using a room in the HMO as sleeping 
accommodation does not include a person doing so as a visitor of an occupier 
of the HMO.  

 
1.5 A household is either a single person or members of the same family who live 

together. A family includes people who are married or co-habiting, relatives or 
half-relatives, step-parents and step-children. 
 
 
 

1.4    Minimum Room Sizes 
 

1.4.1 The licence holder of the licensed HMO is required at all times: -  
 
a) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping 

accommodation by one person aged over 10 years is not less than 6.51 square 
metres; 

b) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping 
accommodation by two persons aged over 10 years is not less than 10.22 
square metres; 

c) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping 
accommodation by one person aged under 10 years is not less than 4.64 
square metres; 

d) to ensure that any room in the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square 
metres is not used as sleeping accommodation. 

 
1.4.2  The licence holder of the licensed HMO is required at all times: -  

 
e) to ensure where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by 

persons aged over 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than the 
maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the licence; 

f) to ensure where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by 
persons aged under 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than the 
maximum number of persons aged under 10 years specified in the licence; 

g) to ensure any room in the HMO used as sleeping accommodation by persons 
aged over 10 years and persons aged under 10 years, is not used as such by 

Page 112



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

3 

more than the maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the 
licence and the maximum number of persons aged under 10 years so specified. 

 
 

1.4.3 The licence holder is required to notify the local housing authority of any room 
in the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square metres 

 
 

1.4.4 For the purposes of this licence a room is used as sleeping accommodation if 
it is normally used as a bedroom, whether or not it is also used for other 
purposes.  
 
 

1.4.5 Any part of the floor area of a room in relation to which the height of the ceiling 
is less than 1.5 metres is not to be taken into account in determining the floor 
area of that room for the purposes of this licence.  
 

 
2 Gas Safety and carbon monoxide 

2.1 If gas is supplied to the house, the licence holder shall ensure that the Gas 
Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998, or any Regulations which 
subsequently replace these, are complied with.  

 
2.2 In particular the licence holder shall ensure that an annual safety check is 

carried out by a Gas Safe registered engineer on each gas appliance/flue in the 
house. 

 
2.3 The licence holder shall supply to an authorised officer of the Council on 

demand a copy of the current, valid certificate.  
 

2.4 A copy of the current, valid certificate must be clearly displayed in a prominent 
position within the communal parts of the property. 
 

2.5 The licence holder is to ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any 
room in the house which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and 
contains a solid fuel combustion appliance. A ‘room’ includes a hall or landing 
and ‘living accommodation’ includes a bathroom or toilet. 
 

2.6 The licence holder must keep all alarms in proper working order and supply the 
Council upon demand, with a declaration as to the condition and positioning of 
any such alarm. 
 
 

 
3 Smoke Alarms / Fire Detection Systems 

3.1 The licence holder must ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey 

of the house on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living 

accommodation. 

 

Page 113



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

4 

3.2 The licence holder must keep all alarms in proper working order and supply the 

Council upon demand, with a declaration by him or her as to the condition and 

positioning of any such alarm. 

 
3.3 The licence holder must ensure that the fire alarm system is tested at least 

annually and submit to the Council upon demand a certificate/declaration to 
confirm the fire alarm system in the property has been tested and maintained in 
accordance with the provisions of British Standard BS 5839-6:2019. The 
certificate/declaration must be not more than one year old. 
 

3.4 If the property has a ‘Grade A’ fire alarm system (typically larger alarm systems 

with a control panel) the licence holder must ensure that the system is tested 

weekly, and inspected and serviced at periods not exceeding six months by a 

suitably qualified and competent person. An inspection and servicing certificate 

in accordance with BS 5839 – 1:2019 must be obtained biannually and sent to 

the Council upon demand. 

 
3.5 If the property has a ‘Grade D1/D2’ fire alarm system, the licence holder must 

ensure that all alarms are tested monthly and maintained in accordance with the 

manufacturer’s instructions. A self-declaration or an inspection/servicing 

certificate is acceptable for Grade D systems and is to be sent to the Council 

upon demand. 

 
3.6 A competent person is a person who is familiar with all British Standards relating 

to automatic detection systems and is registered with one of the bodies 

approved by the Government’s Competent Persons Scheme.  

 
 
4 Emergency Escape Lighting  

4.1 The licence holder shall ensure that where emergency lighting is installed it is 

inspected, tested and serviced in accordance with BS 5266. 

4.2 Throughout the period of the licence, the emergency lighting installation must 
be inspected and serviced by a competent person at least annually and a 
certificate provided in the format recommended by BS 5266.The certificate must 
be sent to the Council upon demand. 

4.3 The above-mentioned checks shall be carried out by a competent person who 

is familiar with all British Standards relating to emergency escape lighting 

systems, who regularly inspects emergency escape lighting systems, who is 

qualified to inspect emergency escape lighting systems and is registered with 

one of the bodies approved by the Government’s Competent Persons Scheme. 

4.4 Fire Risk assessment 

4.4.1 The licence holder must ensure that a suitable and sufficient fire risk 

assessment which meets all the requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire 

Page 114

http://www.competentperson.co.uk/existing-competent-person-schemes.aspx


Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

5 

Safety) Order 2005 has been undertaken before the property is let. This must 

be reviewed regularly. 

4.4.2 A copy of the fire risk assessment must be provided to the Council on demand. 

 
5 Safety of Electrical Installations 
 
5.1 The licence holder shall ensure that the electrical installation in the house is at 

all times kept safe and in proper working order. 
 
5.2 The licence holder shall ensure that periodic inspection and testing of the 

electrical installation in the house is undertaken in accordance with BS 7671, or 
any superseding British Standard, at intervals of no more than five years or 
lesser period if indicated on the previous periodic inspection report.  

 
5.3 The licence holder shall supply to an authorised officer of the Council, on 

demand, the latest electrical installation condition report (EICR) in the format 
recommended in BS 7671. This report must be a periodic condition report – a 
visual condition report is not sufficient. 

 
5.4 The licence holder shall ensure that this report is issued by a competent person 

who regularly inspects domestic electrical installation systems, who is qualified 
to inspect domestic electrical installation systems and is registered with one of 
the bodies approved by the Government’s Competent Persons Scheme. 

 
 
6 Safety of Electrical Appliances 

 
6.1 The licence holder shall ensure that electrical appliances made available in the 

house by them are kept in a safe condition and proper working order at all times. 

 
6.2 The licence holder shall ensure that all electrical appliances made available in 

the house by them are inspected visually for defects, such as frayed wiring, 

badly fitting plugs, at the beginning of each occupancy, regularly thereafter and 

as a minimum every two years. 

 
6.3 The licence holder shall ensure that earthed equipment (class 1) such as kettles 

and irons and the associated leads and plugs made available by them, are 

tested at the point of supply and at least every two years thereafter – more often 

if deemed necessary by a risk assessment undertaken by the licence holder.  

This test shall be undertaken by a person competent in the use of the testing 

equipment and who has the appropriate electrical knowledge and training, such 

as a competent electrician or competent other person in possession of a City 

and Guilds Certificate 2377. 

 
6.4 The licence holder shall ensure that as soon as any electrical appliance is 

identified as being unsafe, it shall be removed from the house immediately. 

 

Page 115

http://www.competentperson.co.uk/existing-competent-person-schemes.aspx


Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

6 

6.5 The licence holder shall ensure that a record of visual inspections and tests is 

maintained.  

 
6.6 The licence holder shall submit to an authorised officer of the Council on 

demand, the record of visual inspections and tests within 14 days. 

 
 

7 Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) 

7.1 The licence holder shall ensure that the Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) 

Regulations 1988, or any superseding Regulations, in respect of any 

upholstered furniture supplied by them, including chairs, sofas, children’s 

furniture, beds, upholstered head boards, mattresses, scatter cushions, seat 

pads, pillows and upholstered garden furniture are complied with. 

 
7.2 The licence holder shall ensure that the furniture made available by them is kept 

in a safe condition at all times. 

 
7.3 The licence holder shall supply to an authorised officer of the Council on 

demand, a declaration as to the safety of such furniture. 

 
8.       Tenancy management 

8.1     The licence holder shall supply to the occupiers a written statement of the terms 

on which they occupy the property. This must be provided at the start of the 

tenancy. 

8.2      The licence holder shall supply to the Council upon demand, a copy of the written 

statement. 

8.3     The licence holder and /or their nominated representative must be a permanent 

UK resident. 

8.4     From the outset of the licence term, the licence holder is required to provide an 

alternative suitable emergency contact and other management arrangements in 

the event of their temporary/short term absence. Details of the temporary contact 

arrangements must be provided in writing to all tenants and to the Council. 

8.5     The temporary cover arrangements must comply with the fit and proper person 

requirements as stated in the licence conditions and Section 66 and/or 89 of the 

Housing Act 2004. 

8.6      The licence holder must ensure that all tenants have the right to reside in the UK 

and must undertake all necessary ‘Right to Rent’ checks in accordance with the 

Immigration Act 2014 and National Guidance. 

8.7    Each tenant must be provided with a copy of the “How to Rent Guide” and 

associated documentation referred to therein which is applicable to each specific 

Page 116



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

7 

rental agreement. Evidence must be supplied to the local housing authority on 

demand to confirm that the “How to Rent Guide” has been provided to each 

tenant at the start of their tenancy. 

 

8.8 Unless a tenant pays rent via direct debit or similar bank transfer, the tenant must 
be supplied with a receipt upon payment of rent which details the amount paid, 
the date of payment and the recipient of the payment, whether this is the 
manager, licence holder, agent or other relevant party. The receipt must be 
provided at the time the payment is made and retained for production to the 
Council upon request. 

 
9.       Changes to the Licensed Property and/or Licence Holder 

 

9.1 The Licence Holder will be required to notify the Council of any intended 

alterations or changes in the use and occupancy levels of each room, which may 

affect the licence form or conditions attached to the licence. The Licence Holder 

will be required to inform the Council immediately of any material change of 

circumstance affecting the Licence Holder or the operation of the property. 

 

9.2 The Licence Holder must inform the Council if they no longer reside at the 

address given in their licence application and must provide the Council with their 

new address within 21 days. 

 

9.3 The Licence Holder must inform the Council if there is a change in managing 

agent, within 21 days of such a change. 

 
9.4 If the Licence Holder is a managing agent they must inform the Council if the 

person who is specified as the main contact ceases to be employed by them and 

must inform the Council of a new contact, within 21 days of such a change.  

 
9.5 If the Licence Holder is a managing agent they must inform the Council if they 

cease to have an interest in the property, within 21 days of such a change. 

 
9.6 Where the property is sold and the owner is the licence holder, the licence holder 

must inform the Council and must request that the HMO licence is revoked. 

Licences cannot be transferred. 

 
 

10. Fit and Proper Person 

 

10.1 The Licence Holder must inform the Authority if since becoming the Licence 

Holder he or she contravenes any of the sections 9.3 (a)-(d).  This must be done 

within 21 days of such a contravention. 

 

Page 117



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

8 

10.2 The Licence Holder must inform the Authority if the person managing the 

property contravenes any of the sections 10.3 (a to d) below within 21 days of 

such contravention taking place. 

 

10.3 a.  Committed an offence involving: 

 Fraud 

 Dishonesty 

 Violence 

 Drugs 

 Any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003 

 

b. Practised unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or 

national origins or disability in or in connection with the carrying on of any 

business 

 

c. Contravened any provision of the law relating to Housing or Landlord and 

Tenant Law.  

In particular: 

 Subject to proceedings by a Local Authority 

 Where the Local Authority has had to carry out works in default 

 Subject to a Management Order under the Housing Act 2004 

 Or have previously been refused a licence or breached conditions of         

a licence 

 

d. Acted in contravention of any Approved Code of Practice (AcoP). 

 

 

11. Waste disposal and refuse 

 

11.1 Suitable and adequate provision must be made for the storage and collection 
of refuse and waste generated from the property. Only designated receptacles 
for waste and recycling which are provided by the approved waste carrier can 
be used. Where waste levels indicate that the existing provision of receptacles 
is inadequate for the current number of occupiers at the property, the licence 
holder, and / or their representative, must obtain additional waste receptacles 
at their own expense and ensure that collections of the waste are undertaken 
from the property. 
 
 

11.2 At the beginning of each new tenancy the licence holder will inform tenants in 
writing of proper refuse management. This must include information covering 
the usual days of refuse and recycling collection, contact details for refuse / 
bulky item collections undertaken by Borough of Telford and Wrekin or other 
waste collection services. The licence holder must retain a copy of the 
information provided to each tenant, signed by the tenant acknowledging 
receipt and must produce this upon request to the local housing authority. 
 

Page 118



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

9 

11.3 The licence holder must ensure that the waste receptacles are ready for 
collection at the stated time and place and are brought back into the refuse 
storage area following collection. 
 

11.4 The licence holder must ensure that at the end of each tenancy, any rubbish or 
unwanted household goods left behind are removed and disposed of 
appropriately before the start of the next tenancy. In particular any rubbish or 
goods left at the front or back garden or the pavement in front of the property 
should be removed. 
 
 

11.5 The licence holder, is responsible for ensuring that the property including all 
gardens, yards, external areas including storage areas are kept clean, free from 
accumulations of waste, rubbish, fly-tipping and pest infestations. The licence 
holder must arrange, undertake and pay for any clearance, treatment, baiting 
or other necessary works to comply with this. 

 
11.6 Where waste items are removed from the property, other than through kerb side 

collections by the local waste authority, the licence holder must ensure that the 
waste is disposed of in accordance with current legal requirements. 

 
11.7 All tenants, must be able to access, at all times, all external areas of the property 

including the front and rear garden, yard areas, external refuse storage areas 
and any other area within the curtilage of the property boundary. There must be 
ground floor access to all aforementioned areas from the inside of the property. 
It will not be permitted for such access to be granted through a room occupied 
exclusively by another tenant. 

 
 

12. Harassment and Illegal Eviction 

 

12.1 The licence holder must ensure that any evictions are carried out under the 

provisions of the current legislation. 

 

12.2 The licence holder must follow the correct legal process to gain possession of a 

dwelling, serve the correct eviction notice and must not commit or cause or 

permit a third party to commit acts likely to interfere with the peace or comfort 

of a tenant or anyone living with him or her; or persistently withdraw or withhold 

services for which the tenant has reasonable need in order to to live in the 

premises as a home.  

 

12.3 If in doubt, the licence holder should seek independent legal advice. 

 

 

13. Managing Anti-Social Behaviour 

 

13.1 The licence holder must take reasonable and practicable steps to prevent or 
reduce anti-social behaviour and prevent the use of the premises for illegal 

Page 119



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

10 

purposes by any persons occupying or visiting the premises. The following 
steps must be implemented as a minimum control measure in this regard:- 
 
a. Co-operate with Telford and Wrekin Council, West Mercia Police and 
other agencies and organisations in resolving complaints of anti-social 
behaviour and / or illegal activity. The licence holder, will be required to 
undertake an investigation of any complaints regarding their tenants and any 
problems occurring within the curtilage or within close proximity to the curtilage 
of the licensed property. Written records of these investigations must be 
undertaken and provided to Telford and Wrekin Council upon request. 
 
b. The licence holder must undertake checks of the communal areas, 
communal rooms and external areas within the boundary of the property, at 
least weekly, to ensure that the property is in a decent state of repair and that 
the occupiers are not in breach of tenancy terms and conditions. Written records 
must be maintained of these checks with details of any action taken recorded 
and remedial works completed satisfactorily. 
 
c. The licence holder must ensure that each tenant is made aware that they 
are responsible for their own behaviour and the behaviour of their visitors. 
Tenants must be made aware that if they, other occupiers, or their visitors:- 
 

i. Cause nuisance or annoyance to neighbours; or 
ii. Use abusive or threatening language or behaviour to neighbours; or 
iii. Fail to store or dispose of refuse properly; or 
iv. Cause damage to fixtures, fittings, fire prevention or alarm equipment   or 

installations, or 
v. Cause damage to the fabric of the premises; or 
vi. Fail to give access to the landlord or his agent for the purpose of maintaining 

communal areas or, upon reasonable notice, to inspect or undertake works 
within their accommodation, 
 
they will be liable to enforcement action which may include possession 
proceedings either under the terms of the tenancy, pursuant to s.21 of the 
Housing Act 1988 or pursuant to Grounds 13 or 14 of Schedule 2 to the Housing 
Act 1988. 
 
 

 

 

14. Public Liability Insurance Cover 

 

14.1 The licence holder must maintain their own Public Liability Insurance, of at least 

£2,000,000, to cover injury to or damage caused by a tenant or visitor. ? Is this 

what you meant? 

 

14.2 The licence holder shall supply to an authorised officer of the Council on 

demand a copy of the Certificate of Public Liability Insurance. 

 

 

Page 120



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

11 

15. General Public Health and Environmental Housing Standards 

 

15.1 The licence holder must ensure the means of escape / protected route is kept 
clear of obstructions and all fire doors are kept in good working order. 
 

15.2 The licence holder must inform tenants at the start of each tenancy that smoking 
is not permitted to take place in the communal and circulation areas of the 
premises by any person. They must install appropriate signage. If evidence of 
smoking in the communal and circulation areas is found during inspections of 
the property, action must be taken by the licence holder. 
 

15.3 This licence has been granted based on the property layout and use of rooms 
as detailed on the plan attached to the licence. The layout, structure, provision 
of amenities, use and size of rooms must not be altered without prior 
consultation and written approval of the local housing authority. Room numbers 
/ letters for identification purposes as contained on the floor plan must also 
remain in place for the duration of the licence period. 
 

15.4 The licence holder must not allow the property to become overcrowded. This 
means that the maximum permitted occupancy of each bedroom, stipulated on 
the licence, must be complied with at all times. Where a room is deemed 
suitable for 2 people, this is based upon the room being occupied by a co-
habiting couple only. Rooms other than bedrooms are not to be used for 
sleeping purposes. 
 

15.5 The licence holder must make suitable arrangements for the cleaning of all 
common parts, communal areas and shared facilities on a regular basis. This 
must be organised, managed and paid for by the licence holder. 
 

15.6 Prior to re-letting individual bedrooms / bedsits / the whole property, the licence 
holder must make suitable arrangements for the property to be cleansed and 
returned to an acceptable standard of decorative repair. ? I’m not sure what this 
should say? to be undertaken to the room / bedsit / whole property and ensure 
that all facilities and furniture are in clean, working order. This must be 
organised, managed and paid for by the licence holder. 
 

15.7 Where previous tenants have not surrendered keys, the licence holder will 
arrange for a barrel change to be undertaken to the locking mechanism prior to 
new tenants moving in, ensuring that all current tenants are provided with a new 
key for all changed barrels. The barrel changes must also include any 
communal entrance doors to the property. 
 

15.8 The licence holder must notify the local housing authority, of any fires or 
incidents at the property which involve the Police or Fire and Rescue Service 
within 24 hours of becoming aware of the incident occurring, or the next working 
day, i.e. Monday morning if the event occurred on a Friday / Saturday / Sunday. 
 

15.9 The licence holder must ensure that a Legionella Risk Assessment is 
undertaken for the premises and is reviewed annually. A copy of the risk 
assessment must be provided to the local housing authority upon demand. 
 

Page 121



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

12 

15.10 The Licence holder must ensure that appropriate information is given to each 
tenant at the beginning of their occupancy, regarding all fire precautions and 
equipment provided in the premises.  
 
This must include, but is not limited to, a simple understanding of how the alarm 
system operates, the importance of the fire doors in containing fire, protecting 
the escape route and the importance of keeping the escape route free of 
obstructions and the use of any fire-fighting equipment that has been provided.  
 

15.11 A written record must be kept of such training including the date the information 
was provided, what was discussed and with whom these discussions were had. 
 

15.12 The operation of the emergency lighting, automatic fire detection system and 
any other communal facility, communal appliance and communal lighting must 
be powered from the landlord’s supply of electricity which is not permitted to be 
on a pre-payment top up meter. 
 

15.13 The operation of the gas supply to the property must not be unreasonably 
interrupted, as such the communal boiler must be on the landlord’s supply of 
gas which is not permitted to be on a pre-payment top up meter. 
 

15.14 The licence holder must ensure that there is a fire blanket which conforms to 
the current British Standard, located in all rooms where there are cooking 
appliances. The fire blanket must be fixed to the wall at an exit door away from 
the cooking facility at approximately 1.5m high. 
 

15.15 The provision of whole house space heating in the property shall be capable of 
achieving a constant temperature of at least 18°C when the external 
temperature is -1°C. Electric convector heaters will not be acceptable as the 
main form of whole house heating system in any circumstances. 
 

15.16 Radiators in habitable rooms (bedrooms and communal rooms) must be fitted 
with thermostatic radiator valves.  
 

15.17 Hot water must be available upon demand in sufficient volume for the number 
of occupiers and potential users, for bathing, domestic purposes and personal 
hygiene use. 
 

15.18 There must be enough electric sockets for the number of portable appliances 
likely to be used within the property, in order to minimise the use of multi-socket 
adapters. This must be no fewer than 2 double gang electric sockets in all 
bedrooms and no fewer than 4 double gang electric sockets in the communal 
kitchen which are in addition to the following household appliances which must 
have their own dedicated electric socket:- washing machine, dish washer, 
microwave(s), tumble drier, fridge(s), freezer(s). All sockets must be 
appropriately sited to ensure ease of use. 
 

15.19 All habitable rooms, including those in basements, must be fitted with an 
openable window which provides adequate and suitable ventilation in 
accordance with current Building Regulations. It is not permitted for habitable 
rooms to only be equipped with a door as the sole means of natural ventilation. 
 

Page 122



Failure to comply with these licence conditions may result in the revocation of the HMO 
Licence and/or prosecution or imposition of financial penalties 

 
. 

13 

15.20 All ground floor, basement windows, low level windows & readily accessible 
roof lights must have suitable window locks and must be fully secured to prevent 
unauthorised access from the outside. Keys for all windows must be available 
to tenants to permit intended use. 
 

15.21 Where a ground floor bedroom is located off a high risk room, such as a kitchen, 
lounge, dining room or other communal room which is not directly accessible to 
the communal escape route, the room must be fitted with an escape window or 
a door to allow access directly to the outside. There must be a clear and 
unobstructed escape route from the external area to a point of safety away from 
the property. 
 

15.22 The exterior of the property must be maintained in a reasonable decorative 
condition and state of repair. 
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Building safer and stronger neighbourhoods through appropriate use of our 

enforcement powers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“From the moment you leave your house, the work of the enforcement team impacts you.   

“From the services you use, to the goods you buy and the public spaces you spend time in, 

you’d be surprised at how far the enforcement team’s work reaches into your daily life to 

keep you safe.  

“Dedicated projects like Safer and Stronger Communities, Safer Streets or Telford and 

Wrekin Watch all help make a difference, as well as work with partners and dedicated days 

of action.  

“The team tackles people who allow their dogs to foul and those who fly-tip, regulate people 

who breed puppies, sell illicit tobacco, our taxi services and so much more.  

“Behind the scenes our teams are working tirelessly to ensure that living in Telford is as safe 

as possible and while we know that 76 percent believe this, there is always more to be done.  

“We will continue to be on the side of residents, making sure that the businesses and 

services they use are safe, supported and operate lawfully and the spaces they visit are kept 

clean and secure. There will always be new challenges but our enforcement team is 

dedicated and focussed on finding those who don’t follow the rules and holding them to 

account.”  

 

  

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
BUSINESS BRIEFING – 28 April 2022 
CABINET – 19 May 2022 
 
BUILDING SAFER, STRONGER NEIGHBOURHOODS THROUGH THE 
APPROPRIATE USE OF OUR ENFORCEMENT POWERS 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: NEIGHBOURHOOD & ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER: CLLR RICHARD OVERTON 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Council fulfils a variety of enforcement duties spanning a number of services 

however, this report focuses on the Public Protection Service who work to protect 

and support our residents, businesses and those who visit the borough in the 

following areas: 

 

 Neighbourhood, Anti-Social Behaviour & Environmental Protection; 

 CCTV Monitoring & Deployment; 

 Civil Parking 

 Trading standards & Consumer Protection 

 Licensing & Night- time Economy 

 

1.2 According to recent data, Telford is the safest major town in Shropshire and 

among the top 10 nationally where 76% of people report they feel safe in their 

homes. 

 

1.3 As a Council on the side of our residents we will continue our work with partners 
including West Mercia Police to maintain and improve on these pleasing results. 
 

 
1.4 As part of our work to Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough,our 

enforcement duties play a key part in complementing the £2.5m Building Safer 
and Stronger Communities programme while our borough wide CCTV network 
continues to provide support and reassurance.  Our approach to all enforcement 
activities follow key principles to ensure our actions are proportionate, necessary 
and in the public interest.    
 

1.5 The graphic overleaf provides an overview of the work undertaken by the 
Public Protection and Neighbourhood Enforcement teams during 2021. 
 

Page 127



 

 
2 

.  
 

1.6 Appropriate use of enforcement powers, CCTV and partnership working is 
demonstrated through the successful delivery of the £550,000 Safer Streets 1 
programme in Brookside where total crime has been reduced by 15%.  This 
model has continued through to the recently delivered £430,000 Safer Streets 2 
investment in Sutton Hill which has also been supported by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC). 
 

1.7 Significant action has been undertaken during the last 12 months to ensure our 
neighbourhoods are a great place to live.  There has been particular focus on 
tackling fly tipping which has seen the creation of Telford & Wrekin Watch as 
well as securing £75,000 of PCC funding to tackling fly tipping on private land.  
Our approach to tackle fly tipping has seen an overall reduction of 20% in the 
second half of 2021 while the number of Fixed Penalty Notices has increased 
during the same period.  
 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Cabinet note enforcement activity undertaken by Public Protection, 

Neighbourhood Enforcement teams during 2021 to keep residents and 

businesses safe. 

 

2.2 Cabinet delegates approval to  the Director of Neighbourhood & Environmental 

Services in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and Customer Services to progress 

procurement of a mobile enforcement hub and CCTV vehicle. 

 
2.3 Cabinet approve the priority areas of focus for the year ahead as outlined in this 

report. 

 

Page 128



 

 
3 

 

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council priority 
objective(s)? 

Yes  All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

 A community – focussed innovative council providing 

efficient, effective and quality services 

 Our natural environment is protected, and the Council has a 

leading role in addressing the climate emergency 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

No  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 
 

Public Protection and enforcement teams continue to deliver services 
keep the borough clean, safe and green for residents and businesses.  

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes Costs associated with fly tipping are met from existing budgets 
with income also being received from issuing fixed penalty 
notices. 
 
The PCC and DEFRA are providing capital funding (£80k 2021 – 
2023) to support additional interventions at key fly tipping 
locations to prevent, deter and support victims of fly tipping. 
 
The Community Action Teams are jointly funded by the Council 
and Town and Parish Councils who sign up to the partnership 
deal.  
MLB 31.03.22 
 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes Enforcement Officers have delegated powers under a wide 
range of legislation relating to environmental offences and anti-
social behaviour, in addition to civil powers relating to parking 
enforcement, which enable them to carry out investigations, 
issue fixed penalty or other statutory notices, or to refer offences 
for prosecution where appropriate. 
 
AG 30.03.2022 
 

OTHER 
IMPACTS, RISKS 
& 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  Effective use of intelligence and information. 
Succesful Partnership working. 
Increased use of communication campaigns to extend reach and 
engagement. 
Succesful bidding process bringing in external funding to add to 
the councils £2.5m Safer & Stronger Communities investment 

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

Page 129



 

 
4 

PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. Background 

 
4.1 Partnership working with West Mercia Police and key enforcement partners has 

continued during the last 12 months.  Timely information sharing and analysis to 
focus enforcement activity underpins our approach to planned and targeted 
operations.   

 
4.2 The Council continues to support and actively engage in ‘Multi Agency Targeted 

Enforcement’ activity (MATES) across a wide variety of settings, including 
serious and organised crime. During 2021, the team completed 35 exercises 
covering:     

 

 Covid compliance  

 Licensed Premises 

 Noise & Nuisance 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Illegal fishing & felling of trees 

 Use of quad bikes and scramblers  

 County lines 

 illicit Tobacco 

 Age restricted products  

 Taxi and Private Hire vehicles 
 
5. Neighbourhood Enforcement 
 
5.1 The Neighbourhood Enforcement team have a number of key priorities, tackling 

problem parking through civil parking enforcement as well as tackling the growing 
problem of environmental crimes such as littering, fly tipping, dog fouling and 
abandoned vehicles.  During 2021 the team issued 84 fixed penalty notices 
(FPN’s) for littering from vehicles and over 200 FPN’s for fly tipping.  This is an 
overall increase from 2020 and reflects the progress made to identify and tackle 
fly tipping which has now seen a reduction of 20% in fly tips collected across the 
borough.   

 
5.2 April 2021 saw the launch of the £2.6m Community Action Teams with partnering 

Town and Parish Council’s.  13 Town and Parish Councils have signed up to this 
jointly funded service which has been highly successful in its first year; local area 
action plans have been developed in partnership with Clerks which has seen daily 
school patrols to promote positive parking, litter and dog fouling patrols while 
responding to local concerns quickly.  Monthly strategic meetings are held with 
Clerks to plan actions, support progress and evidence successes. 

 
5.3 The team is currently supporting 12 days of action across the action team areas 

with a day of action planned in each area once a month.  These multi-agency 
days have support from service areas across the council, West Mercia Police and 
Ward Members that has resulted in a number of FPN’s for fly tipping being issued 
as well as positive engagement with the community. 

Page 130



 

 
5 

 

 
 

 
6. Anti-Social Behaviour 
  
6.1 Anti-social behaviour can impact on residents and communities; the Council is 

tackling this problem in hot spot locations through supporting those impacted, 
tackling perpetrators while implementing interventions to prevent and deter anti-
social behaviour. 

 
6.2 During the last 12 months, there have been many positive interventions delivered 

through Safer Streets 2 project in Sutton Hill and the £2.5m Building Safer and 
Stronger Communities investment.  This has required the deployment of 
additional CCTV and use of necessary powers; such interventions resulted in 
securing the borough’s first anti-social behaviour closure notice on a property. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 

 
6 

7. Borough Wide CCTV 
  
7.1 The use of CCTV continues to be a key component of supporting the detection 

and prevention of crime and disorder.  The 2019 borough wide programme 
benefitted from £500,000 of joint investment made by the Council and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner to enable replacement and enhancement of CCTV 
coverage across the borough.   

 
7.2 There has been continued investment into CCTV infrastructure with a dedicated 

control room incorporating over 550 permanent and 50 mobile cameras that 
support our teams keeping the borough clean and safe.  Recently, latest 
technology solar powered CCTV cameras have been installed in two locations 
where power supply was limited.  This advanced technology provides opportunity 
to expand the infrastructure into other locations, such as the Silkin Way, where 
similar constraints exist.  

 
  

         
 

 

8. Licensing 
 
8.1 The Licensing Team continue to support licences for Taxi’s, alcohol, street 

trading, scrap metal, animal establishments, gambling and park homes. During 
2021 there has been a significant increase in the number of licensing applications 
compared with 2020. 

 
8.2 In April 2021, the Council published a new Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy to mirror the requirements of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Best Practice Standards. While the team continue to support the taxi trade and 
work with new operators, it also ensures that operators, drivers and vehicles 
licensed by the Council are compliant and meet the new standards. 

Page 132



 

 
7 

 
 
8.3 Working with the Community Safety Partnership, the Council has secured 

investment to undertake a trial of installing CCTV in Telford & Wrekin Licensed 
taxis.  Working with licensed drivers and operators, this initial trial, starting this 
month, will shape further opportunities to expand the network. 

 
9. Trading Standards 
 
9.1 The Trading Standards team have ensured that consumer protection standards 

in the borough continue to be maintained. The team’s work is based on 
intelligence, reacting to complaints and dealing with businesses that pose a risk 
to consumers through the distribution of unsafe or illegal products or activities 
that are fraudulent and cause financial detriment to residents. 

9.2  In 2021, the team, working with partners, seized 29,300 cigarettes and over 16Kg 
of illicit and counterfeit tobacco products from premises. This work has resulted 
in a Licensing Review and three cautions.   

9.3 In addition, a large operation was carried out on a retail business selling 
counterfeit clothing and footwear with over 500 items seized. These operations 
have removed £60,000 worth of illegal goods from the borough keeping our 
residents and businesses safe. The team has also secured a prosecution against 
a business illegally selling puppies which resulted in a fine and costs of £100,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 

 
8 

10. Night Time Economy 

10.1 The night time economy team undertake various roles to support our night time 
economy.  During 2021 the night time economy team have covered a range of 
tasks including work supporting licensed premises to operate in a Covid Secure 
environment.  The team have completed over 300 inspections of licensed 
businesses covering pubs, clubs, nightclubs, off licences and restaurants. 
Furthermore, the team have carried out regular compliance inspections on taxi’s 
and private hire vehicles with neighbouring authorities to reduce plying for hire 
while managing taxi marshal’s to ensure everyone gets home safely. 

 

10.2 Work undertaken by the night time economy team including taxi marshals and 
partners such as West Mercia Police underpins the results from a recent survey 
undertaken by ‘Get Licensed’ where the borough’s safety score was ranked the 
second highest across the country.  

 
11. Telford and Wrekin Watch 
  
11.1 Along with increased media coverage on enforcement activities, the Council has 

developed dedicated website to host details on our enforcement activity.  Titled 
Telford & Wrekin Watch, the dedicated website provide details of our 
enforcement activity including appeals for information and recent successes. 

 
11.2 Over 300 residents have signed up for appeal updates with four appeals currently 

seeking support for information.   Details of recent convictions have also been 
included and will continue to be added once complete.  The latest communication 
in March achieved over 12,000 online views. 

 
11.3 Although primarily focusing on fly tipping, during 2022 Telford & Wrekin Watch 

will expand to cover other areas such as anti-social behaviour, graffiti, and 
littering, door step crime and illegal scrap metal collectors. 

 
12 Next steps 
 
12.1 We will continue to build on the success of the Community Action Team model 

while delivering enforcement impact days to address areas of concern.   This will 
be delivered in parallel to the on-going Building Safer and Stronger Communities 
programme. 

Page 134



 

 
9 

 
12.2 To complement existing resource and further enhance our capabilities, a review 

into options for placing our enforcement teams into the heart of communities will 
be explored.  This will be achieved through the use of a mobile enforcement 
vehicle and will be designed to engage with residents and communities offering 
advice and guidance.   Furthermore, opportunity will be sought to expand our 
CCTV infrastructure through the use of a multipurpose CCTV vehicle that can be 
deployed as and when required while undertaking other enforcement duties such 
as moving traffic enforcement legislation. 

 
12.3 Telford & Wrekin Watch will continue to evolve to build on successes associated 

with our enforcement activities while continuing to appeal for information about 
those who are engaged in some form of Anti Social Behaviour..   

 

12.4 We will continue to be data and intelligence led to inform our approach to 
enforcement and compliance to ensure residents are protected and businesses 
are operating safely.  Partnership working will continue to deliver multi-agency 
exercises to address serious and organised crime. 

 
12.5    To build on the work carried out by the Trading Standards Team in 2021, the team 

will continue to focus on the supply of illegal tobacco and nicotine inhaling 
products. This will be through supporting planned national operations and 
working in partnership with West Mercia Police and HMRC, to reduce the          
amount of illegal goods in the borough and ensuring that these products, illegal 
or genuine, are not sold to those under age. 

 
12.6 Our approach to all enforcement activities will continue to follow key principles to 

ensure our actions are proportionate, necessary and in the public interest.    

 
13 IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 None 
 
14 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
None 

 
15 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Safer and Cleaner Neighbourhoods through the appropriate use of our Civil 
Enforcement Powers – 18 February 2021 Cabinet Report 

 
Report prepared by: 
Anita Hunt, Group Manager - Public Protection (Trading Standards, Licensing and 
Night-Time Economy)– 01952 380733 
 
Paul Fenn, Group Manager - Public Protection (Neighbourhood, Enforcement and 
ASB) – 01952 382107 
 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing investment programme update 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“As a council on your side, here in Telford and Wrekin one of our main priorities is ensuring 

that local people have a decent place to live. This is the foundation on which people build 

their lives.  

“I am extremely proud of the results outlined in this cabinet paper which demonstrate how as 

a council we are addressing the boroughs housing needs. This includes ensuring that more 

accessible and adaptable homes are brought forward locally as well as raising the standard 

of the private rental sector through Nuplace and Telford and Wrekin Homes.  

“Nuplace, continues to be a huge success story for Telford & Wrekin Council. Now 

established locally as a landlord people can trust – 96% of tenants who took part in the last 

annual survey told us they would recommend Nuplace homes to their friends and family. Not 

only are Nuplace homes offering people in the borough to secure a home for life but the 

income it is generating is being re-invested back into the council to help deliver key front-line 

services, whilst the value of the portfolio is now worth some £17.4 million more than our 

original investment.”  

 

  

Page 137

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET                          19 MAY 2022 
 
HOUSING INVESTMENT PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBERS – CLLR RICHARD OVERTON & CLLR LEE CARTER         

 
PART A – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1.0    SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPSALS 
 
1.1 The Housing Investment Programme (HIP) was established to deliver a portfolio of 

properties for private and affordable rent, responding to the Borough’s housing needs, 
including the availability of accessible and adaptable housing, driving up the quality of the 
rental sector, regenerating brownfield land and creating local jobs. The programme also 
generates a long term income stream for the Council which is used to protect frontline 
services. Nuplace Limited, the Council’s wholly owned housing company, and 
vehicle used to deliver the Housing Investment Programme, was incorporated in 
April 2015. 

 
1.2 This report provides an update on achievements since the last update report to Cabinet 

in November 2020, along with progress made against pipeline developments included 
within the Business Case approved as part of the November 2020 Cabinet report.   

 

1.3 As of the date of this report, Nuplace’s housing portfolio comprises of 442 homes, 
with a further 442 planned or in delivery, bringing the portfolio to 884 homes.   

 

1.4 Works are ongoing at Southwater Way, Nuplace’s low carbon town centre scheme and 
the first 12 Telford & Wrekin Homes are undergoing refurbishment and due to be 
completed in April/May 2022.   

 

1.5 Planning permission has also been secured for a further 79 properties at Donnington 
Wood Way (66 dwellings as part of a wider development of 329 new homes) and The 
Gower, St Georges (13 dwellings). Properties at Donnington Wood Way include 18 
accessible and adaptable dwellings, specifically for people with a range of mobility issues 
as well as 18 low carbon homes built to Future Homes Standards. These properties build 
on the successful delivery of accessible dwellings at Maple Fields in Dothill and low carbon 
homes currently being delivered at Southwater Way.   

 

1.6 Nuplace’s growing portfolio now provides a range of homes across the Borough with 
houses available within North and South of Telford, including properties in Newport.  

 

1.7 Nuplace has established itself as a leading brand and a landlord of choice for many 
renters. In our satisfaction survey conducted in December 2021, 96% of tenants said 
they would recommend Nuplace to friends and family. 

 

1.8 Nuplace now have circa 1,200 people living in properties across ten sites. 

 

1.9 Lettings across the portfolio remain strong, with voids for the financial year 2021/22 
contained at approximately 1.35%, which is below the Budget assumption of 3.1%.  

 

Page 139



1.10 The programme has resulted in over 23 acres of brownfield land being regenerated, 
addressing sites that might otherwise blight communities, with a further 37.66  acres 
currently being regenerated at Wild Walk Muxton. 

  
1.11 The programme is also delivering added value in terms of local employment, 

apprenticeships, supply chain development and the delivery of a range of 
community projects.   
 

1.12 Nuplace generates income to the Council from a variety of sources, including services 
supplied and interest on debt finance. Since 2015/16 Nuplace has generated a 
cumulative net incremental income of £7.8m to the Council to 2021/22.  

 

1.13 The Council also benefit from Council Tax and New Homes Bonus as appropriate on the 
housing stock delivered. This is estimated to have generated an additional £3m up to 
31 March 2022. 

 

1.14 Against the £62.2m invested to 31 March 2022 the Nuplace asset portfolio has a capital 
value of £79.6m, representing a 26% increase]. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 

That Cabinet note progress made in the delivery of the Housing Investment 
Programme. 
 
That Cabinet note financial performance for the year 2021/22 and the impact 
of Nuplace’s operations on the Council’s budget position. 
 

 
3.0  SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Priority Plan 
objective(s)? 

Yes All neighbourhoods are a great place to live. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes In addition to meeting general housing need the HIP 
specifically supports: 

 Older people and people with mobility issues 
through the delivery of specialist and supported 
housing. 

 People on lower incomes through the delivery of 
homes at affordable rents.  

 People with emergency and priority housing needs 
such as people leaving care or the armed forces, 
through its Allocation Policy linked to Telford & 
Wrekin Homes.  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 

Indicative timescales for the delivery of pipeline schemes is 
included within Section 4.0 of this report.  

FINANCIAL / VALUE 
FOR MONEY 
IMPACT 

Yes Refer to Section 5.0. 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes As this is an update report there are no direct legal 
implications arising, however, ongoing legal support 
continues to be provided as and when required.    
 

Page 140



OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes Refer to Section 6.0 

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC WARDS 

No Borough wide 

 
 
PART B – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4.0 INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The Housing Investment Programme (HIP) is a strategic programme, established to 

meet identified housing need through the delivery of a portfolio of properties for private 
and affordable rent. The programme seeks to; 

 Respond to the borough’s housing need for quality rental homes and places to 
live and  support the Council’s ambitious growth agenda and major investment 
into the Borough; 

 Raise the standard of rental provision in the Borough, both in terms of the quality 
of the rental homes and the quality of the landlord service;  

 Enhance the Council’s knowledge and expertise of housing delivery and 
management, through the use of in-house resources to undertake the 
development, management and maintenance of the portfolio of rental properties;  

 Generate a long term income stream for the Council that can contribute towards 
the protection of frontline services otherwise affected by budgetary constraints;  

 Stimulate local economic growth through job creation during both the 
construction and operational phases of the Programme; and 

 Regenerate brownfield and stalled sites. 

 Breathe new life into existing housing stock 
 

Nuplace Ltd is the Council’s chosen delivery vehicle for the programme, incorporated in 
2015 and in its seventh year of operation.   
 

4.2 This report provides an update on progress against planned developments as well as 
pipeline developments identified within the Business Case approved at Cabinet in 
November 2020 and summarised in Table 1 below. It also provides an update on the 
performance of the property and tenancy management service as well as financial out 
turn for Nuplace for 2021/22.  

 
Table 1: Pipeline Schemes – Business Case November 2020 

Site Name 
Number 

of 
Dwellings 

Land 
Ownership 

Status  

Donnington Wood Way, Muxton 70 TWC Brownfield 

Telford & Wrekin Homes  100 TWC Brownfield 

Former New College, Wellington 21 TWC Brownfield 

Former Charlton, Dothill 40 TWC Brownfield 

The Gower, St Georges 19 TWC Brownfield 

Main Road, Ketley Bank 20 TWC Brownfield 

Station Quarter, Telford Town Centre  50 TWC Brownfield 

  320     

 
 
 

Page 141



4.3 Achievements to Date - Schemes Completed & Under Development  
 
The programme is continuing to perform consistently well against objectives outlined above and 
the Business Case approved at Cabinet in November 2020. Key achievements are outlined in 
Section 1.0 of the report. Table 2 below summarises schemes completed (green) or now in 
delivery (amber).  
 
Table 2: Housing Investment Programme Schemes Completed (green) or in Delivery (amber) 

Site 
1 

bed 
2 bed 3 bed 

4 
bed 

Total 
Adaptable 

/ 
Accessible 

Low 
Future 
Homes 

Standard 

Affordable 
Units 

Low 
Carbon 
(PV/EV) 

Completion 
Date  

Pool View (Randlay) 0 13 18 0 31 0 0 0 0 22/07/2016 

Woodland Walk (Madeley) 0 13 85 3 101 0 0 0 0 22/10/2016 

The Oaklands (Dawley) 0 32 15 0 47 0 0 0 0 11/05/2018 

Miners Walk (Madeley) 0 36 17 0 53 0 0 0 0 31/08/2018 

Blossom Walk (Hadley) 0 19 6 0 25 0 0 3 0 12/03/2018 

Springfields (Newport) 0 25 8 0 33 0 0 33 0 18/04/2018 

Coppice Court (Snedshill) 0 21 13 5 39 0 0 6 0 10/05/2019 

Rowan View (Snedshill) 0 10 21 6 37 0 0 0 0 18/02/2021 

Maple Fields (Dothill) 4 15 20 15 54 19 0 2 0 09/04/2021 

Southwater Way (Malinslee) 4 18 16 8 46 0 0 11 46  

Wild Walk (Donnington) 4 26 21 15 66 18 18 0 66  

The Gower (St Georges) 0 13 0 0 13 0 0 0 0  

Telford & Wrekin Homes  0 1 10 1 12 0 0 6 0  

Total 12 242 250 53 545 37 18 61 112  

Percentage 2% 44% 46% 10% 100% 7% 3% 11% 21%  

 

Rowan View & Maple Fields: The schemes at Rowan View and Maple Fields were successfully 
completed in February 2021 and April 2021 respectively, adding a further 91 properties to the 
portfolio. These schemes were completed within budget, despite delays arising from the closure 
of these sites at the outset of the covid pandemic. The accessible and adaptable dwellings at 
Maple Fields have been well received with bespoke adaptations having been undertaken on 
five of the properties during construction to meet tenants’ requirements and support 
independent living. This is in addition to a further five adaptations, funded through Disabled 
Facilities Grant, undertaken on properties across the portfolio.  
 
Southwater Way: The scheme at Southwater Way, commenced on site in January 2021 and 
is Nuplace’s first scheme to contribute more directly towards the Council’s low carbon agenda 
through the inclusion of PV panels and electric vehicle (EV) charging points to all properties. 
These enhancements reduce energy consumption, lower the development’s carbon footprint 
and at the same time reduce energy bills for occupiers, which is a huge bonus given rising 
energy prices. These benefits have been enabled in part through funding from the West 
Midlands Combined Authority which was secured to resolve viability issues associated with this 
development arising from the brownfield nature of the site.  

Page 142



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Southwater Way has been Nuplace’s fastest letting scheme to date, with over 140 applications 
received within four weeks of launching. This reflects the continued confidence placed in 
Nuplace as a leading developer and property manager as well the scheme’s sustainable 
credentials both in terms of low carbon design and location, in the heart of Telford Town Centre 
and its amenities. As of the date of this report, 22 of the properties have been completed and 
are occupied with the development due to be fully complete in July 2022. 
 

Case Study: A Nuplace at Southwater Way: 

A family of four from Lightmoor were one of the first families to move into their new home in 
Southwater. Mum of three, Jayne told us:  
 
 “As soon as I saw the Southwater Way development, and how centrally located the new 
homes were, I knew it was the right time to move home. In the end it didn’t just come down 
location. Having not long purchased my first electric car, once I learnt that the new homes 
came with fully installed car charging points, at no extra hassle or cost to me, I was sold 
instantly. The solar panels will be new to us as a family. This is incredibly innovative and 
something I am really looking forward to benefiting from. With my children all of different 
ages we couldn’t choose a better location – it is spot on for us all. My older children can use 
nearby public transport links to get to college, university and work - plus my younger son 
and I will be able to walk straight to Telford Town Park. This is something we are very much 
looking forward to enjoying.”  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 
Watch this short video of the first tenants moving into new homes at Southwater Way in 
February 2022 

 

 
Wild Walk, Muxton: The Wild Walk scheme off Donnington Wood Way in Muxton commenced 
on site in November 2021, after securing planning permission in August 2021. This 329 dwelling 
scheme is an exemplar, mixed tenure development, being brought forward through a 
partnership between the Council, Nuplace Ltd, Lovell Partnerships Ltd and Wrekin Housing 
Group.  
 
Seeking to contribute directly towards the Council’s recently adopted Specialist & Supported 
Housing Strategy as well as its low carbon commitments the scheme will deliver: 

 66 homes for private rent for Nuplace (70 assumed at Business Case stage) including 
18 accessible and adaptable dwellings.  

 18 Nuplace homes to Future Homes & Buildings Standards which will see an 80% 
betterment on carbon emissions than homes delivered under current regulations.   

 186 (57%) affordable and ‘rent to buy’ homes for Wrekin Housing Group, including a 76 
apartment Extracare scheme with dementia care wing and a 20 apartment retirement 
living block. 

 77 homes for open market sale for Lovell. 

 A total of 36% of dwellings across the scheme built to accessible and adaptable 
standards, enabling people to live independently for longer.  

 Ultra efficient homes throughout which exceed current building regulations including PV 
technology, solar heating of water, car charging points, upgraded fabric in walls, floor and 

roof, waste water heat recovery. 

 A 40% net gain in biodiversity through the adopted drainage and landscaping strategy.  

 The regeneration of a 15.24ha brownfield site, heavily constrained by past mining 
activity. 

 
This landmark scheme has been supported through grant funding, secured from the Local 
Enterprise Partnership as part of the Stronger Communities Package. The first plots are 
due to be handed over in early 2023 with handover of Nuplace’s properties expected in 
Summer 2024, due to their location within the site. Despite the long lead in times, significant 
interest has already been received in the site but applications will only be invited as we get 
closer to completion dates. 

Page 144

https://www.facebook.com/nuplaceTelford/videos/990343455188044
https://www.facebook.com/nuplaceTelford/videos/990343455188044


.  

 

 

 
The Gower: Full planning and Listed Building Consent was secured for the scheme at The 
Gower, St Georges in December 2021. The scheme comprises of the refurbishment of this 
iconic Grade II listed building to provide new offices for St Georges & Priorslee Parish Council 
and a new community hall, alongside three x2 bedroom apartments with a further ten x2 
bedroom new build dwellings to the rear of the existing building. The number of dwellings for 
Nuplace has reduced from the 19 assumed at Business Case stage, to 13 following refinement 
to the masterplan in response to site investigation findings and discussions with the Local 
Planning Authority. The proposals will bring this important heritage asset, which has lain vacant 
for a number of years, back into sustainable use. 
 

Page 145



  
View: 10no. 2bed dwellings to the rear of exisiting buidling View: Internal refurbished community hall 

   
Enabling works have commenced with the erection of hoarding, Japanese knotweed removal 
and drilling and grouting underway. Works are due to start in earnest in July 2022 subject to 
discharge of the remaining planning conditions.  
 
All of the above schemes are being delivered by Lovell Partnerships Ltd, Nuplace’s appointed 
development partner. They continue to deliver a high quality service, despite the additional 
challenges imposed by the Coronavirus pandemic and the associated inflationary increases 
arising from this. In December 2021, the Lovell site team at Southwater Way were awarded the 
LABC Bricks Site Recognition Award certificate for their quality of workmanship and site 

management.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 146



Telford & Wrekin Homes: Telford & Wrekin Homes (TWH), is focussed on refurbishing existing 
properties for rent, and was established in late 2020 and ratified at Cabinet in May 2021. TWH 
seeks to build on the success of Nuplace’s new build programme and invest in and protect our 
existing housing stock through high quality renovations which help to address issues of poor 
housing in communities, ensuring that we are making the best use of our existing homes, in 
accordance with a key objective of the Council’s Housing Strategy. 
  
The pipeline for investment has been increased from 100 dwellings within the approved 
Business Case to circa 134, up to 2024/25, now representing an investment of £19.70m. The 
first 12 properties have now been acquired from Wrekin Housing Group (WHG) and are 
undergoing refurbishment works including the installation of new kitchens, bathrooms, full 
redecoration, new carpentry and flooring, landscaping and external works, whilst also 
addressing issues such as damp and electrical issues to ensure that the properties are 
compliant, free from legacy issues and don’t represent a maintenance liability moving forward. 
 
Photos of property in Sunniside, Coalbrookale, before and after refurbishment works by TWH 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A further 36 properties are programmed for acquisition in 2022/23, with the purchase of the first 
7 properties from WHG having now been approved. Nuplace are continuing to explore different 
routes to acquisition including; working with the Council’s Empty Properties Officer to bring long 
term vacant properties back into use, purchase at auction and from other Housing Association 
partners and investment in residential refurbishments as part of regeneration schemes such as 
Oakengates Local Centre.    
 
The demand for TWH is evident with over 400 people signed up to hear more about the 
properties. A marketing plan is in place to effectively manage the release of properties to the 
market.  
 
The TWH programme is underpinned by a rent setting and allocation policy which seeks to 
ensure that a proportion of TWH homes are let at levels no more than Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA) rents. In advance of advertising these properties on the Nuplace website, we will seek to 
match these homes to those people identified by the Council as being in housing need, with a 

Page 147



focus on identified priority groups such as care leavers. Where a suitable match can’t be found, 
properties will be advertised on the Nuplace website with precedence given to other priority 
groups such as key workers and former members of the armed forces.   
 
4.3 Achievements to Date – Pipeline Schemes  
 
The following schemes have been progressed over the previous 18 months:   
 
Former Abacus Nursery, Ketley Bank: The masterplan for this scheme has been further 
developed and refined to encompass pre-application comments from the Local Planning 
Authority and is now shown to deliver 27 new homes including 7 within the existing building 
alongside 20 new build homes on land to the rear. The development seeks to safeguard this 
important heritage asset within the community of Ketley Bank and provide new homes which 
meet housing need. Development proposals include 5 accessible and adaptable bungalows, 
which will be prioritised for people over the age of 55 or with mobility issues as well as 6 homes 
to be let at affordable rents. The scheme was recently presented to the Town Council alongside 
public consultation undertaken in March 2022. A full planning application is due to be submitted 
imminently t to enable a start on site in August 2022. 

  

  
 
 
Station Quarter, Telford Town Centre: The residential led regeneration of Station Quarter, the 
area of land between Telford Town Centre and Telford Railway Station, is a priority for the 
Council and has gained traction following the provisional award of Towns Investment Funding 
in 2021. The masterplan identifies potential for the delivery of up to 770 town houses and 
apartments of which circa 200 are proposed to be delivered within the first phase, due to 
commence on site in Spring 2023. Of these 117 are to be brought forward by Nuplace, alongside 
86 affordable units by a Housing Association partner.  
 
The Nuplace component comprises of 84 apartments, comprising of 48 x1 bed  and 35 x2 bed 
within a 5 storey block facing onto Ironmasters Way, and 33 properties comprising 18 x2 bed 
and 10 x3 bed town houses and 5 x1 bed mezzanine apartments, facing onto Lawn Central and 
on the former Boyd House site. The number of properties to be delivered for Nuplace has 

Page 148



increased significantly from the 50 assumed at Business Case stage. This increase has been 
supported through further market appraisal work undertaken by build to rent specialists 
Cortland, who have been appointed by Nuplace to provide advice on unit number, mix, layout, 
specification and achievable rents. This increase also supports the delivery of a high density 
development, befitting of the site’s town centre location and will deliver a scale of development 
which underpins this market making scheme.  
 
The proposals are intended to represent a departure from Nuplace’s suburban offering, whilst 
maintaining the high standards in terms of build that Nuplace tenants have come to expect. 
Properties will benefit from close proximity to the rail and bus services (reducing reliance of 
private car ownership), communal gardens and contemporary design inside and out with open 
plan layouts which meet Nationally Described Space Standards and provide flexibility in terms 
of use and occupancy. The properties have been specifically designed to appeal to young 
people, with for example all two bedroom apartments within the apartment block, benefitting 
from two bathrooms to facilitate flat sharing. However, the diversity of properties on offer will 
also encourage a mixed community which will support people of all ages and circumstances. A 
number of accessible and adaptable dwellings are also incorporated into the properties across 
the private rent and affordable dwellings.  
 
We are also striving to ensure that homes are as energy efficient as possible in order reduce 
the development’s carbon footprint as well as fuel costs for occupiers. A fabric first approach is 
being adopted across the scheme, delivering improvements in terms of insulation to walls, floors 
and ceilings. This will be coupled with air source heat exchangers and PVs with there being no 
gas to the development in recognition of future legislative changes in this regard. Electric vehicle 
charging points will be installed throughout along with significant safe storage for bikes to further 
encourage sustainable travel.  
 
The Towns Investment Funding will support the delivery of a serviced and remediated 
development plot for the residential proposals with an Expression of Interest also submitted to 
the WMCA for funding to further support delivery on this brownfield site (viability for this scheme 
is challenging given the cost inflation currently being experienced in the construction industry).  
Nuplace are working with the appointed contractor Willmott Dixon, supported by cost 
consultants Gleeds, to ensure that the scheme submitted to planning is viable and sustainable.  
 
The programme is to progress with the scheme to planning, with a planning application 
anticipated in late summer to enable a start on site in Spring 2023. Dwellings are expected to 
be handed over and available for let by the end of 2024. 

 

 
 

Page 149



 
 
Former New College, Wellington: The Nuplace component of the scheme comprises of 22 
dwellings (revised from 21 assumed within the Business Case), which form part of a much larger 
proposal involving the delivery of a retirement living scheme comprising of 64 apartments and 
10 bungalows for WHG, and 26 units of younger peoples accommodation for the YMCA. The 
Nuplace development layout has been revised to accommodate community parking in order to 
alleviate pressures associated with existing on road parking. A planning application was 
submitted in April to facilitate a start on site in Autumn 2022.   
 
Former Charlton School, Wellington: This was identified as a pipeline site within the approved 
Business Case with Nuplace intending to take circa 40 dwellings as part of the wider 
development mix. However the site was ultimately sold to Vistry, who are delivering properties 
for open market sale. The £6.1m provisionally allocated to this scheme has been reallocated to 
support the delivery of units for Nuplace elsewhere in the borough via a turnkey solution.   
 
A summary of Nuplace’s current delivery programme, as compared to the Business Case 
position is presented below: 
 
 
 
 

Site Name Number of 
Dwellings 

Land 
Ownership 

Status  Capital Cost 
(£) 

Est. 
Start 

Est. 
Completion  

Status 

Donnington Wood Way, 
Muxton 

66 TWC Brownfield 10,350,000 Nov-21 Sep-24 On Site  

Telford & Wrekin Homes  
 

134 TWC Brownfield 19,700,000 Apr-22 Mar-25 On Site 

Former New College, 
Wellington 

22 TWC Brownfield 3,740,000 Oct-22 Oct-23 Initial Conditions 
Approved  

Former Charlton, Dothill 
 

      No longer being 
taken forward. 

The Gower, St Georges 
 

13 TWC Brownfield 2,100,000 Apr-22 Apr-23 On site  

Main Road, Ketley Bank 27 TWC Brownfield 4,877,000 Aug-22 Aug-23 Initial Conditions 
Approved  

Station Quarter, Telford 
Town Centre  

117 TWC Brownfield 
19,259,500 Feb-23 Dec-25 

Initial Conditions to 
be approved  

Turn Key Scheme 39 Third Party  
7,191,000 TBC TBC 

Initial Conditions to 
be approved 

 418   67,218,200    

 

Page 150



4.4 Housing Management / Tenant Satisfaction 
 
Occupancy Levels and Voids 
 
Occupancy levels have remained very high across the portfolio over the past two years with 
voids held at 1.36% for the year 2020/21 and 1.35% for the year 2021/22, which is well below 
the business case assumption of 3.1%. This reflects a range of market and operational factors 
including;  

 A general reduction in the turnover of tenants, especially over the first part of the 
coronavirus pandemic,  

 Buoyancy in the housing market both within the ‘for sale’ and ‘for rent’ sectors,  

 High levels of tenant satisfaction in relation to the quality of the properties and the 
management service, as demonstrated by the recent Tenant Satisfaction Survey (see 
below); 

 The streamlined approach to re-let including exit inspection, re-let works and 
advertisement, 

 The strong reputation Nuplace have established, which keeps demand for properties 
high. Properties that do come up for re-let are reserved quickly meaning that despite 
turnover, voids are remaining low. Nuplace currently have waiting list of over 100 for 
properties.  

 
Rent Levels & Bed Debt 
 
Nuplace’s housing portfolio has grown to 446 units at the date of this report and generates a 
monthly gross income of approximately £300k.  
 
Rents continue to be adjusted in line with market conditions upon re-let whilst rents for retained 
tenants have been held for the previous two years in acknowledgment of the additional financial 
burden arising from the coronavirus pandemic. With restrictions ending, Nuplace implemented 
a rent increase for existing tenants of 1.7% from 1st April 2022. This increase remains below 
that occurring regionally and nationally.  
 
Overdue debts within the company have increased over the previous 12 months. This is to a 
large extent a result of a small proportion of tenants struggling to pay rent as a result of the 
pandemic. Payment plans are in place with tenants and reviewed monthly. The bad debt 
provision will be reassessed at the year end and increased as appropriate within Nuplace’s 
accounts.   
Property Maintenance 
 
Reactive maintenance continues to be carried out on properties in accordance with KPI 
requirements. As the properties age, with the first properties now over 5 years old, planned 
maintenance work is expected to increase with painting of front doors, across a number of our 
earlier estates, planned for 2022/23. In addition, further remedial works are planned for gardens 
to rectify issues associated with drainage. Expenditure on maintenance was 7.2% of turnover 
for the year ended 31 March 2022, which is within budgeted levels. 
 
Tenant Satisfaction  
 
Following on from the success of the Nuplace tenant’s questionnaire launched in 2020, a further 
questionnaire was issued in November 2021, seeking to gain a better understanding of our 
tenant profile as well as gauge levels of satisfaction with Nuplace properties and the tenancy 
and property management service.  A total of 156 tenants completed the survey, 32% more 
than in 2020. Of these 96% said they would recommend Nuplace to their friends and family. 
When asked ‘what would you change about Nuplace?’ some really positive responses were 
received; 

 Nothing - they’re all amazing 

Page 151



 Nothing - always so friendly and helpful! 

 I think the service is very good especially in the difficult times we’ve had with the 
pandemic. 

 I’ve found over the past few months the management and repairs teams have 
seriously improved and we get things sorted super quick with no issues! 

 I would honestly say we have had the best experience with living in a Nuplace home. 
They are so proactive especially with repairs or supporting with questions we have so I 
don’t feel there needs to be any improvements 

 Very happy with the support we have in place.  Excellent communication with the team 
and property management officers.  Rented from Nuplace now for 5 years and find it to 
very stress free. 

 I love our Nuplace home and have been impressed by its management and repair 
process with problems sorted quickly 

 I am happy and really impressed with the home. It is beautiful and spacious I just wish 
it had built in closets. The repair services are very good. 

 My person of contact Georgina is amazing and so helpful. 
 

  
 
Based on the information received from the questionnaire, we now estimate that approximately 
1,200 people live in our Nuplace homes. Of these; 

 

 47% have lived in their Nuplace home for >2 years.  

 54% live with their families. 

 20% moved to their Nuplace home from outside of Telford. 

 75% moved to their Nuplace home from a different rental property. 

 37% of tenants stated they rent because they cannot afford to buy a home. 

 36% of tenants said that renting just suits them (for a different reason other than 
financial). 

 
With a growing portfolio of properties, we continue to refine processes to ensure that the tenancy 
and property management services are proactive and efficient. In 2022 the tenancy 
management team will be adopting a new property management database which will enable 
tenancy issues to be managed in a more streamlined way, supporting our tenants to self-serve 
wherever possible.  
 
Social & Added Value  
 
Nuplace continue to work proactively with their appointed contractors and their supply chain to 
deliver social added value through construction projects: 

 At Coppice Court, Snedshill, Lovell have worked with St Georges & Priorslee Parish 
Council to install a new community bench within green space to the rear of the 
development site.  

 At Southwater Way, representatives from Nuplace, Lovell and Lovell’s plumbing 
contractor undertook a litter pick around the site as a thank you to the local public house 
for use of their car park through the period of construction. All parties also donated a 
total of £1,250 to their chosen charity.  

Page 152



 
 At Donnington Wood Way, budgets from Lovell, WHG and Nuplace have been pooled 

to create a £45,000 social value budget which will be used throughout the 3 year 
construction programme to support a range of educational and community based 
programmes. 

 Also at Donnington Wood Way, Lovell committed at tender stage to ambitious targets 
regarding the use of local labour and suppliers and through extensive work with the 
supply chain during the pre-construction period have been successful in securing 70% 
of all work from a 25 mile radius, with all brickwork for the scheme being procured from 
Borough based contractor, Prestige.  

 Lovell have also donated the contents of two of their show homes from the West 
Midlands region to the Council for care leavers.  Lovell also signed up to the Care 
Leaver’s Covenant at the event held on 11 February.  
 
Image: Lovell Show Homes donation open morning. Ben’s reaction to receiving the items 
can be watched here.  

 
 
Social value opportunities will continue to be identified as the pipeline schemes are 
delivered.  

 
 

Page 153

https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=419697263180296
https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=419697263180296


5.0 FINANCE  
 
5.1 The Councils Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 -2025/26 approved at Full 

Council on 3 March 2022 included an additional £20m investment in Nuplace bringing 
the total investment since the company was formed in 2015 to £130.9m. Of this, £62.2m 
has been spent as at 31 March 2022, with a further £3.3m allocated to sites in 
development.  Against the £62.2m invested to date the Nuplace asset portfolio has a 
capital value of £79.6m, representing a 26% cumulative increase in value.  

 
5.2 £65.3m remains unallocated for future schemes. The schemes identified in the table 

above total £67.2m (and include £1.9m for Telford and Wrekin Homes in delivery) and 
as such can be delivered within this remaining allocation. Capital is allocated to sites 
based upon feasibility criteria with the rate of return for each investment being dependent 
upon a range of parameters and reviewed by the Council’s Finance department on a 
case by case basis.  

 
5.3 The Council invests capital into the Company through either debt or equity finance and 

demands a commercial return on both. The rate of return on debt finance is assessed at 
the point in time loans are established talking into account the current market factors. 
The hurdle rate for the long term rate of return on equity finance is set at 6%. The Section 
151 Officer will be consulted on any changes to the commercial terms of the funding as 
set out in the Housing Investment Programme Board, Terms of Reference, and the 
amendment will be approved by the HIP Board.  Further capital spend can only be 
undertaken once the loan facilities have been executed. 
 

5.4 Nuplace generates income to the Council from a variety of sources, including services 
supplied and interest on debt finance. Since 2015/16 Nuplace has generated a 
cumulative net incremental income of £7.8m to the Council. The Council will additionally 
benefit from Council Tax and New Homes Bonus as appropriate on the housing stock 
delivered. This is estimated to have generated an additional £3m to 31 March 2022.  
 

6.0 IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1  As the HIP has become established, risk factors have largely reduced as assumptions 
within the original Business case have been tested and refined.    

 
7.0   PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
Housing Investment Programme Cabinet Report    25 April 2013 
Housing & Property Investment Programme Cabinet Report  24 July 2014 
Housing Investment Programme Full Council Report   11 September 2014 
Housing Investment Cabinet Report      8 January 2015 
HIP, Southwater Development Options Cabinet Report   19 March 2015 
Housing Investment Programme Update     25 March 2016 
Housing Investment Programme Update     29 June 2017 
Housing Investment Programme Update     12 July 2018 
Housing Investment Programme Update    02 January 2020 
Housing Investment Programme – Business case for Investment  5 November 2020 

Housing Investment Programme – Telford & Wrekin Homes  10 June 2021 

 
Report prepared by Kate Callis, Service Delivery Manager - Housing Investment 
Programme  

Page 154



£10m housing intervention fund 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“In Telford and Wrekin we are focused on supporting our residents by delivering more accessible, 

sustainable and affordable homes. 

“We have made great strides to drive new housing developments forward locally but we know there 
is more to do. 
  
“The Housing Intervention Fund aims to add value and tackle failures in the market – creating more 
housing opportunities for our residents which meet their needs. 
  
“The fund will build on current housing schemes and strategies and isn’t intended to replace or 
duplicate investment or delivery by existing partners such as developers and Homes England.” 
 

 
 

Page 155

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 

CABINET – 19th May 2022 

£10M HOUSING INTERVENTION FUND – DELIVERING NEW HOMES & 

SUPPORTING OUR MOST VULNERABLE RESIDENTS 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR - HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE 

LEAD CABINET MEMBERS – COUNCILLOR RICHARD OVERTON AND 

COUNCILLOR ANDY BURFORD 

 

PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 

1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

1.1 A decent place to live is the foundation on which people build their lives.  If you’ve a 
good quality home, then health, employment, educational achievement and a happy 
family life are often much easier to obtain.  Housing is a key priority for the Council – 
central to our Programme to Protect, Care and Invest to Create a Better Borough.   
 

1.2 Our Housing Strategy sets out three objectives to: 
 create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities 
 make the BEST use of our existing homes 
 provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable people   

1.3 This Report sets out how as a Council both directly and working with our partners we 
are delivering against these commitments.  It also recognises that we still face 
challenges of affordability and access to suitable housing and sets out proposals to 
invest further through a £10m Housing Intervention Fund. 
 

1.4 As a Borough we have continued to deliver year on year over 1,000 new homes 
including over 300 affordable homes per annum – exceeding our core Local Plan 
target. 

 

1.5 Following the adoption of our Supported & Specialist Housing Strategy we have 
established a pipeline of c.940 new supported and specialist accommodation set 
to be delivered between 2022 and 2025 targeting the needs of older and younger 
residents with mental and physical disabilities, care leavers and veterans. 

 

1.6 In January we were one of the first Local Authorities to adopt a Supported & 

Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning Document – Homes for All enabling 

us to shape the standard, design and accessibility of new housing.     

 

1.7 Our innovative Virtual House and Independent Living Centre provides a physical 

and virtual ‘front door’ for those seeking advice and support to enable them to live more 

comfortably and longer, at home.  In 21/22 we also invested over £2.5m through 

Disability Facility and Wellbeing Grants with over 400 grant approvals – supporting 

people across all ages and property tenure.   

 

Page 157



1.8 Working with our Registered Provider (RP) partners we have adopted a new Housing 

Allocations Policy and been offered over 300 affordable properties in the last 9 

months to nominate those most at need. 

 

1.9 Through our c.£2m Stalled Sites programme we are bringing derelict and 

problem development sites back into use delivering new supply and improving 

neighbourhoods.   

 

1.10 As detailed in our Better Homes for All Report we have taken direct action where the 

private rented market is failing to support tenants and communities.  This includes 

addressing key sites such as Stamford and Terrace Lodge in Dawley, long the 

source of ASB impacting the local community where we are investing in 

refurbishment and improved management standards.  We are also tackling empty 

properties and investing in initiatives to tackle fuel poverty. 

 

1.11 Since 2020 we have provided emergency accommodation for over 580 people 

Rough Sleeping or threatened with Rough Sleeping and provided long term 

housing solutions for 465 people.  Our growing portfolio of Telford ‘housing first’ 

homes is enabling those who have experienced homelessness to rebuild their lives.  

 

1.12 As detailed in the Annual Housing Investment Programme Report through Nuplace, the 

Council’s wholly owned housing company, we are growing our portfolio of 447 

properties to deliver over 840 homes for private and affordable rent with targeted 

provision including key workers, veterans, foster carers and care leavers.    

 

1.13 We are also driving the creation of new communities investing to establish Town 

Centre living at Station Quarter in the heart of the Town.   This is alongside our 

£4.8m High Street investment which will include enabling more accessible and 

affordable residential accommodation in our Borough Towns.  

 

1.14 As a Council we have made a commitment to achieve zero carbon.  We are driving 

this through the development being delivered by Nuplace and investing in 

retrofitting our Council owned temporary accommodation portfolio.   

 

1.15 We are driving change locally but we know there is more to do and we are therefore 

committing to invest a further £10m over the next 2 years.  The investment will be 

one of intervention to add value and tackle failures in the market - not to replace or 

duplicate investment or delivery by existing partners including Registered Providers, 

developers and Homes England.  It will focus on  

 

 increasing the range and choice of affordable homes including specialist and 

supported housing targeted to need,  

 facilitating home ownership through initiative(s) for key groups including first 

time buyers to access the market, and  

 maintaining independent living.   

 

Initial proposals for the use of the Fund include:-   

 

Page 158



1.16 Affordable & Accessible Homes Programme  

Using the Council’s recent Registered Provider status to deliver an initial 50 

new affordable, specialist and supported housing units targeting stalled 

development sites in the heart of our communities.  The investment will be used 

to viability gap fund the acquisition and/or market delivery of sites providing 

accommodation that directly matches the need identified by our adult and children’s 

services and addressing sites that are currently a blight on neighbourhoods.   

 

1.17 Telford Home Loan Scheme 

The proposed Telford Home Loan Scheme will support people who currently 
live or work in the borough onto the housing ladder including first time buyers, 
and to address the standard and energy efficiency of existing properties.     

 
Working with an experienced social lender the scheme will provide financial 
support via a range of loan finance tailored to individual’s circumstances.   

 
1.18 Community Housing  
 

In a number of our communities we have seen a huge growth in the private rented 

market.   Growing community sector ownership or management of housing in these 

areas provides opportunities for local people to access local homes, for local 

employment in the refurbishment and maintenance and to enable the growth of new, 

local housing providers.   

1.19 We will continue to lobby for more Government funding to support the  
  regeneration of our former New Town Estates. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1. Support the priorities and initial proposals for the Housing Intervention Fund set out in the 
Report 
 
2. Delegate authority to the Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure and Director: 
Finance & HR in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Member for Housing, Enforcement & 
Transport to approve investment of the Fund, subject to business case and enter into any 
documentation necessary to give effect to the recommendations in this report. 
 

 

3. IMPACT OF ACTION 

 

The delivery outlined in the Report is providing additional affordable, accessible and 

specialist accommodation supporting the housing needs of the Borough’s residents and 

future proofing supply.  The Intervention Fund will allow the Council to intervene in the 

market to deliver specific outcomes to meet local housing need. 

 

 
 

 

Page 159



4. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 

IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council priority 

objective(s)? 

Yes - All neighbourhoods are great places to live 

- Community focussed Council providing efficient and 

effective and quality services 

- Every child, young person and adult lives well in their 

community 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The investment will support the delivery of more affordable, 

specialist, supported homes meeting the needs of vulnerable 

residents including older people, those with disabilities, homeless 

and care leavers 

TARGET 

COMPLETION/ 

DELIVERY DATE 

Subject to business case the investment will be made over the next 2 

years. 

FINANCIAL/ 

VALUE FOR 

MONEY IMPACT 

Yes The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2025/26 

approved at Full Council on 3rd March 2022, included a £10m 

capital allocation for affordable housing initiatives.  Additional 

capital funding of £375,000 has been made available as part of 

the Council’s Investment Programme for 22/23. These allocations 

will be used to support the Housing Intervention Fund initiatives in 

this report, and finance will support the Business Cases as they 

are developed, which may also involve capital allocations from the 

Councils Stalled Sites pot in addition to Homes England 

affordable grant allocations. 

It is currently proposed that the Home Loan Scheme will be 

managed by a social lender and therefore appropriate due 

diligence will be required. 

The Medium Term Financial strategy also included an expectation 

of £100k saving associated with this investment.  The business 

cases will consider all relevant revenue costs associated with the 

development of these schemes with this funding and will 

maximise associated income including Housing Benefit to ensure 

these schemes are fully funded ongoing.  It is not possible at this 

stage to identify the long-term financial benefits, but they will 

clearly deliver benefits for individuals who will have a good home 

to give them a foundation on which they can build their lives within 

the Borough. 

DR 4/4/22 & AEM 05/04/22   

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Council has powers to carry out the recommendations 

contained within this report although there will be specific legal 

Page 160



 

 

considerations associated with each proposal.  Legal support and 

advice will be provided on specific proposals on an ongoing basis 

to ensure that all legal requirements are met. 

EH 12.4.22 

OTHER IMPACTS, 

RISKS & 

OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  As outlined in the Report the investment proposals provide 

opportunities to address zero carbon and to provide added social 

value through local employment.     

The Council spends approximately 65% of its net revenue budget 

on Adult and Children’s Social Care with further investment being 

made across the wider health sector.  By using the intelligence we 

have on need/demand to target investment we can shape 

provision to meet and futureproof housing needs, support 

independent living - and deliver efficiencies and cost avoidance 

across the Authority and wider health and care sector. 

 

Risks will be addressed through individual business cases. 

IMPACT ON 

SPECIFIC WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 

PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

5. INFORMATION 
 

5.1 Our Housing Strategy sets out 3 core objectives 

1. To create sustainable, accessible, affordable & integrated communities 

2. To make the BEST use of our existing homes 

3. To provide homes to support & empower our most vulnerable 

Since the Strategy’s adoption we have made huge strides in delivery.  This is also illustrated 

in the Annual Housing Investment Programme Report and the 2022 Better Homes for All 

Programme Update being presented to Cabinet. 

But there is more to do.  We still need to deliver more affordable homes – to buy and to rent 

– and find ways to assist people onto the housing ladder - particularly at a time when the 

cost of living is rising.  We also recognise the huge role, alongside effective care and support 

services, that housing plays in helping to meet the needs of older, disabled and vulnerable 

people.  This also includes our care leavers, veterans and supporting those who foster or 

‘share lives’. 

This Reports sets out what we have delivered, how we will continue to shape the 

market and given the challenges how we will use our £10m Housing Intervention Fund 

to intervene to increase the supply and access for residents to affordable housing 

choices and to enable independent living. 

 

 

Page 161



5.2 Achievements To Date 

 

5.2.1 Delivering New and Affordable Homes  

We have consistently seen delivery of over 1000 new homes per annum for the last 6+ 

years topping the Centre for Cities league table for housing delivery.  Even in the year 

post covid we have seen delivery close to 900 units.   

Our record for affordable housing remains equally strong with 30% of all new homes 

delivered since 2011 of affordable tenure.   This is driven by our proactive approach to 

engagement with Registered Providers and developers from pre planning application 

through to developing tailored solutions to maximise delivery.  This includes use of 

commuted sums to viability gap fund schemes especially in areas of higher affordability 

ratios.  Through engagement with Homes England, we have supported partners – and 

latterly the Council directly - to draw down affordable housing grant to maximise delivery 

potential across affordable rented and shared ownership tenures.  

5.2.2 Shaping the Market   

The new Housing Strategy & Commissioning team provide a single point of information on 

accommodation requirements across Adult and Children’s Social Care and Housing 

services.  Coordination of the Local Authorities requirements enables us to shape the market 

and deliver the accommodation solutions to meet local need.   

Development of our Specialist & Supported Accommodation Strategy has helped signal to 

the market accommodation requirements and we are working with our Registered Providers 

to align development plans to meet need and influence HE grant to ensure it is targeted to 

support the required delivery. A Market Engagement Event to brief on the Strategy 

attracted over 90 attendees showing the strength of interest in the local market and in 

understanding the Council’s requirements 

This has resulted in securing the delivery of almost 1000 new units of specialist and 

supported accommodation over the next 3 years.  The Table below illustrates the current 

pipeline for older adult provision to 2025. 

Provider/ 

Developer 
Location Type No of 

units 
Est delivery 

date 
WHG Donnington 

Wood way 
Extracare 
High needs extra care 
Sheltered 

64 
12 
20 

Jul-Oct 2023  

Accord North Rd 

Wellington 
High needs extra care 56 Sept 2023-Mar 

2024 
WHG New College 

Wellington 
Retirement living  
Retirement bungalows 

64 
10 

Mar 2024 

Preferred 

Homes 
Stirchley 

Interchange 
Extra care (ability to include high 

needs) 
67 Early-Mid 2024 

Housing 21 Wellington Rd 

Arleston 
Extra care (ability to include high 

needs) 
70 Early-Mid 2024 

 

 

Page 162



We are one of the first Council’s to adopt a Housing for All Supplementary Planning 

Document enabling us to directly influence the standard, design and accessibility standards 

of new housing development.  This includes shaping S106 affordable housing provision both 

on site and through use of commuted sums to deliver highly specialist homes alongside 

general needs affordable housing.  An example of the type of scheme this intervention will 

deliver is the development of Haybridge Hall:- 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3.3. Delivering Directly 

As detailed in the Annual HIP Report we are delivering directly to meet market need via 
Nuplace and Telford & Wrekin Homes.   As of 31 March 2022, Nuplace’s housing 
portfolio comprises of 447 homes with a further 437 planned or in delivery, bringing 
the portfolio to 844 homes.  Telford & Wrekin Homes will deliver 50% of its portfolio at 
Local Housing Allowance rates as well as prioritising key groups including care leavers, key 
workers and veterans.    
 
Setting a market standard, Donnington Wood Way, is a development of 329 homes being 

delivered by Nuplace, Lovells and WHG.  An inter-generational, mixed tenure 

community, 57% of homes will be affordable including a 76 bed Extra Care facility and a 20 

bed supported living scheme. 

With a number of bespoke adapted properties already within our portfolio, work is also 
underway to support those providing foster care or shared lives to provide more 
suitable, adapted and/or larger accommodation through Nuplace to allow for sibling 
groups or more complex individuals to find local homes.   
 

While we remain non stock holding we have established the Council as a Registered 

Provider enabling us to deliver up to 200 new affordable homes accessing grant 

support from Homes England. This will help the Local Authority to bring forward the 

delivery of accommodation particularly in areas where the market is not sufficiently 

responding to meet identified demand.   

 

Haybridge Hall 

The original planning application 

for the redevelopment of 

Haybridge Hall would have seen 

the loss of the Hall building and 

its replacement with 4 

bungalows. As a building of 

significant local historical interest 

this was not supported. The 

Council, through an offsite 

Section 106 contribution were 

able to provide gap funding to 

retain the frontage and character 

of the hall and its redevelopment 

to create 10, much needed, 

modern retirement apartments for 

affordable rent. 

Page 163



 

5.4.4 Transforming our own Portfolio 

We are transforming our own property portfolio to meet changing housing and care 

needs, for example through proposals to redevelop Lakewood Court from a traditional care 

home to provide supported living accommodation. 

 

  

 

 

5.4.5 Creating New Communities & Supporting Regeneration 

We are also driving the creation of new communities investing c.£17m of Town Deal 

Funding matched by Council and private sector investment, to establish Town Centre 

living at Station Quarter in the heart of the Town.  Phase 1 will deliver over 200 new, 

sustainable, mixed tenure, super-connected homes but through the Council’s land 

assembly and investment into infrastructure is set to unlock the potential for a 

further 570  new, mixed tenure homes in the heart of Telford.  

Delivering new homes in the heart of our communities is not limited to Station Quarter.  

Through our £4.8m PiOHS investment we will also enable more accessible and 

affordable residential accommodation in our Borough Towns supporting the 

transformation and resilience of our High Streets.  

5.5.5 Addressing Homelessness 

Between March 2020 and March 2022 we have provided emergency accommodation to 

over 580 rough sleepers or those threatened with rough sleeping.  Through work with the 

Rough Sleeper Taskforce we have accommodated over 465 clients and prevented a 

further 460 from homelessness.  

We have also attracted c.£1.9m in external funding to deliver new accommodation and 

support to address Rough Sleeping and homelessness.  The investment will deliver 

additional Night Inn capacity and an intensive support hub for those transitioning to 

independent living and 23 Telford Housing First properties providing accommodation 

for former Rough Sleepers with wrap around support. 

Lakewood Court & Wellbeing Centre 

Conversion of a Residential Care 

Home to a supported living model for 

Adults with Learning Difficulties 

 6 independent living units 

 3 shared accommodation units 

 5 self-contained units with ensuite 

 2 self-contained units for respite 

 Landscaped, accessible grounds  

 Subject to planning, due for 

completion – Nov 2022 

Providing a model for future schemes, 

supporting service transformation and 

efficiencies across the care system. 

 

Page 164



  

 

 

Following the adoption of our new Housing Allocations Policy we have been trialling a 

new Nominations approach with our main Registered Providers.   Management of 

processes to access available property is now co-ordinated within the Housing Strategy & 

Commissioning Team to ensure supply is appropriately and fully utilised.  The new approach 

has seen over 300 nominations being made to RPs over the last 9 months and a 

reduction in our homelessness list by approximately 100 people over the last quarter. 

Recent examples include successful nominations into WHG developments at Park Road, 

Malinslee and Majestic Way, Aqueduct.  

Having priority nominations into accommodation has made a significant difference to the 

lives of individuals and families alike as demonstrated by the case studies below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study 1 
 

Mrs S was living in unsuitable private rented accommodation and because of severe 
COPD urgently needed ground floor living.  Through the new Nominations & Allocations 

process we referred Mrs S for a 2 bed bungalow within a sheltered housing 
scheme.  Nomination accepted and Mrs S has moved into suitable accommodation with a 

social landlord.   

Tim’s Story 

Following intensive outreach work Tim 

started to engage with services but due 

to his past tenancy history we struggled 

to find a housing solution for him.   

After working with Tim for over a year we 

began to see the possibilities that he 

could and wanted to manage his life, 

future and a home, with support 

A Telford Housing First property was 

his opportunity 

After four months Tim is extremely happy 

living in one of our first Housing First 

properties - managing his household 

finances and taking pride in his home.  

He takes joy in spending his money on 

household items instead of drugs and 

alcohol, engages with his neighbours and 

now has a keen interest in his garden.  

He has re-established a relationship with 

his brother who is a positive influence.     

 

Page 165



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.5.6 Supporting Safer, Stronger Communities 

Delivering new homes on stalled sites - Through an initial investment of c.£2m we are 

investing in bringing vacant property and stalled sites back into use.  Often these 

properties/sites have fallen into significant disrepair, were acquired at the top of the market 

or cost of land conditions or refurbishment make development unviable.  Such sites cause a 

blight across communities whether this is empty properties, a boarded up pub or derelict 

site.  An example of a recent investment will see the delivery of bungalows on the site of the 

Portley Road flats in Dawley.  

As part of our Safer, Stronger Communities programme we have also invested directly in 

tackling long term empties and poor private rented properties particularly in hotspots for 

ASB/crime.  In Brookside this has contributed to a 52% reduction in crime. 

Where necessary we have addressed market failure acquiring directly to bring property into 

public ownership addressing poor private sector management practice and supporting the 

local community.  In Dawley we acquired Stamford/Terrace Lodge – a development of 17 

units with a significant history of crime and ASB.  Now managed by the Council we are 

investing in refurbishing the accommodation and raising standards.   

5.5.7 Wider Impacts of Investment 

As a Council we have made a commitment to achieve zero carbon from our own 

operations by 2030 and an aspiration to achieve the same across the Borough.  We are 

driving this through the development being delivered by Nuplace including our 

Southwater Way low carbon homes and exemplar development in Station Quarter. 

We are also investing in retrofitting our Council owned temporary accommodation 

portfolio targeting an initial 10 properties.  We will use the refresh of the Telford & 

Wrekin Local Plan to ensure new development delivers against our targets.   

Through maximising social value from procurement of local contractors and use of  
local supply chain the investment we are making into housing will deliver local 
employment opportunity and economic growth.   
 

5.6 Further Intervention  

We are driving change locally but we know there is more to do with still significant levels of 

deprivation and inequality in some of our communities, a growing number of older and 

vulnerable individuals and families needing accessible and adaptable homes, and some 

residents facing financial difficulties making housing choices unaffordable.  Challenges 

include: 

Case Study 2 
 

Miss R was living with her sister after leaving a DV relationship. Situation became 
unsustainable when the perpetrator of the abuse found her address.  

During this time Miss R's son became the subject of a Child Protection plan and 
required a home move.  

Working alongside Social Services and Strengthening Families, Miss R was placed on a 
payment plan to reduce her rent arrears. and was nominated for an Accord 

property.  Miss R and her son are now extremely happy in their new home where they 
are thriving and able to make a fresh start 

Page 166



- A growing and ageing population with 27% growth in 65-84 age group and the 

highest increase over 98%, expected in 85+ group compared to a growth rate across 

England of 47%. 

- 30,600 of the population report a long term health problem or disability of which 

10,400 between 18-64 report a moderate to severe disability  
- A need for 600 additional affordable homes each year with significant net losses 

from the social housing sector through sales, redevelopment and right to buy. 

- Over 10% non-decent homes borough-wide 

- Growing numbers of people contacting the Council in housing need    

- Former New Town Estates now in diverse ownership in need of significant 

investment as part of a major regeneration programme  

   

Through the work detailed above the market is responding well to delivering both general 

needs affordable housing and the required supply of extra care accommodation and 

supported accommodation for adults with learning difficulties.  

However building on the 2020 Supported & Specialist Housing Strategy evidence base with 

data on the accommodation demand we are currently facing and are predicting and our 

intelligence from better homes for all, there are a number of areas in which market 

intervention is needed.  This includes: 

- Scheme based supported accommodation for Care Leavers and young 

homelessness - analysis of those in our care from age 14 shows c.134 care leavers 

will reach 18 by 2027 with an estimated need for 60 units of supported 

accommodation by 2030 the majority from 2024.   

- One bed affordable ‘move on’ accommodation – to meet the needs of a number 

of our vulnerable groups including homeless, individuals with mental health issues 

and move on accommodation for young people and care leavers.  For example there 

is currently a need for over 100 units for those coming through our housing service. 

- Non scheme based accommodation for older people – options for those who do 

not want or need to access extra care living  

- Highly adapted accommodation for individuals with physical disabilities – to 

meet the needs e.g. for bariatric care and to accommodate our Transforming Care 

cohort.   

- Foster carers and ‘shared lives’ – responding to the findings of a recent survey of 

carers highlighting opportunities to extend/adapt or access larger accommodation to 

enable carers to take larger sibling groups and/or more complex individuals. 

- Supporting Independent Living – providing additional investment to support people 

to live independently, at home, longer 

- Schemes to improve the standard of private rented housing, for example by 

supporting the growth of community based organisations within private housing 

sector, increasing choice for residents. 

The £10m Housing Intervention Fund provides an opportunity to target investment to 

unlock opportunities to deliver against these priorities.  The investment will be flexible 

targeted to support delivery whether via pump prime or viability gap funding specific 

schemes, to adapt properties including those delivered by Nuplace, provide grant or loan 

finance, and to match investment through other Council, Homes England and private sector 

investment.  Proposals will be considered on a business case basis.   

 

 

Page 167



Three initial areas of investment include: 

5.6.1 Affordable & Accessible Homes Programme 

While our performance in housing delivery is strong, delivery can be challenging in an area 

where many sites are brownfield in nature.  This has left a number of sites in the borough 

lying vacant and ‘stalled’.  Often located in the heart of communities including some of our 

most disadvantaged these sites are a blight on neighbourhoods and hotspots for ASB.  They 

also present a valuable opportunity to delivery new housing and kick start regeneration if 

development constraints can be overcome.  

Using the Council’s recent Registered Provider status the investment fund will be 

used to support delivery of an initial 50 new affordable, specialist and supported 

housing targeting stalled development sites in the heart of our communities.  The 

investment will be used to viability gap fund the acquisition and/or market delivery of sites 

providing accommodation that directly matches the need identified by our adult and 

children’s services and addressing sites that are currently a blight on neighbourhoods.  The 

Fund will be used flexibly alongside Stalled Sites funding and Affordable Homes Grant.   

Subject to final business case the first investment aims to deliver new homes for care 

leavers with wrap around support, and a highly adapted property for adults with 

disabilities.  Accommodation is proposed to be 1 bed self-contained apartments with some 

shared space to allow the delivery of 24/7 support to meet the needs of this vulnerable group 

and move them towards independence over a target period of up to 2 years.  

A pipeline of sites will deliver further accommodation to meet the needs identified, tailored to 

suit each development.  This will include a focus on delivery of 1 bed self-contained units 

critical to provide move on across a range of groups. 

5.6.2 Telford Home Loan Scheme 

The proposed Telford Home Loan Scheme will support people who currently live or work in 
the borough onto the housing ladder including first time buyers, and to address the standard 
and energy efficiency of existing properties.     
 
Through a partnership with an experienced social lender we will provide financial support via 
a range of loan finance tailored to individual’s circumstances.  This is anticipated to include 
support for: 
 

- Home improvements to ensure properties reach at least Decent Homes standard 
- To support repair and refurbishment of empty properties  
- To provide that extra, final investment for first time buyers to get on the housing 

ladder  
- To support households to increase the energy efficiency addressing fuel poverty 

and zero carbon 
- Support landlords to make repairs or bring properties to national minimum energy 

efficiency standards 
 
5.6.2 Community Housing  

In a number of our communities particularly New Town Estates we have seen a huge growth 

in the private rented market with property disposals by Registered Providers and post right to 

buy.  While there are many reputable landlords and actions set out in the BHFA Report seek 

to address ‘rogue’ landlords, we are seeing a more transient population as a result, growth in 

HMOs and a number of properties becoming magnets for ASB and crime.    

Page 168



Growing community sector ownership or management of housing in these areas provides 

opportunities for local people to access local homes with support, for local employment in 

the refurbishment and maintenance and to enable the growth of new, local housing 

providers.   

We will use our investment to support the development of community housing 

models which may include acquisition by Telford & Wrekin Homes and community 

management, or viability gap funding acquisition, based on business case.   

 

5.7 Conclusions & Next Steps  
 
Through the measures we are already taking and the use of the new Intervention Fund we 

will shape the development market and intervene where it is failing.  We will ensure best use 

is made of existing provision, broker strong relationships and enable additional development 

through our planning powers, via Nuplace - and leveraging our land and property assets. 

Further proposals for investment from the Fund will be considered on a business case basis 

where they support meeting the needs of our residents and delivery of our housing priorities.   

To ensure we are considering all opportunities to drive more affordable home ownership 

options, over the next 12 months we will review opportunities for the Council to return to 

social housing stock holding, at scale, either as a Council or via Nuplace.  A further 

report will be brought forward as appropriate. 

We will also work with our Registered Provider partners on their long term disposal 

programmes to minimise losses of former public housing stock and the impact significant 

disposal to private rented sector can have in key estates. 

We will continue to lobby Government to invest in housing renewal matching our 

commitment to levelling up and addressing the legacy of the New Town in key estates. 

 
6. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

  

7. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Report prepared by: Katherine Kynaston, Director – Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure. 

 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 19 May 2022 
 
Events and Festivals 2022 - 24 
 
REPORT OF Director, Communities, Customer and Commercial 
Services  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – Cllr Carolyn Healy, Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural and Historic Environment and 
Cultural services 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 

 
1.1 This report outlines the Telford & Wrekin Council events and festival 
calendar for 2022 and a proposed outline plan for 2023. The annual events 
calendar runs from January to December each year, and is a key part of the 
Council’s programme to protect, care and invest to create a better borough.  
 
1.2 A £1m budget from reserve funding was announced for the delivery of the 
existing programme to include additional national events such as the Jubilee 
and Commonwealth Games. An additional £1m from the 2022/23 Council’s 
Investment Programme has now been agreed to support new programme 
development and the continued expansion of the existing events.   
 
1.3 As a result of sustained increased investment in the events and festivals 
programme, our communities, local businesses and organisations are 
benefiting from an increased headline events offer, more exciting and 
inspiring content and more opportunities to participate, including communities 
producing their own events.  This is delivering an increased programme of 
activity across the borough, bringing increased animation and positivity, as 
well as increased economic impact.    
 
1.4 The last two years of the pandemic has undoubtedly had a huge effect on 
the wellbeing of communities. The lack of social contact and ability to be 
engaged in fun, entertaining and creative activity has had dramatic 
consequences. Where we have been able to stage events during the 
pandemic, it is clear that the desire to be part of those social activities is high. 
Now that we are emerging from the pandemic restrictions, and with a 
doubling of the investment into events for the next 2 years, we are delighted 
to once again be able to swiftly progress on delivering a range of exciting, 
attractive and engaging events.  
 
1.5 The calendar takes into account these recent additional investments into 
the programme and particularly focuses on enabling the community to 
celebrate and get involved in the year’s special commemorative events, 

Page 171

Agenda Item 9



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

including the Queens Platinum Jubilee in June and the Commonwealth 
Games (Birmingham) in July/August. 
 
1.6 The principle is always to build on what has been delivered previously, 
keeping the content fresh and exciting, inspiring and participatory.    
 
1.7 By agreeing the main content of the events calendar for the next two 
years, much needed planning time will be realised for the culture and events 
team, allowing for research into a wider variety of content and programme for 
the borough and the sourcing of additional resource and support funding.  
     

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members support the content of the events and festivals programme for 
Year 2022/23 and planned outline programme for 2023/24.  
 
That Cabinet authorises the Director Communities, Customer and 
Commercial Services, after consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change, Green Spaces, Natural and Historic Environment and 
Cultural Services and The Leader (responsibility for Headline Events) to take 
all required action and utilise funding totalling £2m from the Investment in 
Council Priorities Fund to support implementation of the events and festivals 
programme.  
 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes These proposals form part of the 
Council’s vision to ‘protect, care and 
invest to create a better borough’ and 
contribute to a number of the 
Council’s priorities including: 
- Every child, young person and 

adult lives well in their community; 

- Everyone benefits from a thriving 

economy; 

- All neighbourhoods are a great 

place to live. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

No The events programme is intended to 
be accessible to all 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

Delivery will be over next two calendar years 
and to end of 2023. Planning will be underway 
for 2024 in early 2023. Key milestones are the 

Page 172



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

individual events and festivals listed on the 
attached appendix. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes A further £1million has been made 
available through the Council’s 
Investment Programme for 2022/23 
for events. This is in addition to the 
£1million already earmarked in 
reserves for the current events 
programme. The events outlined in 
this report will be met from this 
funding.MLB 14.4.22 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes There are no specific legal 
implications arising from this report 
but advice will be given on specific 
legal matters should they arise. 
 
EH 14.4.22 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  Reputational and financial if unable 
to deliver outdoor events due to 
circumstances beyond our control 
e.g. adverse weather conditions, 
pandemic restrictions. Postponement 
is an option.  

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact – activities take 
place across the borough.  

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 

 
4.1 The Events and Festivals calendar has grown significantly over the past 
10 years reaching a milestone in 2018 with Telford @50 with a year of 
celebration and record numbers of audience. 
 
4.2 In 2018 a number of new events were developed as part of the 
celebration of Telford’s 50th year. These events include The Balloon Festival, 
the Community Pride Awards and Telford Carnival. Communities were given 
the opportunity to develop their own local events through grant funding, 
engagement of local people and organisations was significant and 
participation rates were hugely increased. The overall wellbeing and 
‘feelgood factor’ for our communities of the events programme was 
overwhelming.   
 
4.3 As a result of these successes and the recognition of the impact on 
community health and wellbeing, community pride and economic and social 
benefits; investment for the events programme has been increased.  The 
Legacy of Telford @ 50 also included additional events in the programme and 
community grants opportunities e.g. VE75 grants in 2020 and Platinum 
Jubilee grants in 2022. 
 

Page 173



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

4.4 With the lifting of restrictions, the 2022 events calendar has begun in 
earnest and the popularity and experiential nature of the events to date is 
unmistakeable. Telford people love their events and are ready to get out and 
enjoy once more.     
 
The Events Calendar 2022  
 
Love Telford March 19th  
This was a new event celebrating the diversity and connectivity of 
communities in Telford & Wrekin. Promoting unity and harmony and giving 
our diverse community groups a platform to share their cultures through 
entertainment, food and demonstrations.  Activity included a Bombay brass 
band, steel drums, Caribbean and Asian food, beat box music graffiti and 
seed planting workshops. The plight of the people of Ukraine was highlighted 
including the signing of messages on the Ukrainian flag and a public 
collection.   
 

   
 
Telford Community Pride Awards March 31st 
The community, sponsors and dignitaries turned out in force to be part of the 
biennial celebration of our community heroes and stars who make such a 
difference to our borough, but often go unrecognised. 21 awards were given 
out to people and organisations nominated by the local community. 
 

   
 
Spring into St Georges April 23rd  
This year was a spectacle of historical English entertainment from jousting 
and axe throwing to battle classes for young people, from crafters and 
makers to eco-friendly vendors, from Norman enactment camps to archers. 
Feedback for the day was outstanding with more than 5000 people attending, 
including a large percentage of out of area audiences. Our approach to waste 
at events has taken up the challenge of eliminating single use plastic, and we 
trailed a reusable deposit cup scheme and took an ‘educational approach’ to 
recycling every piece of waste including our food waste Nothing would end up 
in landfill. .   
    

Page 174



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

   
 
High Street Celebrations May 14th and May 21st  
 
Last year’s events to drive footfall back to our covid beleaguered high streets 
was a great success, seeing footfall rise by 69%, and so we return this year 
over two weekends in May. A range of roving street entertainment, music, 
pop up markets and free activities will adorn the 6 main town high streets, 
Newport, Oakengates, Wellington, Ironbridge, Dawley and Madeley plus 
Southwater.  Working alongside the Town Councils to design each event, 
businesses and local community groups have been invited to take part.  
 
In addition, in partnership with Get Telford Walking, and building on existing 
local walking festivals and events, we are planning local walks as part of the 
high street programme, as an extra activity families can take part in to 
introduce them to their local area. This will inform the development of a wider 
Telford & Wrekin walk festival, which is supported through the council 
investment programme.  
 
 

            
 
 
Spitfire Tour May 14 &15  
RAF Cosford will be touring a full size Spitfire airplane in the West Midlands 
and beyond over the summer. They will be in Southwater for the weekend 
during our High Street Celebration event.  
 

  

Page 175



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  
Queens Platinum Jubilee Celebrations June 2nd to June 5th 
 
This year marks the 70th Year of Queen Elizabeth II accession to the throne. A 
significant year for the country and one we want to make sure the whole 
community can celebrate.  We have been developed a number of work 
strands. 
 
Queens Canopy Project 
48 new trees have been planted across the borough in 27 parishes. 144 other 
standards (mostly ward/parish funded) 600 hedging whips, all logged as part 
of the canopy project. 
 
 Gifts for School Age Children  
37000 school age children will receive a commemorative medal badge this 
year to mark the Queens Platinum Jubilee.  
 
Community Grant Scheme 
Grant submissions for holding Jubilee events were sought in January and 
shortlisted in February. 77 applications totally over £113,000 were received.  
 
49 organisations receiving funding from Telford & Wrekin Council’s The 
Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Celebration Fund to hold community events across 
the Borough totalling just over £70,000.   
 
The range of celebration events include afternoon teas, community films, 
music and entertainment events, fun days and summer fetes, Jubilee Big 
Lunches and celebrations of the Commonwealth.   
 
 Planting Schemes 
A sculptural 6 x 8m steel crown to be located at the Town Park/Southwater 
boundary, will be a centrepiece of planting scheme 
 

     
 
Jubilee Event Makers  
Recruited 30+ Jubilee Event Makers (JEMS) already for  2022 – volunteer 
roles to support headline and community events across the borough 
 
 
 

Page 176



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
Queens Platinum Jubilee Celebrations June 2nd to June 5th 
 
Headline Events  
 
Thursday 2nd June National Beacons 

  
 
Beacons or light will be lit across the borough. Iconic buildings and 
structures across the borough towns plus Southwater One will be lit purple 
for the evening as part of the national event.  
  
The Summit of the Wrekin will have a sky scanner beaming skyward. A 
torch lit parade of people will process to the summit, drone filmed as a 
continual stream of light up the hill.   
 
Friday 3rd June Community Celebrations.   
Communities will begin a weekend of celebrations, community picnics and 
street parties, moments of thanksgiving and fun events.  
The Council are waiving fees for Road Closures over the Jubilee bank 
holiday weekend for community street parties. 
High street businesses window dressing across the towns for High Street 
Celebration Days 14 and 21 May running up to the Jubilee weekend. 
  
Saturday 4th June Community Picnic  
Community events continue across the borough.  
Big Screen in Telford Town Park QEII arena celebrating the weekend with 
family films and the broadcast of national events including the Buckingham 
Palace Jubilee concert. Pop up food and drink market to buy your picnics 
and come and join the ‘street party’ celebrations.  
 
Sunday 5th June The Jubilee Concert  
Jubilee Concert in the Telford Town Park QEII arena,  
Community Performers, Telford In Harmony Orchestra, Birmingham 
Conservatoire musicians. Pop up food and drink market. Proms style finale.   

   
Page 177



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

Armed Forces Day 25th June  
Staged once again in Broad Oaks Park in Donnington, this is a family 
orientated event for our Armed forces families and the wider community, with 
a wide range of entertainment, staged performance, fairground rides, displays 
and interactive family activities.  
 

 
Telford Carnival July 17th   
‘We are Telford’ is the theme of this year’s multicultural community carnival 
event. The community will have the opportunity to create their own pieces to 
push, pull and carry along the route around the town centre and into the 
Town Park Arena. Costumes and colourful parade groups will be created 
based on the community themes and origins. The Arena will be full of 
activities, demonstrations, and performance throughout the day.  
 
 

  
The Commonwealth Games 2022  July  
 
The Queens Baton Relay July 19th 2022 (route confirmation embargoed 
until May 2022 tbc )  
Telford will host the first relay leg of the Commonwealth Games Queens 
Baton Relay in the West Midlands on 19th July.  
The Baton will travel from a sunrise on top of the Wrekin, through Ironbridge 
by coracle, elephant and steam engine, up to the town park for a schools 
based sports day and carnival procession, over to Lilleshall to meet 
gymnasts and athletes competing in the Games and to Harper Adams 
University where it will be carried by a state of the art tractor and crop robot.     
 
Live Site July 28th to August 8th 
Southwater will host a big screen site for the duration of games time, 
broadcasting the ceremonial highlights and big events of the Commonwealth 
Games. The screen will also be a backdrop for additional summer events 
and performance.  
As part of the council investment programme, we are currently out to 
procurement for a large outdoor screen for our headline events going 
forward and the live site is predicted to be the first outing for the new screen.  

Page 178



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

    
 
 
Telford Balloon Festival August 26 to August 28  
Now in its new confirmed annual calendar spot of August bank holiday the 
balloon festival returns for its 4th year.  
 
This year, Friday night will kick off the weekend, with music and a new night 
time spectacle for audiences.  Saturday will be its usual high-energy mix of 
spectacular performance, activities, balloon demonstrations, community 
stage and music, food and drink, the popular night glow finale. Sunday is a 
more relaxed affair for picnicking and enjoying the park. Balloon launches will 
be morning and evening, weather permitting.    
 

      
 
The Festival Of Imagination, Ironbridge - September 
The World Heritage site based festival in Ironbridge will return for a 4th year. 
Originally funded through an Arts Council Cultural destinations bid the festival 
continues to be developed in partnership with community organisations and 
businesses in the gorge world heritage site. A mixed programme of events 
from walks and talks to poetry and performance, to food and drink and the 
regular open day for businesses. This year an exceptional cultural hub will be 
established at Dale End park, hosting a beautiful Speigel Tent – an art deco 
theatre and event space that will present a programme of very special 
entertainment including performance, dance and dining events.   
 

Page 179



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

  
    
 
Telford Film Festival 
Returning for a 4th year the film festival works in partnership with community 
organisations and venues to produce an eclectic mix of film genres, old and 
new, with themed events, unusual locations the film festival seeks to broaden 
appeal, feed some nostalgia and increase audiences.  This year the festival is 
fully funded through grant funding. 
 
Civic Events 
Annual Events we mark are Remembrance Events November, Civic Carol 
Concert December   
 
Christmas 2022 
Discussions are in progress to plan a new end of year celebration involving 
light and special effects.  Southwater and elements of the Town Park will be 
decorated in festive style.  Elements of a festive winter fayre will be installed 
closer to Christmas and there will festive activities for Christmas week.   

 

  
 
Love Telford March 2023 
Year two will be establishing a cultural event for the Telford & Wrekin 
calendar that embraces our diversity and demonstrates our unity. The Hindu 
Festival of Holi was delayed from taking place at the park this year and we 
hope to bring elements of this to Love Telford.  
 
4.2 Commercial Events Telford  

Page 180



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

There is an increasing number of commercial events now choosing to stage 
events in Telford demonstrating the attractiveness of the location, the 
audience and the support received from council teams. These events bring a 
much needed boost to the visitor and local economy.  
 
July 1st Tears For Fears with support Alison Moyet  
July 2nd Tom Grennan with support Ella Henderson  
July 3rd Bryan Adams 
23rd July Fake Festival Telford 
14th-16th October Historic Rally Festival 
 
4.3 
The Place Theatre  
In addition to all of the outdoor events programme we do have a 364 day 
calendar of activity at the Place theatre in Oakengates.  The theatre hosts a 
multi genre programme of touring music, theatre, comedy, dance and special 
interest shows. The theatre was closed for over a year as a result of Covid 
but is now once more welcoming audiences back in good numbers.   
 
4.4 
The Telford & Wrekin Events Calendar 2023/24  
The Culture and Events Team have begun to plan out the coming year so 
that we can prepare further in advance and free up time to attract more 
resource such as sponsorship and funding, research new exciting content, 
plus create more time to consult with and engage the community in the 
development of our events and new ideas.  
 
The Outline Programme includes the following; 
Love Telford 
Spring into St Georges 
Armed Forces Day 
Balloon Festival  
Festival of Imagination 
Christmas Celebrations   
 
New for 2023 
Big Top in the Park (large scale live theatre venue in the Park) 
A 1990s concert 
Walking Festival  
 Telford Comedy Festival  

Big Screen for Outdoor events (currently in tender process) 
 

5. COMMUNICATIONS  

5.1 Telford & Wrekin Council are producing a huge calendar of headline 
events each year and we have recognised that we need to have more 
prominence for the Council brand and be bolder in the ownership of the 
programme and its incredible impact.  
 

Page 181



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

There are a number of ways this is being done, including a range of 
approaches are being taken through social media to increase our 
engagement which is traditionally very high for events through virtual 
channels, using more engaging live content.   We are also creating more 
banners, flags, props and branded items for events.  
 
6. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
These proposals form part of the Council’s vision to ‘protect, care and invest 
to create a better borough’ and contribute to a number of the Council’s 
priorities including: 
- Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community; 

- Everyone benefits from a thriving economy; 

- All neighbourhoods are a great place to live.  

The events and festivals calendar is developed to appeal to the widest 
possible range of the community. The majority of our events are delivered as 
free to access and outdoors. Each year we aim produce ‘bigger and better’ 
events with new content, excitement and surprises, but the purpose is always 
to be inclusive.  
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
Not applicable  
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Not applicable  
 
 
Report prepared by Psyche Hudson, Culture & Wellbeing Services 
Manager, Telephone: 01952 382362 
 
 
Appendix 1 
Events Planner 2022 

 
January  
 

February  
 

March  
Mayoral Ball  
Love Telford  
Community Pride 
Awards  

April  
Spring into St Georges 
Day  
 
 

May 
High Street Celebrations  
Mayor Making AGM 

June 
Queens Platinum Jubilee  
Armed Forces Day  
 

Page 182



Events & Festivals Programme 2022/23 Updated 9 May 2022 
 

July 
Telford Carnival  
Queens Baton Relay  
CWG 2022 Live Site 
Southwater  
Commercial Concerts in 
the Park  

August 
Telford Balloon Festival  
 
Telford Summer 
programme  
 

September  
Festival of Imagination, 
Ironbridge 
Telford Film Festival  
 

October  
Black History Month  
Telford Film Festival  
 

November 
Armistice/Festival of 
Remembrance  
World Cup 2022 

December  
Civic Carol Concert  
Christmas Festival  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Events Planner 2023 
 

January  
 

February  
 

March  
Mayoral Ball  
Love Telford  
Walking Festival tbc  
 

April  
Spring into St Georges 
Day  
 
 

May 
High Street Celebrations  
Mayor Making AGM 

June 
Armed Forces Day  
Big Top – Telford 
Theatre @the Park  

July 
Tel Fest tbc 
Concerts in the Park  

August 
Telford Balloon Festival  
Telford Summer 
programme  
 

September  
Festival of Imagination, 
Ironbridge 
 

October  
Black History Month  
Telford Film Festival  
 

November 
Armistice/Festival of 
Remembrance  
 

December  
Civic Carol Concert  
Christmas Festival  
 

 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 19 May 2022 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE – 26 May 2022 
 
THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021/22 
 
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND MONITORING 
OFFICER  
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR RAE EVANS 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 It is proposed that Cabinet agrees the Annual Governance Statement 

2021/22 (“the AGS”) attached at Appendix 1 prior to the statement 
being signed by the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive.  The 
AGS will then be reported to the Audit Committee for review and 
approval and will accompany the 2021/22 accounts. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet notes and agrees the Annual 

Governance Statement 2021/22, attached at Appendix 1 to this 
report; and 

 
2.2 It is recommended that the Audit Committee notes and approves 

the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 attached at Appendix 
A to this report. 

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes The Governance Framework 
encompasses the whole Council and 
all of the Council’s priorities. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

No  

Page 185

Agenda Item 10



TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

The Annual Governance Statement should be 
signed and ready to accompany the 2021/22 
accounts when reported to Audit Committee. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

No  The governance framework includes 
several financial elements, including 
the Council’s financial regulations, 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
and the Treasury Management 
Strategy.  These provide the financial 
parameters, systems, processes and 
guidelines within which the Council 
must operate and, as such, assist in 
the delivery of good governance.  
Strong financial management also 
supports the delivery of value for 
money in ensuring economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the 
Council’s decision making and 
processes. 
 
The Council’s external auditors give 
an opinion on the financial 
statements of the authority and a 
value for money conclusion in their 
opinion on the accounts and in their 
Annual Audit Findings Report each 
year which provides further 
assurance. 
KC 13/04/22 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes/No  The Council is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Audit 
and Accounts Regulations 2015.  
Regulation 6 of these Regulations 
sets out that the authority must 
undertake a review of the 
effectiveness of its internal control 
systems on an annual basis and 
prepare an annual governance 
statement. The annual governance 
statement must be approved in 
advance of the annual statement of 
account. 
AL – 13/04/2022 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  Good governance supports the 
identification and management of 
risks and robust control 
arrangements. 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes Borough-wide impact 

Page 186



PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (“the Regulations”), 

the Council is required to produce an Annual Governance Statement 
(“AGS”).  It is best practice for the AGS to be signed by the Leader of 
the Council and the Chief Executive.  This statement should be 
approved in advance of, and accompany, the annual statement of 
accounts. 

 
4.2  The AGS for 2021/22 is attached at Appendix 1 and has been 

developed based upon the requirements of the Regulations and 
CIPFA/SOLACE guidance.  The AGS includes a draft action plan 
(Annex 1) to ensure that the Council continues to improve its existing 
governance arrangements. A final version of the action plan will be 
presented to the Audit Committee for final approval in May 2022. 

 
4.3 The action plan attached to the 2020/21 AGS (implemented during 

2021/22) has been reviewed and updated to reflect current progress.  
Any actions still in progress from the 2020/21 plan have been 
incorporated into the 2021/22 plan. 

 
4.4 The AGS and the Local Code of Good Governance outlines that the 

Council has a robust governance framework in place but that it is 
continually reviewing procedures to maintain and demonstrate good 
corporate governance.  It is supported by risk management and sound 
systems of internal control which are paramount in the financially 
constrained circumstances within which the Council operates.  The 
Council can be assured that, during 2021/22, including during 
organisational changes and the continued response to the global 
Covid-19 pandemic, the existing or revised governance arrangements 
have continued to support proper and appropriate governance.  Where 
required, changes to procedures have been agreed by SMT and 
changes to the Constitution have been agreed by full Council via the 
Council’s Constitution Committee. 

 
4.5 Assurance for the AGS is provided by all areas of the Council and 

externally by the following:- 
 

a) Leader of the Council and Chief Executive – who sign the AGS to 
acknowledge their responsibilities; 

b) Senior management – the Chief Executive, Executive Directors 
and Directors; 

c) Chief Financial Officer 
d) Monitoring Officer 
e) Members – Scrutiny arrangements, Standards Committee, Audit 

Committee and other Regulatory Committees; 
f) Internal Audit; 

Page 187



g) Partners; 
h) External Audit; and 
i) Other external inspection agencies 

 
4.6 The 2021/22 AGS sets out adherence to the Council’s governance 

arrangements that were in operation during the period 1 April 2021 to 
31 March 2022 and measures the effectiveness of them. 

 
4.7 The Council’s current Code of Good Governance was approved on 27 

May 2021 to reflect the CIPFA/SOLACE framework including any 
revised principles, guidance and good practice received in the 
preceding year. A revision of the code will be presented to Audit 
Committee in May 2022.  

 
 
5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Not applicable. 
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
May 2021. 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
 
Rob Montgomery, Audit & Governance Lead Manager, Telephone: 01952 
383103 
 
Tracey Drummond, Principal Auditor, Telephone: 01952 383105 

Page 188



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Annual Governance Statement 
 

2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 189



2 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 the Council is required to produce an Annual 
Governance Statement to accompany the Statement of Accounts which is approved by the 
Audit Committee.  

 
             The Annual Governance Statement outlines that the Council has been adhering to the Local 

Code of Corporate Governance, continually reviewing policies and procedures to maintain 
and demonstrate good corporate governance and that it has in place robust systems of 
internal control. 

 
             The Council has adopted the Code of Corporate Governance which is consistent with the 

principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework – Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government.   

 

 
 
 
CIPFA’s Principles of Good Governance  

 

2. Standards of Governance 
 

2.1 The Council expects all of its members, officers, partners and contractors to adhere to the 
highest standards of public service with particular reference to the employee and Members’ 
Code of Conduct, Constitution, Corporate Vision, Priorities and Vision as well as applicable 
statutory requirements. 

 
 

Page 190



3 
 

3. Scope of Responsibility 
 

3.1 Telford & Wrekin Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards. The Council needs to demonstrate that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and 
effectively to secure continuous improvement.  

 
3.2 To meet this responsibility, the Council puts in place proper governance arrangements for 

overseeing what it does including putting in place proper arrangements for the governance 
of its affairs including risk management, the requirements of regulations and ensuring the 
effective exercise of its functions. These arrangements are intended to make sure that the 
Council does the right things, in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, open and 
accountable manner. The Council takes into consideration all systems, processes, policies, 
cultures and values that direct and control the way in which we work and through which we 
account, engage and lead our communities.   

 

4.    The Governance Framework 
 

4.1 The governance framework allows the Council to monitor how they are achieving their 
strategic aims and ambitions and how this contributes to the delivery of its vision, priorities  
and values: 

 
 

 
 
 
4.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 

manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve priorities 
and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to 
appropriately identify, quantify and manage the risks to the achievement of the Council’s 
priorities, objectives and policies. 

 

5. Review of Effectiveness 
 

5.1 Telford & Wrekin Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the 
effectiveness of the governance arrangements including the system of internal control.  The 
review of the effectiveness is informed by:- 

 

Page 191



4 
 

 
 
5.2      The Council has faced continued challenges during 2021/22 particularly in respect to the 

ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.    
 
  The pandemic has meant changes to working practices which have required a greater degree 

of flexibility and risk based decision making at lower levels in the authority. However changes 
have been made within the boundaries of good governance.  

 
  The Council continues to deliver services to its community using new and developing 

practices. Underpinning this is support/instruction from central government and continued 
risk management from the corporate Gold Group.  

 
5.3  The Council recognises the ongoing importance of information governance and formalised 

its Information Governance Framework. The main focus of the Information Governance Team 
in 2021/22 has been to: 

 

 Ensure the Council’s continued compliance with the requirements of the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) / Data Protection Act 2018 

 Updating relevant policies and procedures 

 Support on the prevention and investigation of data breaches 

 Provide advice and guidance in relation to new/revised way of working adopted by 
Council services  

 
  The Information Governance Team has continued to report to the Audit Committee and 

Senior Management Team during the year including information on responses to information 
rights requests and data security breaches. During 2021/22 no enforcement action has been 
taken by the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) against the Council in respect to data 
breaches. 

 

Page 192



5 
 

 5.4 The Chief Executive, Executive Directors, Directors and Service Delivery Managers have 
signed annual assurance certificates confirming that the governance framework has been 
operating within their areas of responsibility, subject to the actions outlined in Annex 1. 
Additional assurance has been requested for 2021/22 from the Senior Management Team 
and Service Delivery Managers in respect to controls/risk management measures that have 
been in place during the year. Internal Audit plan to undertake sample testing of completed 
certificates to provide additional assurance that adequate controls/risk management 
measures have been operating in 2021/22. 

 
 5.5 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require a review of the effectiveness of the system 

of internal control. This review is informed by the work of Internal Audit, management, other 
internal assurance services and the External Auditors’ review. The Internal Audit Annual 
Report 2021/2022 will set out the Internal Audit opinion.  

 
 5.6 The Council has been advised on the implications of the review of the effectiveness of the 

governance framework by Cabinet, Standards Committee, Audit Committee, Scrutiny, Senior 
Managers, Internal Audit and external review. The Chief Internal Auditor concludes that the 
review of the governance arrangements provides a reasonable level of assurance that these 
arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance 
framework.  

 
 Internal Audit Work 
 
 One of Internal Audits key objectives, as detailed in the Internal Audit Charter is ‘To review 

the effectiveness of the governance, risk management and control processes of the Council 
to aid improvement, provide a level of assurance and an opinion on them to the Council.’
  

 The work of Internal Audit is based on risk and the scope of each audit assignment, as a 
minimum, includes assessment of the governance, risk management and control 
arrangements put in place by management.  

 
 Despite some resource challenges, Internal Audit work have completed 51% of the revised 

risk based Annual Internal Audit Plan. 
 
 Internal Audit have ensured the Chair/Audit Committee and Senior Management Team have 

been kept informed of audit resource/work throughout the year. 
 
 
 Other Sources of Assurance 
 
 As stated above, reliance has been placed on other sources of assurance in 2021/22 with 

respect to the Chief Internal Auditors opinion. Other sources of assurance have been 
obtained from in year activity but also by reflecting on past opinions and the basis of these. 

 
 2021/22 has seen the Council consistently recognised as a well performing Council by a 

number of external bodies. Below is a summary of the recognition received. 
 
 The Local Government Association (LGA) peer review panel were very impressed with the 

Council and how it is run. They reported: 
 

“The council can be very proud of what it is achieving, with it clearly being very ambitious, 
top-performing in key areas and striving constantly to deliver for local people.”  

 
“Telford & Wrekin fights for Telford and Wrekin’ is a strong theme that came across during 
the course of our work, particularly from partner organisations.”  

Page 193



6 
 

 
 The Council was named Cooperative Council of the Year in July 2021 by the LGA. 
 
 In September 2021, the Council were named Council of the Year by the Association for Public 

Service Excellence (APSE). 
 
 The Council’s Executive Director for Children’s Services was named Corporate Director of 

the Year at the MJ awards. This followed the Council’s children services outstanding 
inspection by Ofsted in 2020. 

 
 The Council’s Adult Social Care team were rated ‘excellent’ during a peer review by the 

Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS). ADASS stated “Telford has 
exceptional adult social care operational delivery and partnerships relationships and is in a 
strong position to position itself as the leader of the population health, economic restoration 
and maximising the digital inclusion offer at the local place”. 

 
 In addition, assurance has been provided by the following: 
 

- Telford & Wrekin Council has a sound track record in respect to how it is run. This is 
important to note and is reflected in the 2021/22 audit opinion given. General risk 
management identifies ‘likelihood’ as a key determinant of the level of risk associated with 
an action/entity. Given that the Councils track record demonstrates strong governance 
arrangements and sound financial management, the likelihood of this changing 
considerably in the space of 12 months is relatively low. 

 
- The Councils External Auditors have met with the Section 151 officer and Chief Internal 

Auditor throughout 2021/22 and have also attended Audit Committee meetings. During 
this time the External Auditor has not expressed any specific concern on the governance 
and/or financial arrangements operating within the Council. 

 
- Other examples of assurance obtained in year include: 

 

 Shortlisted for Council and Senior Leadership Team of the Year by the Municipal 
Journal 

 Regular internal quality monitoring activity across many services 

 Family safeguarding peer review 

 Regular benchmarking undertaken in Adult Social Care 

 ADASS Peer review of Adult Social Care commissioning 

 Legal Services Lexcel accreditation 

 Completion of statutory returns, VAT returns, and grant claims, etc. 

 Regular IT penetration testing and security auditing 

 External scrutiny, reviews and inspections from the Home Office  

 Highways contract audit 

 Environmental Scrutiny Committee work on flood risk management 

 Completion of performance development discussions with staff 

 Regular performance, contract and financial monitoring 

 CQC inspection in My Options  
 
 Assurance obtained by reflecting on the past 3 years includes: 
 

- The Chief Internal Auditors opinion has been that there a reasonable level of assurance 
that the governance arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in 
accordance with the governance framework. 

 

Page 194



7 
 

- The External Auditor has stated that: 
 

 Final accounts have been produced on time and in line with best practice 

 An unqualified opinion has been given in the financial statements 

 Financial statements comply with statutory requirements 

 Financial statements give a true and fair view of the Councils financial position 

 Proper arrangements are in place for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources  

 
 In the Chief Internal Auditors opinion the above assurance activity reflects that sound 

governance arrangements are in place as a number of the points above would not have been 
possible without adequate governance foundations being in place and embedded. 

 
 There has been no significant instances of fraud, poor risk management, poor financial 

management, etc. that would lead the Chief Internal Auditor to believe poor governance 
practices have been in place. 

  
 However, as part of the AGS certification process, there have been areas identified that do 

require development. Attached as Annex 1 is an agreed action plan to address these areas 
for development and ensure continuous improvement. 

 
 5.7 Issues from the previous action plan (2020/21) that have been addressed or mainstreamed 

have been deleted and those that continue to be addressed are included in 2021/22 action 
plan. 

 
 5.8 The Senior Management Team has monitored implementation of the 2020/21 actions and 

reported back to the Audit Committee in January 2022. 
 

 5.9 Detailed below is a statement explaining how the Council has complied with the Code of 
Corporate Governance and meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and CIPFA Code on the Principles of Good Governance.  

 
5.10 Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 

respecting the rule of the law. 
 
5.10.1 Members and officers, in the main, recognise the importance of compliance with the 

Constitution, specifically Financial and Contract Rules; Procurement Regulations, Scheme of 
Delegation, Codes of Conduct and Gifts & Hospitality Policy. However, some improvements 
are needed in this area and recommendations have been included in the 2021/22 AGS action 
plan. 

 
5.10.2 There is ongoing training, both classroom based and via the on-line learning platform (OLLIE) 

for Codes of Conduct, Equality Awareness, Leadership & Governance and Contract 
Procedure Rules/Procurement. 

 
5.10.3 The Council has an Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy, supported by the Whistleblowing (Speak 

Up) Policy, encouraging internal referrals. The Council has a zero tolerance policy in relation 
to fraud and corruption and it is service management’s responsibility to ensure there are 
adequate controls in their areas to ensure the opportunities for fraud are minimised. It is 
everyone’s responsibility to report suspicions and the Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy 
supports this internally. Internal Audit along with the Investigations Team undertakes 
proactive fraud work based on a fraud risk register and/or other intelligence. Other specific 
anti-fraud and corruption activities are undertaken by Trading Standards. An annual report 
on anti-fraud and corruption activities and an update to the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy 
and Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy is presented to the Audit Committee. 

Page 195



8 
 

 
5.10.4 Officers comply with their professional organisations’ codes of conduct when delivering 

services. 
 
5.10.5 All Internal Audit reviews consist of an ethics questionnaire that is sent to a sample of staff in 

specific teams to demonstrate their understanding of key corporate policies.   
 
             Ethic questionnaire findings have been shared when discussing individual audits with 

relevant Service Delivery Managers and Directors and taken to SMT as part of reporting 
corporate recommendations. Summary findings from the ethics work have been included in 
the 2021/22 AGS action plan. 

 
5.10.6 There are both internal and external reviews in social care to monitor compliance with the 

law, e.g. the Care Act, Deprivation of Liberties, Safeguarding and the Mental Health Act.   
 
5.10.7  Human Resource and recruitment polices and processes ensure the Council is fully 

compliant with employment law.  Annual audits are undertaken in these areas and ongoing 
checks take place to ensure compliance with IR35 legislation.  

 
5.10.8 Senior officers meet regularly and work closely with Members to ensure that they understand 

and can undertake their respective roles effectively and legally. 
 
5.10.9 The Cabinet monitors the effectiveness of the governance framework through the 

consideration of regular service and financial management information reports from senior 
management.  Individual Cabinet Members receive regular feedback from senior officers in 
respect to their areas of responsibility on the progress of priorities and objectives.  Issues of 
strategic and corporate importance are referred to Cabinet. 

 
5.10.10 Statutory responsibilities across the Council are discharged openly and proactively, examples 

include having key statutory officers in place, i.e. Head of Paid Service, Data Protection 
Officer, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Director of Children Services, Director of Adult 
Social Services, Director of Public Health and Scrutiny Officer. 

 
5.11    Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
5.11.1 The Executive Director for Housing, Communities & Customer Services is leading on the 

development of a new 10 year vision for the Borough that is being developed with key 
strategic partners. Development work is progressing including resident and partner 
engagement. The vision will be presented to Cabinet in the summer of 2022 for approval.  

 
5.11.2 The Council actively contributes to, and collaborates with, partners to promote good 

governance and achieve the delivery of outcomes through increased joint working.  The 
Council is a member of a number of sub regional partnerships and groups. Many of our 
services are delivered in partnership with other organisations such as West Mercia Energy, 
Town and Parish Councils, voluntary groups, etc. Internal Audit reviewed the arrangements 
for ‘Together 4 Children’ which is a partnership arrangement with three other local authorities. 

 
5.11.3 Regular meetings take place between Children Safeguarding and key partner agencies such 

as the police, Telford & Wrekin CCG, Education and Health.    
 
5.11.4  All Council services feed into transparent reporting processes through council committee 

meetings and this is further supported by the transparency agenda. 

 
5.11.5   Annually the public is consulted on the budget for the forthcoming year. 
 

Page 196



9 
 

5.11.6  There is regular engagement between Public Health, Telford & Wrekin Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) and Social Care for the future provision of services. 

 
5.11.7 The Scrutiny provision has looked at the development of policy, the decision-making process 

and areas of concern. The subject areas for review will be informed by community 
engagement, direct feedback to members from within the community, the results of review and 
inspection (both external and internal) and areas of policy being developed by the Council. 

 
5.12    Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits. 
 
5.12.1   The Council Plan was refreshed in the autumn 2020. The plan identifies 5 priorities to deliver 

the Council’s organisational vision to ‘Protect, Care and Invest to Create a Better Borough’. 
The Council continues to develop commercial projects to generate income to invest in front 
line services to mitigate the impact of Government cuts and uncertainly over Government 
funding. 

 
5.12.2   Digital transformation and changes in the way we work are intrinsic to the Council’s service 

delivery model.  
  
5.12.3  The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan sets out the Council's vision and strategy for the physical 

planning of the borough up to 2031. A planned review of the Local Plan has been paused as 
the Government announced changes to planning legislation. It is envisaged that the Council 
will publish an updated Local Development Scheme in the spring/summer of 2022. 

 
5.12.4 All service areas have their own service plans which details how they intend to deliver their 

service for the coming year and the risks they face. These plans encompass identifying 
barriers to service objectives being met. 

 
5.12.5 The Council has a commercial strategy / investment strategy that demonstrates clear visions, 

objectives and outcomes. This includes financial, economic, social and environmental issues. 
 
5.12.6 The Councils economic growth strategy supports and drives increased economic productivity. 
 
5.12.7 The financial strategy sets out the short and long-term implications for service delivery across 

the Council. The Service & Financial Planning reports include various papers to Cabinet 
regarding the budget and sets out short/ medium and long-term implications, including the 
capital strategy and saving strategy. 

 
5.12.8 Adult Social Services, in respect of financial management and the implementation of the cost 

improvement plan, have continued to provide updates during the year to SMT and Members. 
 
5.12.9 All Council reports to Members show relevant financial implications and risk. 
 
5.12.10 Implementation of the ICT Strategy has continued, including infrastructure upgrades, the   

ongoing roll-out of Office 365/applications and further security improvements particularly in 
response to spam, phishing/ whaling and ransomware threats.  

 
 
 
5.13 Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcome. 

 
5.13.1  The 2021/22 Service & Financial Strategy including the Treasury Management Plan are 

aligned to the refreshed Council Plan – setting out how our financial resources will deliver the 
Council vision and priorities. 

Page 197



10 
 

 
5.13.2  Budget plans are produced for all service areas for planning purposes. Budget consultation 

is undertaken annually with Council Members and members of the public. 

 
5.14 Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 
 
5.14.1 The Workforce Strategy was approved in 2021 and is available to all employees on our 

intranet. The strategy has 5 priorities which were informed by the results of the employee 
survey and consists of the following priorities: 

 
 Our workforce will have the skills and abilities to deliver our priorities and will have the 

opportunity to further develop 
 Our managers will be leaders and will empower staff to deliver our priorities 

 Our organisation will be more diverse and inclusive offering a voice and fair treatment 
for all 

 Our workplace will be healthy and we will support our employees wellbeing 
 Our employment package will be attractive that offers (and will offer) fair terms and 

conditions 
 
5.14.2 Officers understand their respective roles and these are set out in job descriptions.  The 

Constitution, Scheme of Delegation and Contract Procedure Rules clearly shows roles and 
responsibilities, specifically with regard to delegation and authorisation. 

 
5.14.3 There are various training methods available to staff such as mentoring, Ollie (On-line 

learning platform) and virtual face to face. A new leadership and management programme 
launched in January 2022 for the SMT cohort. The SDM cohort will launch in May 2022 and 
in the autumn for Team Leaders. Work is also underway to work with Directors to look at 
opportunities for apprenticeships in their areas to meet service needs, this includes upskill as 
well as new recruits. Work to review and refresh induction is underway and will be completed 
in spring 2022.  

 
5.14.4  Other support includes CPD sessions, team meetings and ongoing 1:2:1s, however results of 

the ethics questionnaires have demonstrated that a small number of staff still do not have 
regular 1:2:1 supervision meetings. 

 
5.14.5 Members receive an induction session and annual training with regard to the Treasury 

Management Strategy and other training relevant to their position.  All Members and staff 
have had the opportunity to undertake training on General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) / Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018 legislation. There is also online training available 
to all staff on GDPR/DPA 18 Requirements.  

 
5.14.6 The action plan at Appendix A of this statement detail issues highlighted from the results of 

the annual governance certification process  

 
5.15 The Council continues to manage risks and performance through robust internal 

control and strong public financial management. 

 
5.15.1 Risk management is an integral part of good management and corporate governance and is 

therefore at the heart of what we do. Our approach to managing risk is explained in our Risk 
Management Strategy.  The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed by SMT and considered by 
Audit Committee annually. 

 

Page 198



11 
 

5.15.2 The Internal Audit plan is informed by the Council’s service and financial planning processes, 
strategic risk register, external inspection reports, external networking intelligence, comments 
from Senior Management and their opinion of the current state of the governance risk and 
internal control arrangements.   

 
5.15.3 During 2021/22 the Internal Audit team achieved 51% of their revised planned work and this 

has been used, in part, with the relevant output from unplanned work to help form their opinion 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance, risk management and 
internal control framework.  
 
All recommendations made in audit reports show a risk category which is used to inform the 
overall grading of the report.    

 
5.15.4 The Chief Internal Auditor has undertaken checks on the work of Internal Audit as part of the 

Quality Assurance Improvement Program. A small number of minor issues have been 
identified through these checks and have been fed back to the Internal Audit Team to assist 
in their continuous improvement.  

 
5.15.5 Internal Audit report to the Audit Committee 4 times a year. The Audit Committee has asked 

for additional information during the year to provide assurance on the management of risks 
and implementation of recommendations. The Audit Committee have also approved the 
Internal Audit Charter for 2021/22. 

 
5.15.6 Large projects include the maintenance of a project risk register; this is an ongoing working 

document that is amended throughout the project. Where personal data is processed, 
projects also include the completion of Data Protection Impact Assessments. 

 
5.15.7 The Council has adopted the CIPFA code of practice for managing the risk of fraud and 

corruption and this has been reflected in our updated Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy and 
Whistleblowing (Speak Up) Policy. 

 
5.15.8 Services report regularly to Council committees such as Audit Committee, Planning, 

Licensing, Cabinet etc. These reports detail any impact assessment, including risk and 
opportunity. Financial decisions are reported to Cabinet, full Council and Audit Committee, 
who often challenge to ensure appropriate financial management and to demonstrate 
transparency. 

 
5.15.9 Financial Regulations set out our financial management framework for ensuring we make the 

best use of the money we have available. Financial roles and responsibilities are clearly 
shown in the Financial Regulations and it provides a framework for financial decision-making. 
The regulations have been checked against the post-Brexit legislative framework and a 
further full review is expected in 2022/23. 

 
5.15.10 The Treasury Management Strategy and regular updates on treasury matters are provided 

to Audit Committee. This information clearly show investments, loans, and the financial 
position of the Council. The Council appointed new Treasury Management advisors in 
2021/22. The new advisors are Link Treasury Services. 

 
5.15.11 The Council’s financial strategy identifies the short term budget plan and long term 

aspirational plan linked to the corporate plan to be a self-sustaining council. 
 
5.15.12 A review against the new CIPFA FM Code has been undertaken which was considered by 

the Council’s senior management team. Following this, a small number of changes are being 
implemented to further strengthen the Council’s financial management arrangements 
including making more use of scenario planning. 

Page 199



12 
 

 
5.15.13 The Council’s External Auditors have not completed their report for 2021/22. However the 

S151 Officer and Audit & Governance Lead Manager (Chief Internal Auditor) have met with 
External Auditors periodically throughout 2021/22 and the External Auditors have commented 
that they do not expect to report any problems with the final accounts. 

 Therefore the expectation is that the External Auditors opinion will mirror the opinion for 
2020/21 which stated: 

 
“Value for Money conclusion - Based on the work we performed to address the significant risk 
we identified, we are satisfied that the Council has proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources” 

 
An unqualified audit opinion was, once again, received by the Council in respect of 2020/21. 

 
5.15.14 The Council has continued to make savings in the light of ongoing financial pressures. 

£133.7m of ongoing savings had been delivered by the end of 2021/22 with a further £9.9m 
to be delivered by the end of 2023/24.  Forecasts of the level of savings that will be required 
from April 2023 onwards are very difficult to make in the absence of any Government funding 
settlement information beyond the March 2023 being available and potential significant 
changes that may be made to the local government finance system.  However, it is likely that 
the Council will continue to face a very challenging financial outlook for the foreseeable future.     

 
5.16 Implement good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective 

accountability 

 
5.16.1 As a public body we endeavour to be open and transparent in our activities and reporting. 

Council and committee agendas, reports and minutes are published on our corporate website 
to demonstrate decisions made.  The Council undertake public consultation on areas such 
as the budget. We publish expenditure over £100 on our website, as part of the transparency 
agenda. 

 
5.16.2 The Audit Committee has responsibility for internal and external audit matters, the Council’s 

arrangements for corporate governance and risk management. 

 
5.16.3 The Audit Committee terms of reference also incorporate the review and monitoring of the 

Council’s Treasury Management arrangements. Members of the Committee are kept up to 
date through awareness training on factors that influence/affect delivery of the strategy and 
during the year were provided with an update on these matters by Link Treasury Services, 
the Council’s Treasury Management advisors. 

 
5.16.4 There are various committees, all with their own terms of reference and areas of 

responsibility, i.e. Licensing Committee, Planning Committee, and there are elected members 
who are responsible for service areas within the Council. 

 
5.16.5 Arrangements are in place to ensure Internal Audit fully complies with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). A self-assessment of the Internal Audit function against 
the requirements of the PSIAS was undertaken in 2021/22. The results demonstrated that 
Internal Audit were compliant with the PSIAS and this was reported to the Audit Committee. 
An external assessment of PSIAS compliance has been arranged (as required by law) and 
will take place in 2022/23. 

 
5.16.6 The Internal Audit plan is developed using a risk-based approach taking into consideration 

the Strategic Risk Register, Service Plans and other audit intelligence. Audit 
recommendations made are communicated to relevant Service Delivery Managers and 
relevant Senior Management representatives for consideration and implementation of 

Page 200



13 
 

recommendations.  Internal Audit will share best practice in the duty of their work. The Audit 
plan is reviewed regularly to ensure it is still relevant and any changes made are reported to 
the Audit Committee. 

 
5.16.7 The Council’s Communication Team works with Officers and Members to ensure key 

messages are easy to understand and in accessible formats to meet the diverse needs of 
our borough. 

 
5.16.8 The Council’s performance management framework is monitored by the Senior Management 

Team and has procedures in place that drive continuous improvement in performance. More 
robust reporting has taken place during 2021/22. 

 
5.16.9 The Council has identified lessons learnt from corporate complaints and complaints made to 

the Local Government Ombudsman and implemented measures accordingly. 
 
 
 

 Signed Dated 
 
David Sidaway 
Chief Executive 
 
 

  

   
Cllr Shaun Davies 
Leader of the Council 
 
 

  

   
Cllr Nathan England 
Chair of Audit Committee 
 
 

  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



14 
 

 
AGS ACTION PLAN FOR 2021/22 FOR IMPLEMENTATION DURING 2022/23  

 

No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Additional comments   

1. Ongoing savings proposals and 
continued strategic 
management of organisational 
changes to continue particularly 
in light of COVID19. 

 
 

Ongoing from 20/21 AGS 
 

Continued management/reduced 
budgets, revised structures and 
commercial/ business approach which 
links to the continued development 
and implementation of revised 
governance framework. 

 
Financial impact of COVID19 under 
ongoing review. 

 
Further consultations on future 
savings where necessary. 

 

 Chief Executive  

 SMT 

 
 
 
 

2. All internal audits consist of an 
ethics questionnaire that is sent 
to a sample of staff in the 
team/areas being audited to 
demonstrate their 
understanding of corporate 
policies and whether staff feel 
supported.  
 
In a small number of responses 
returned it was noted that:  
 
 Some staff felt that training 

and awareness could be 
developed further 

 

The induction process has already 
been updated and improved and 
further development is being carried 
out as part of an ongoing review of 
our employee offer. 

 
Further guidance for managers in 
respect to completion of regular 
121’s, supervision and team briefs. 

 
Development of service strategies 
underpinned by team plans which link 
to the Councils priorities. This link to 
the APPD process creating the 
organisational golden thread 

 

 SMT/SDM 

 Policy & 
Development 
Manager 

 

P
age 202



15 
 

No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Additional comments   

 Some staff do not have 
regular 1:2:1 supervision or 
team briefs 
 

These findings have been shared 
when discussing individual audit 
reports with relevant SDM’s and 
Directors and taken to SMT as 
part of reporting corporate 
recommendations.  
 
Ongoing from 20/21 AGS 
 

Roll out of a new, bespoke 
management and leadership 
programme commenced in January 
2022 and forms part of an 18 month 
programme to contribute to the 
development of our employees. 

3. A small number of responses 
from Internal Audit ethics 
questionnaires sent out 
indicated that those staff 
questioned could have a greater 
awareness of some corporate 
policies. 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing from 20/21 AGS 
 

Governance reminders sent to staff. 
 

Training and further publicity given 
on fraud/whistleblowing with new 
methods of reporting made available. 
 
Reminders on relevant policies 
applicable to the work undertaken by 
those being audited, and applicable 
to the wider workforce will be 
recirculated; for example, the 
Employee Code of Conduct, the 
Whistleblowing Policy, the Business 
Activity & Private Work Policy and the 
Corporate Information Security Policy. 

 SMT/SDM 

 Policy & 
Development 
Manager 

 Audit & 
Governance 
Lead Manager  

 

4. The results of the annual 
governance certification process 
highlighted that in some service 
areas there were reductions in 
appropriate skilled staff 

Number of initiatives in place 
including service and workforce 
planning, apprenticeship scheme, 
Kickstart programme, etc. 

 

 Chief Executive  

 Director of 
Finance & 
Human 
Resources 

 

P
age 203



16 
 

No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Additional comments   

numbers. Difficulties in 
recruiting have resulted in single 
points of failure or the use of 
agency staff.  
 
Service Delivery Managers are 
aware of these issues and where 
possible are putting measures in 
place to try and mitigate this.   

 
 

Ongoing from 20/21 AGS 
 
 

New bespoke management and 
leadership programme commenced in 
January 2022. 

 
Additional recruiting measures being 
used via social media platforms. 

 Policy & 
Development 
Manager 

 

5. The results of the annual 
governance certification process 
has highlighted that service 
areas have experienced data 
breaches and potential near 
misses in respect to personal 
data.  
 
Where data breaches have been 
experienced, these have been 
reported to the Information 
Governance Team and 
managers have changed 
processes and procedures, 
where possible, based on 
lessons learned to prevent 
similar breaches occurring.   
 

Information Governance to: 
 
 To ensure lessons are learnt 

after each breach and suggested 
improvements communicated 
corporately where applicable. 

 Audit & Governance to review 
current training materials. 

 The Information Security Breach 
Procedure has been updated and 
is available on the Council’s 
intranet. This has been publicised 
to all staff. 

 Breaches are reported to the 
individual Director as and when 
they occur 

 Corporate Information Security 
Policy recirculated to relevant 
staff members 

 SIRO/SMT   

 SDM’s 

 Audit & 
Governance 
Lead Manager 

 

P
age 204



17 
 

No Findings 
 

Actions  Lead Officers Additional comments   

It should be noted that the 
Information Commissioners 
Office has not taken any action 
against the Council during this 
time. 
 
 
Ongoing from 20/21 AGS 

 Breaches are reported to Senior 
Management Team meetings on 
a regular basis 
 

6 A small number of managers 
reported delays in destruction of 
documents in line with retention 
policies throughout the year due 
to limited access to the secure 
storage areas as a result of 
COVID. 
 
These access issues have 
subsequently eased. 
 

 Reminder to be sent to staff in 
relation to access to all Council 
buildings including. 

 
 Reminder to be sent on the use 

of the Council’s document 
storage unit. 

 
 Reminder to be sent to staff on 

the importance of complying with 
the Corporate Information 
Retention Schedule. 

 

• SDM’s 
• Audit & 

Governance 
Lead Manager 

 biT Service 
Delivery 
Manager 

 

 

7 A small number of managers 
confirmed that their service’s 
internal intranet content 
required updating. 
 

Reminder to be sent to SDM’s on 
keeping intranet content up to date. 

SDM’s  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 205



18 
 

 
 
 

P
age 206


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Better Homes for All
	Better Homes for All - Report
	Appendix 1 - TLC
	Appendix 2 - PSH Enforcement Policy 2022
	Appendix 3 - Amenity Standards
	Appendix 4 - HMO Licence
	Appendix 4 - Licence conditions schedule

	6 Building Safer, Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate Use of Our Enforcement
	Building Safer, Stronger Neighbourhoods through Appropriate Use of Our Enforcement - Report

	7 Housing Investment Programme Update
	Housing Investment Programme - Report

	8 £10m Housing Intervention Fund - Delivering New Homes & Supporting Our Most Vulnerable Residents
	£10m Housing Intervention Fund - Investing in New Homes & Supporting Our Most Vulnerable Residents - Reports

	9 Events Update
	10 Annual Governance Statement 2021-22
	Annual Governance Statement


